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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements contained in this annual report constitute forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and we intend such statements to be covered
by the safe harbor provisions contained therein. The information contained in this section should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financia statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K. In addition, some of the statementsin this annual
report (including in the following discussion) constitute forward-looking statements, which relate to future events or the future performance or
financial condition of Ares Commercial Rea Estate Corporation (“ACRE” and, together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the “ Company,” “we,”
“us” and “our”). The forward-looking statements contained in this report involve a number of risks and uncertainties, including statements
concerning:

. our business and investment strategy;

. our projected operating results;

. the return or impact of current and future investments;

. the timing of cash flows, if any, from our investments;

. estimates relating to our ability to make distributions to our stockholdersin the future;

. defaults by borrowersin paying amounts due on outstanding indebtedness and our ability to collect all amounts due according

to the contractual terms of our investments;

. our ability to obtain and maintain financing arrangements, including securitizations;

. market conditions and our ability to access alternative debt markets and additional debt and equity capital;

. the amount of commercial mortgage loans requiring refinancing;

. our expected investment capacity and available capital;

. financing and advance rates for our target investments;

. our expected leverage;

. changesin interest rates, credit spreads and the market value of our investments;

. the impact of changesin London Interbank Offered Rate on our operating results;

. effects of hedging instruments on our target investments;

. rates of default or decreased recovery rates on our target investments;

. rates of prepayments on our mortgage loans and the effect on our business of such prepayments;

. the degree to which our hedging strategies may or may not protect us from interest rate volatility;

. availability of investment opportunitiesin mortgage-related and real estate-related investments and securities;
. the ability of Ares Commercia Real Estate Management LLC (“ACREM” or our “Manager”) to locate suitable investments for us,

monitor, service and administer our investments and execute our investment strategy;
. allocation of investment opportunities to us by our Manager;
. our ability to successfully identify, complete and integrate any acquisitions;
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. our ability to maintain our qualification as areal estateinvestment trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes,

. our ability to maintain our exemption from registration under the Investment Company Act of 1940;

. our understanding of our competition;

. general volatility of the securities markets in which we may invest;

. adverse changesin thereal estate, real estate capital and credit markets and the impact of a protracted decline in the liquidity of

credit markets on our business;
. changesin governmental regulations, tax law and rates, and similar matters (including interpretation thereof);
. authoritative or policy changes from standard-setting bodies such as the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the Securities

and Exchange Commission, the Internal Revenue Service, the stock exchange where we list our common stock, and other
authorities that we are subject to, aswell astheir counterpartsin any foreign jurisdictions where we might do business;

. actions and initiatives of the U.S. Government and changesto U.S. Government policies,

. the state of the United States, European Union and Asian economies generally or in specific geographic regions;

. global economic trends and economic recoveries; and

. market trendsin our industry, interest rates, real estate values, the debt securities markets or the general economy.

" o [IIT

We use words such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “expects,” “intends,” “will,” “should,” “may” and similar expressionsto identify
forward-looking statements. Our actual results could differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements for any reason,
including the factors set forth under “ Risk Factors’ and elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K.

" o

We have based the forward-looking statements included in this annual report on information available to us on the date of this annual
report, and we assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements.



PART |
Item 1. Business

The following description of the business of Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation (* ACRE”) should be read in conjunction with
the information included elsewherein this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018. We refer to ACRE together with
our subsidiariesas*“we,” “us,” “Company,” or “ our,” unless we specifically state otherwise or the context indicates otherwise. We refer to our
manager, Ares Commercial Real Estate Management LLC, asour “ Manager” or “ ACREM” and the parent company of our Manager, Ares
Management Cor poration, together with its consolidated subsidiaries, as “ Ares Management.”

GENERAL

We are aspecialty finance company primarily engaged in originating and investing in commercial real estate (“CRE") loans and related
investments. We are externally managed by Ares Commercial Real Estate Management LLC (“ACREM” or our “Manager”), asubsidiary of Ares
Management Corporation (NY SE: ARES) (“Ares Management”), apublicly traded, leading global alternative asset manager, pursuant to the terms
of the management agreement dated April 25, 2012, as amended, between us and our Manager (the “Management Agreement”). From the
commencement of our operationsin late 2011, we have been primarily focused on directly originating and managing a diversified portfolio of CRE
debt-related investments for our own account.

We were formed and commenced operationsin late 2011. We are aMaryland corporation and completed our initial public offering (the
“IPO") in May 2012. We have elected and qualified to be taxed as areal estateinvestment trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes under
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code”), commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2012. We generally will not be
subject to U.S. federal income taxes on our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net
capital gains, to the extent that we annually distribute all of our REIT taxable income to stockholders and comply with various other requirements
asaREIT. We al'so operate our business in amanner that isintended to permit us to maintain our exemption from registration under the Investment
Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”).

Our Investment Strategy

We target borrowers whose capital needs are not being suitably met by traditional bank or capital markets sources by offering these
borrowers customized financing solutions. We implement a strategy focused on direct origination combined with experienced portfolio
management. Targeted borrowers are generally pursuing value improving business plans on commercial real estate which we believe often face
challengesin raising capital to meet their financing needs through traditional bank and capital markets sources. Asaresult, we continueto find
increasing demand from borrowers and sponsors for customized solutions in this segment of the market. We act asasingle “one stop” source of
financing for our customers through our customized financing solutions. We generally hold our loans for investment and earn interest and
interest-related income.

Direct Origination

We generally source new investments through our Manager’s national direct origination platform consisting of four offices across the
United States as of December 31, 2018.

I nvestment Strategy

In pursuing investment opportunities with attractive risk-reward profiles, our Manager incorporates our views of the current and future
economic environment, our outlook for real estate in general and particular asset classes and our assessment of the risk-reward profile derived from
our underwriting. Our Manager's underwriting standards center on the creditworthiness and valuation of the asset collateralizing the loan as well
asthe strength of the borrower and the underlying sponsor of a given asset, with particular focus on an asset’s business plan, competitive
positioning within the market, existing capital structure and potential exit opportunities. All investment decisions are made to seek to ensure that
we maintain our qualification asaREIT and our exemption from registration under the 1940 Act.

In addition, as part of our investment strategy, we may from time to time engage in discussions with counterparties with respect to
various potential strategic transactions, including potential investmentsin, and acquisitions of, other real estate or finance companies or asset
portfolios. In connection with evaluating potential strategic transactions and assets, we may incur significant expenses for the evaluation and due
diligence investigation and negotiation of any potential transaction.



Our investment strategy may be amended from time to time without the approval of our stockholders, if recommended by our Manager

and approved by our board of directors. We expect to disclose any material changes to our investment strategy in the periodic quarterly and
annual reports that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“ SEC”).

Our Target Assets

Our target investments primarily include senior mortgage |oans, subordinated debt, preferred equity, mezzanine loans and other CRE

investment opportunities, including commercial mortgage-backed securities.

Investment Portfolio

For information about our investment portfolio, see“Management’s Discussion And Analysis Of Financial Condition And Results Of

Operations-Investment Portfolio” and Note 3 to our consolidated financial statementsincluded in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Targeted I nvestments

Senior Mortgage Loans: These mortgage loans are typically secured by first liens on commercial properties, including the following
property types: office, multifamily, self storage, retail, hotel, healthcare, student housing, industrial, mixed-use, residential and residential
condominium. Our senior mortgage loans may include construction loans. In some cases, first lien mortgages may be divided into an A-
Note and aB-Note. The A-Noteistypically aprivately negotiated loan that is secured by afirst mortgage on acommercial property or
group of related propertiesthat is senior to a B-Note secured by the same first mortgage property or group.

Subordinated Debt: These loans may include structurally subordinated first mortgage loans and junior participationsin first mortgage
loans or participationsin these types of assets. As noted above, a B-Noteistypically aprivately negotiated loan that is secured by afirst
mortgage on acommercial property or group of related properties and is subordinate to an A-Note secured by the same first mortgage
property or group. The subordination of a B-Note or junior participation typically is evidenced by participations or intercreditor
agreements with other holders of interestsin the note. B-Notes are subject to more credit risk with respect to the underlying mortgage
collateral than the corresponding A-Note.

Mezzanine Loans: Like B-Notes, these |oans are also subordinated CRE loans, but are usually secured by a pledge of the borrower’s
equity ownership in the entity that owns the property or by a second lien mortgage on the property. In aliquidation, these loans are
generally junior to any mortgage liens on the underlying property, but senior to any preferred equity or common equity interestsin the
entity that ownsthe property. Investor rights are usually governed by intercreditor agreements.

Preferred Equity: Real estate preferred equity investments are subordinate to first mortgage loans and are not collateralized by the
property underlying the investment. As aholder of preferred equity, we seek to enhance our position with covenantsthat limit the
activities of the entity in which we have an interest and protect our equity by obtaining an exclusive right to control the underlying
property after an event of default, should such adefault occur on our investment.

Other CRE Investments: To alesser extent, we may invest in other |oans and securities, subject to maintaining our qualification asaREIT,
including but not limited to commercial mortgage-backed securities, loans to real estate or hospitality companies, debtor-in-possession
loans and sel ected other income producing equity investments, such as triple net lease equity.

Ares Commercial Real Estate Management LL C and Ares Management Cor poration

We are externally managed by our Manager, a subsidiary of Ares Management, pursuant to the terms of the Management Agreement. As

of December 31, 2018, Ares Management had approximately 1,075 employeesin 18 principal and originating offices across the United States,
Europe, Asiaand Australia. Sinceitsinceptionin 1997, Ares Management has adhered to a disciplined investment philosophy that focuses on
delivering strong risk-adjusted investment returns throughout market cycles. Ares Management believes each of its three distinct but
complementary investment groups in Credit, Private Equity and Real Estate isamarket |eader based on investment performance. Ares Management
was built upon the fundamental principle that each group benefits from being part of the greater whole.
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Our Manager isresponsible for administering our business activities and day-to-day operations and providing us our executive
management team, principal investment team and appropriate support personnel. Pursuant to the Management Agreement, our Manager is entitled
to receive a base management fee, an incentive fee and expense reimbursements. In addition, under certain circumstances, our Manager will be
entitled to receive atermination fee if the Management Agreement isterminated. Our Manager, including our officers and employees of our
Manager, may also receive grants of equity-based awards pursuant to our equity incentive plan that was adopted on April 23, 2012 and amended
and restated in June 2018 (the “ Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan”). For more information on the terms of the Management
Agreement, see Note 10 to our consolidated financial statementsincluded in thisannual report on Form 10-K.

MARKET OPPORTUNITY

We believe market conditions continue to be favorable for disciplined and scaled direct |lenders with broad and flexible product offerings.
Supported by an active commercial real estate transaction market and growing capital for value-added and opportunistic real estate funds, we
expect continued strong demand for shorter duration and often floating rate loans. We believe thiswill lead to a significant market of attractive
financing opportunities, which we anticipate could lead to increased financing transaction volumes and enhance our market opportunity.

OUR FINANCING STRATEGY

We intend to use prudent amounts of leverage to fund the origination or acquisition of our target investments. Subject to maintaining our
qualification asaREIT and our exemption from the 1940 Act, we expect that our primary sources of financing will be, to the extent available to us,
through (@) credit, secured funding and other lending facilities, (b) securitizations, (c) other sources of private financing, including warehouse and
repurchase facilities, and (d) public or private offerings of our equity or debt securities. In the future, we may utilize other sources of financing to
the extent availableto us.

Given current market conditions and our focus on first or senior mortgages, we currently expect that such leverage would not exceed, on a
debt-to-equity basis, a4-to-1 ratio. Our charter and bylaws do not restrict the amount of leverage that we may use. The amount of leverage we will
deploy for particular investmentsin our target investments will depend upon our Manager’s assessment of avariety of factors, which may include,
among others, the anticipated liquidity and price volatility of the assetsin our investment portfolio, the potential for losses and extension risk in
our portfolio, the gap between the duration of our assets and liabilities, including hedges, the availability and cost of financing the assets, our
opinion of the creditworthiness of our financing counterparties, the health of the U.S. economy generally or in specific geographic regions and
commercial mortgage markets, our outlook for the level and volatility of interest rates, the slope of the yield curve, the credit quality of our assets,
the collateral underlying our assets, and our outlook for asset spreads relative to the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) curve.

Financing Agreements

We borrow funds, as applicablein agiven period, under the Wells Fargo Facility, the Citibank Facility, the BAML Facility, the CNB
Facility, the MetLife Facility, the UBS Facility and the U.S. Bank Facility (asindividually defined in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements
included in this annual report on Form 10-K, and collectively, the “ Secured Funding Agreements”) and the Secured Term Loan (as defined below).
We refer to the Secured Funding Agreements and the Secured Term Loan as the “Financing Agreements.” While the borrowers under the
Financing Agreements generally are our subsidiaries, all such debt agreements are guaranteed by usin whole or in part. Generally, we seek to
partially offset interest rate risk by matching the interest index of loans held for investment with the interest index of the Secured Funding
Agreements used to fund them.

As of December 31, 2018, we had $110.0 million outstanding under our $110.0 million Credit and Guaranty Agreement with the lenders
referred to therein and Cortland Capital Market Services LLC, as administrative agent and collateral agent for the lenders (the “ Secured Term
Loan"). Asof December 31, 2018, our outstanding balance under the Financing Agreements was $888.0 million.

See Item 7, “Management’s Discussion And Analysis Of Financial Condition And Results Of Operations—Liquidity And Capital
Resources—Summary of Financing Agreements’ included in this annual report on Form 10-K for afurther discussion of our borrowings as of
December 31, 2018.



Securitizations

In addition to Financing Agreements, we may also, to the extent available, securitize the senior portion of some of our loans, while
retaining the subordinate securitiesin our investment portfolio. The securitized portion of senior loansis reflected as securitization debt in our
consolidated balance sheets. Asof December 31, 2018, the outstanding balance of our CLO Securitization (as defined below) was $272.9 million.
See “ Recent Developments” and Note 15 to our consolidated financia statements included in thisannual report on Form 10-K for a subsequent
event related to the CL O Securitization.

TAXATION

We have elected and qualified to be taxed asa REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes under the Code, commencing with our taxable
year ended December 31, 2012. We generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income taxes on our REIT taxable income as long as we annually
distribute al of our REIT taxable income to stockholders and comply with various other requirementsasaREIT.

We formed awholly-owned subsidiary, ACRC Lender W TRSLLC (“ACRCW TRS”), in December 2013 in order to issue and hold certain
loans intended for sale. We also formed awholly-owned subsidiary, ACRC 2017-FL3 TRSLLC (“FL3 TRS"), in March 2017 in order to hold a
portion of the non-investment grade notes and the preferred equity of ACRE Commercial Mortgage 2017-FL 3 Ltd. (the“ CLO Securitization”) to the
extent it generates excessinclusion income. ACRC W TRS and FL 3 TRSfiled elections seeking to be taxed as corporations and also filed el ections,
along with us, to be treated as taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRS’). A TRSis an entity taxed as a corporation that has not elected to be taxed as a
REIT, inwhich aREIT directly or indirectly holds equity, and that has made ajoint election with such REIT to be treated asaTRS. A TRS generally
may engage in any business, including investing in assets and engaging in activities that could not be held or conducted directly by us without
jeopardizing our qualification asaREIT. A TRSis subject to applicable U.S. federal, state, and local income tax on its taxable income. In addition, as
aREIT, we may aso be subject to a 100% excise tax on certain transactions between us and our TRS that are not conducted on an arm'’s-length
basis.

COMPETITION

Our net income depends, in part, on our ability to originate or acquire assets at favorabl e spreads over our borrowing costs. We operate
in acompetitive market for the origination and acquisition of attractive investment opportunities. We compete with other public or private REITs,
specialty finance companies, savings and loan associations, banks, mortgage bankers, insurance companies, mutual funds, institutional investors,
investment banking firms, financial institutions, governmental bodies, fund managers and other entities. In addition, there are numerous REITs
with similar asset origination and acquisition objectives and others may be organized in the future. These other REITs may increase competition for
the available supply of mortgage assets suitable for purchase and origination. Many of our competitors are significantly larger than we are and
may have considerably greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we do. Some competitors may have alower cost of funds
and access to funding sources that are not available to us, such asthe U.S. Government. Many of our competitors are not subject to the operating
constraints associated with REIT tax compliance or maintenance of an exemption from the 1940 Act. In addition, some of our competitors may have
higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments, which could allow them to consider awider variety of loans and investments and offer more
attractive pricing or other terms than we would. Furthermore, competition for originations of, and investments in, assets we target may lead to
decreasing yields, which may further limit our ability to generate targeted returns.

In the face of this competition, we have access to our Manager’s and Ares Management’s professionals and their collective industry
expertise, which may provide us with a competitive advantage and help us assess investment risks and determine appropriate pricing for certain
potential investments. These relationships enable us to compete more effectively for attractive investment opportunities. However, we may not be
able to achieve our business goals or expectations due to the competitive risks that we face. For additional information concerning these
competitive risks, see “ Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Investments—We operate in a competitive market for investment opportunities and
loan originations and competition may limit our ability to originate or acquire desirable investmentsin our target investments on attractive terms’
included in this annual report on Form 10-K.

STAFFING
We are externally managed by our Manager pursuant to the Management Agreement. Our executive officers also serve as officers of our

Manager and certain of its affiliates. For more information on the terms of the Management Agreement, see Note 10 to our consolidated financial
statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K.



AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Wefilewith or submit to the SEC annual, quarterly and current periodic reports, proxy statements and other information meeting the
informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “ Exchange Act”). Thisinformation is available on our website at
www.arescre.com. The information on our website is not deemed incorporated by reference in this annual report.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider these risk factors, together with all of the other information included in this annual report, including
our consolidated financial statements and the related notes ther eto, before you decide whether to make an investment in our securities. The
risks set out below are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deemto be
immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and/or operating results. If any of the following events occur,
our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. In such case, the value of our common stock
and the trading price of our securities could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment.

RISKSRELATED TO OUR RELATIONSHIP WITH OUR MANAGER AND ITSAFFILIATES

Our future success dependson our Manager, itskey personnel and their accessto the investment professionals of Ares Management. We may
not find a suitable replacement for our Manager if our Management Agreement isterminated or if such key personnel or investment
professionalsleave the employment of our Manager or Ares Management or otherwise become unavailableto us.

Werely on the resources of our Manager to manage our day-to-day operations, as we do not employ any personnel. We rely completely
on our Manager to provide us with investment advisory services.

Our executive officers also serve as officers of our Manager. Our Manager has significant discretion as to the implementation of our
investment and operating policies and strategies. Accordingly, we believe that our success depends to a significant extent upon the efforts,
experience, diligence, skill and network of business contacts of the officers and key personnel of our Manager. The officers and key personnel of
our Manager evaluate, negotiate, close and monitor our investments; therefore, our success depends on their continued service. The departure of
any of the officers or key personnel of our Manager could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our Manager is not obligated to dedicate any specific personnel exclusively to us. None of our officers are obligated to dedicate any
specific portion of their time to our business. Each of them has significant responsibilities for other investment vehicles managed by affiliates of
Ares Management. As aresult, these individuals may not always be able to devote sufficient time to the management of our business. Further,
when there are turbulent conditionsin the real estate markets or distressin the credit markets, the attention of our Manager’s personnel and our
executive officers and the resources of Ares Management will also be required by other investment vehicles managed by affiliates of Ares
Management.

In addition, we offer no assurance that our Manager will remain our investment manager or that we will continue to have accessto our
Manager’s officers and key personnel. The current term of our Management Agreement expires on May 1, 2019, and will be automatically renewed
for one-year terms thereafter. Furthermore, our Manager may decline to renew the Management Agreement with 180 days' written notice prior to
the expiration of the renewal term. If the Management Agreement is terminated and no suitable replacement is found to manage us, we may not be
able to execute our investment strategy.

We also depend on access to, and the diligence, skill and network of business contacts of the investment professionals of other groups
within Ares Management and the information and deal flow generated by Ares Management’sinvestment professionalsin the course of their
investment and portfolio management activities. The departure of any of these individuals, or of a significant number of the investment
professionals or partners of Ares Management, could have amaterial adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
We cannot assure you that we will continue to have access to Ares Management’sinvestment professionals or itsinformation and deal flow.



Our growth depends on the ability of our Manager to makeinvestmentson favorable termsthat satisfy our investment strategy and otherwise
gener ate attractiverisk-adjusted returnsinitially and consistently from timeto time.

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives depends on our ability to grow, which depends, in turn, on the management and
investment teams of our Manager and their ability to identify and to make investments on favorable termsin our target investments as well ason
our access to financing on acceptable terms. The demands on the time of the professional staff of our Manager will increase as our portfolio grows,
and we cannot assure you that our Manager will be able to hire, train, supervise, manage and retain new officers and employees to manage future
growth effectively, and any such failure could have amaterial adverse effect on our business.

Therearevarious conflictsof interest in our relationship with our Manager and Ares M anagement that could result in decisionsthat arenct in
the best interests of our stockholders.

We are subject to conflicts of interest arising out of our relationship with Ares Management, including our Manager and its affiliates. We
are managed by our Manager, an Ares Management affiliate, and our executive officers are employees of our Manager or one or more of its
affiliates. Thereis no guarantee that the policies and procedures adopted by us, the terms and conditions of the management agreement or the
policies and procedures adopted by our Manager, Ares Management and their affiliates, will enable usto identify, adequately address or mitigate
these conflicts of interest.

Some examples of conflicts of interest that may arise by virtue of our relationship with our Manager and Ares Management include:

Ares Management advisory activities. While our Manager and Ares Management have agreed that for so long as our Manager is
managing us, neither Ares Management nor any of its affiliates will sponsor or manage any other U.S. publicly traded REIT that invests primarily in
the same asset classes as us, affiliates of our Manager may manage other investment vehicles (including non-traded or perpetual life REITS) that
have investment objectives that compete or overlap with, and may from timeto timeinvest in, our target asset classes. This may apply to existing
investment vehicles or investment vehicles that may be organized in the future. Conseguently, we, on the one hand, and these other investment
vehicles, on the other hand, may from time to time pursue the same or similar investment opportunities. To the extent such existing vehicles or
other Ares managed vehicles that may be organized in the future seek to acquire the same target assets as our Company, the scope of
opportunities otherwise available to us may be adversely affected and/or reduced. Our Manager, Ares Management or their affiliates may also give
advice to Ares managed investment vehicles that may differ from the advice given to us even though their investment objectives may be the same
or similar to ours.

Allocation of investments. Ares Management and our Manager endeavor to allocate investment opportunitiesin afair and equitable
manner, subject to Ares Management’s allocation policy. Ares Management’s allocation policy, which may be amended without our consent, is
intended to enable usto share equitably with any other investment vehicles that are managed by Ares Management. In general, investment
opportunities are allocated taking into consideration various factors, including, among others, the relevant investment vehicles' available capital,
their investment objectives or strategies, their risk profiles and their existing or prior positionsin an issuer/security, their potential conflicts of
interest, the nature of the opportunity and market conditions, as well as the rotation of investment opportunities. Nevertheless, it is possible that
we may not be given the opportunity to participate in certain investments made by investment vehicles managed by affiliates of our Manager. In
addition, there may be conflictsin the allocation of investment opportunities among us and the investment vehicles managed by affiliates of our
Manager.

Co-investments. Other Ares managed investment vehicles may co-invest with us or hold positionsin an investment, or provide debt with
respect to an underlying property, where we have also invested, including by means of splitting investments, participating in investments or other
means of syndication of investments. Such investments may raise potential conflicts of interest between us and such other Ares managed
investment vehicles. To the extent such existing vehicles or other Ares managed vehicles that may be organized in the future seek to acquire the
same target assets as us, subject to Ares Management’s allocation policy described above, the scope of opportunities otherwise availableto us
may be adversely affected and/or reduced. In such circumstances, the size of the investment opportunity otherwise available to us may be less
than it would otherwise have been, and we may participate in such opportunities on different and potentially |ess favorable economic terms than
such other partiesif our Manager deems such participation as being otherwise in our best interests. Furthermore, when such other Ares managed
investment vehicles have interests or requirements that do not align with our interests, including differing liquidity needs or desired investment
horizons, conflicts may arise in the manner in which any voting or control rights are exercised with respect to the relevant investment, potentially
resulting in an adverse impact on us. If we participate in a co-investment with an Ares managed investment vehicle and such vehicle failsto fund a
future advance on aloan, we may be required to, or we may elect to, cover such advance and invest additional funds. In addition, if we and such
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other Ares managed investment vehiclesinvest in different classes or types of debt or investments relating to the same underlying property or
properties, actions may be taken by such other Ares managed investment vehicles that are adverse to our interests, including, but not limited to,
during awork-out, restructuring or insolvency proceeding or similar matter occurring with respect to such investment.

Investments in which Ares managed investment vehicles hold different investments. We may invest in, acquire, sell assetsto or provide
financing to investment vehicles managed by Ares Management or its affiliates and their portfolio companies or purchase assets from, sell assets
to, or arrange financing from any such investment vehicles and their portfolio companies. Any such transactions will require approval by a
majority of our independent directors. There can be no assurance that any procedural protectionswill be sufficient to ensure that these
transactions will be made on terms that will be at least as favorable to us as those that would have been obtained in an arm’s-length transaction.

Areswarehouse line. Ares Management maintains a $200 million real estate debt warehouse investment vehicle that holds Ares
Management originated real estate |oans, which are made available to us and other Ares managed investment vehiclesto purchase. Although our
Manager will approve the purchase of such loans only on terms, including the consideration to be paid, that are determined by our Manager in
good faith to be appropriate for us, it is possible that the interests of Ares Management could be in conflict with ours and the interests of our
stockholders. Our opportunity to purchase loans from such vehicle may be on different and potentially less favorable economic terms than other
Ares managed vehiclesif our Manager deems such purchase as being otherwise in our best interests.

Fees and expenses. We will be responsible for our proportionate share of certain fees and expenses, including due diligence costs, as
determined by our Manager and Ares Management, including legal, accounting and financial advisor fees and related costs, incurred in
connection with evaluating and consummating investment opportunities, regardless of whether such transactions are ultimately consummated by
the parties thereto.

The ability of our Manager and its officersand employeesto engage in other business activities may reduce thetime our Manager spends
managing our businessand may result in certain conflicts of interest.

Certain of our officers and directors, and the officers and other personnel of our Manager, also serve or may serve as officers, directors or
partners of Ares Management, aswell as Ares Management sponsored investment vehicles, including new affiliated potential pooled investment
vehicles or managed accounts not yet established, whether managed or sponsored by Ares Management’s affiliates or our Manager. Accordingly,
the ability of our Manager and its officers and employees to engage in other business activities may reduce the time our Manager spends
managing our business. These activities could be viewed as creating a conflict of interest insofar as the time and effort of the professional staff of
our Manager and its officers and employees will not be devoted exclusively to our business; instead it will be allocated between our business and
the management of these other investment vehicles.

In the course of our investing activities, we will pay base management fees to our Manager and will reimburse our Manager for certain
expensesit incurs. Asaresult, investorsin our common stock will invest on a*“gross” basis and receive distributions on a“net” basis after
expenses, resulting in, among other things, alower rate of return than one might achieve through direct investments. As aresult of this
arrangement, our Manager'sinterests may be less aligned with our interests.

Our Management Agreement with our Manager was not negotiated on an arm’s-length basisand may not be asfavorableto usasif it had been
negotiated with an unaffiliated third party.

We rely completely on our Manager to provide us with investment advisory services. Our executive officers also serve as officers of our
Manager. Our Management Agreement was negotiated between related parties and its terms, including fees payable, may not be as favorableto us
asif it had been negotiated with an unaffiliated third party.

Wewill pay our Manager substantial base management fees regardless of the performance of our portfolio. Our Manager’s entitlement to
a base management fee, which is not based upon performance metrics or goal's, might reduce its incentive to devote its time and effort to seeking
investments that provide attractive risk-adjusted returns for our portfolio. Thisin turn could hurt both our ability to make distributionsto our
stockholders and the market price of our common stock.

The current term of our Management Agreement expires on May 1, 2019. Thereafter, the Management Agreement automatically renews
for one-year terms unless terminated upon 180 days' written notice prior to the expiration of the then current term in accordance with itsterms. If
the Management Agreement is terminated and no suitable replacement is found to manage us, we may not be able to continue to execute our
investment strategy.
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Terminating our Management Agreement for unsatisfactory performance of the Manager or electing not to renew the M anagement Agreement
may bedifficult and terminating the agreement in certain circumstancesrequires payment of a substantial termination fee.

Terminating our Management Agreement without cause is difficult and costly. Our independent directors will review our Manager's
performance and the management fees annually and, upon 180 days’ written notice prior to the expiration of any renewal term, the Management
Agreement may be terminated upon the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of our independent directors based upon: (a) our Manager’'s
unsatisfactory performance that is materially detrimental to us; or (b) a determination that the management fees payable to our Manager are not
fair, subject to our Manager’sright to prevent termination based on unfair fees by accepting a reduction of management fees agreed to by at least
two-thirds of our independent directors. Additionally, upon any such termination, the Management Agreement provides that we will pay our
Manager atermination fee equal to three times the sum of the average annual base management fee and incentive fee received by our Manager
during the 24-month period before such termination, cal cul ated as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter. This provision
increases the cost to us of terminating the Management Agreement and adversely affects our ability to terminate our Manager without cause.

Theincentivefee payableto our Manager under the Management Agreement may cause our Manager to select investmentsin riskier assetsto
increaseitsincentive compensation.

Our Manager is entitled to receive incentive compensation based upon our achievement of targeted levels of Core Earnings. “Core
Earnings’ is defined in our Management Agreement as net income (loss) computed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP"), excluding non-cash equity compensation expense, the incentive feg, depreciation and amortization (to the extent that any of our target
investments are structured as debt and we forecl ose on any properties underlying such debt), any unrealized gains, losses or other non-cash items
recorded in net income (loss) for the period, regardless of whether such items are included in other comprehensive income or loss, or in net income
(loss), and one-time events pursuant to changes in GAAP and certain non-cash charges after discussions between our Manager and our
independent directors and after approval by amajority of our independent directors. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, $1.2
million, $381 thousand and $348 thousand of incentive fees were incurred, respectively. In evaluating investments and other management
strategies, the opportunity to earn incentive fees based on Core Earnings may lead our Manager to place undue emphasis on the maximization of
Core Earnings at the expense of other criteria, such as preservation of capital, in order to achieve higher incentive compensation. Investments with
higher yield potential are generally riskier or more speculative. This could result in increased risk to the value of our investment portfolio.

Our Manager manages our portfolio in accordance with very broad investment guidelinesand our board of directors does not approve each
investment and financing decision made by our Manager, which may result in usmaking riskier investments than those currently comprising
our investment portfolio.

While our directors periodically review our investment portfolio, they do not review all of our proposed investments. In addition, in
conducting periodic reviews, our directors may rely primarily on information provided to them by our Manager. Our investment guidelines may be
changed from time to time. Furthermore, our Manager may use complex strategies and transactions entered into by our Manager that may be
difficult or impossible to unwind by the time they are reviewed by our directors. Our Manager has great |atitude in determining the types of assets
that are proper investments for us, which could result in investment returns that are substantially below expectations or that result in losses, which
would materially and adversely affect our business operations and results. In addition, our Manager is not subject to any limits or proportions with
respect to the mix of target investments that we originate or acquire other than as necessary to maintain our qualification asa REIT and our
exemption from registration under the 1940 Act. Decisions made and investments entered into by our Manager may not fully reflect your best
interests.

Our Manager may changeitsinvestment process, or elect not to follow it, without stockholder consent at any time, which may adver sely affect
our investments.

Our Manager may change itsinvestment process without stockholder consent at any time. In addition, there can be no assurance that our
Manager will follow itsinvestment processin relation to the identification and underwriting of prospective investments. Changesin our Manager’s
investment process may result in inferior, among other things, due diligence and underwriting standards, which may adversely affect the
performance of our portfolio.
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Wedo not have a policy that expressly prohibitsour directors, officers, stockholdersor affiliates from engaging for their own account in
business activities of the types conducted by us.

We do not have a policy that expressly prohibits our directors, officers, stockholders or affiliates from engaging for their own account in
business activities of the types conducted by us. However, our code of business conduct and ethics contains a conflicts of interest policy that
prohibits our directors and officers, aswell as employees of our Manager from engaging in any transaction that involves an actual conflict of
interest with us without the approval of the audit committee of our board of directors. In addition, our Management Agreement does not prevent
our Manager and its affiliates from engaging in additional management or investment opportunities, some of which could compete with us, and our
code of business conduct and ethics acknowledges that such activities shall not be deemed a conflict of interest.

Our Manager issubject to extensiveregulation asan investment adviser, which could adver sely affect itsability to manage our business.

Our Manager is subject to regulation as an investment adviser by various regulatory authorities that are charged with protecting the
interests of its clients, including us. Instances of criminal activity and fraud by participants in the investment management industry and
disclosures of trading and other abuses by participantsin the financial servicesindustry have led the U.S. Government and regul ators to consider
increasing the rules and regul ations governing, and oversight of, the U.S. financial system. This activity is expected to result in changesto the
laws and regul ations governing the investment management industry and more aggressive enforcement of the existing laws and regulations. Our
Manager could be subject to civil liability, criminal liability, or sanction, including revocation of its registration as an investment adviser,
revocation of the licenses of its employees, censures, fines, or temporary suspension or permanent bar from conducting business, if it isfound to
have violated any of these laws or regulations. Any such liability or sanction could adversely affect our Manager’s ability to manage our business.
Our Manager must continually address conflicts between its interests and those of its clients, including us. In addition, the SEC and other
regul ators have increased their scrutiny of potential conflicts of interest. Our Manager has procedures and controls that are reasonably designed
to address these issues. However, appropriately dealing with conflicts of interest is complex and difficult and if our Manager fails, or appearsto
fail, to deal appropriately with conflicts of interest, it could face litigation or regulatory proceedings or penalties, any of which could adversely
affect its ability to manage our business.

Wemay not replicate Ares Management’s historical performance.

We cannot assure you that we will replicate Ares Management’s historical performance, and we caution you that our investment returns
could be substantially lower than the returns achieved by other entities managed by Ares Management or its affiliates.

In addition to other analytical tools, our Manager may utilize financial modelsto evaluate commercial mortgage loans and CRE-related debt
instruments, the accuracy and effectiveness of which cannot be guaranteed.

In addition to other analytical tools, our Manager may utilize financial models to evaluate commercial mortgage loans and CRE-related
debt instruments, the accuracy and effectiveness of which cannot be guaranteed. In all cases, financial models are only estimates of future results
which are based upon assumptions made at the time that the projections are developed. There can be no assurance that our Manager’s projected
results will be attained and actual results may vary significantly from the projections. General economic and industry-specific conditions, which are
not predictable, can have an adverse impact on the reliability of projections.

Wedo not own the Aresname, but we may use the name pursuant to a license agreement with Ares Management. Use of the name by other
partiesor thetermination of our license agreement may harm our business.

We have entered into alicense agreement with Ares Management pursuant to which it has granted us a non-exclusive, royalty-free
license to use the name “ Ares.” Under this agreement, we have aright to use this name for so long as ACREM serves as our Manager pursuant to
the Management Agreement. Ares Management retains the right to continue using the “Ares” name. We cannot preclude Ares Management from
licensing or transferring the ownership of the “Ares’ name to third parties, some of whom may compete with us. Consequently, we would be
unable to prevent any damage to goodwill that may occur as aresult of the activities of Ares Management or others. Furthermore, in the event that
the license agreement is terminated, we will be required to change our name and cease using the name. Any of these events could disrupt our
recognition in the market place, damage any goodwill we may have generated and otherwise harm our business. The license agreement terminates
upon expiration of the Management Agreement and may also be terminated by either party without penalty upon 180 days' written notice to the
other party.
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Our Manager’sand Ares Management’sliability islimited under the M anagement Agreement, and we have agreed to indemnify our M anager
against certain liabilities. Asaresult, we could experience poor performance or lossesfor which our Manager would not beliable.

Pursuant to the Management Agreement, our Manager does not assume any responsibility other than to render the services called for
thereunder and will not be responsible for any action of our board of directorsin following or declining to follow its advice or recommendations.
Under the terms of the Management Agreement, our Manager, its officers, members, managers, directors, personnel, any person controlling or
controlled by our Manager, including Ares Management, and any person providing services to our Manager will not be liable to us, any
subsidiary of ours, our stockholders or partners or any subsidiary’s stockholders or partners for acts or omissions performed in accordance with
and pursuant to the Management Agreement, except by reason of acts constituting bad faith, willful misconduct, gross negligence, or reckless
disregard of their duties under the Management Agreement. In addition, we have agreed to indemnify our Manager, its officers, stockholders,
members, managers, directors, personnel, any person controlling or controlled by our Manager and any person providing services to our Manager
with respect to all expenses, losses, damages, liabilities, demands, charges and claims arising from acts of our Manager not constituting bad faith,
willful misconduct, gross negligence, or reckless disregard of duties, performed in good faith in accordance with and pursuant to the Management
Agreement.

RISKSRELATED TO OUR COMPANY GENERALLY
Our board of directorsmay change our investment strategy or guidelines, financing strategy or leverage policieswithout stockholder consent.

Our board of directors may change our investment strategy or guidelines, financing strategy or leverage policies with respect to
investments, originations, acquisitions, growth, operations, indebtedness, capitalization and distributions at any time without the consent of our
stockholders, which could result in an investment portfolio with adifferent risk profile than that of our current investment portfolio or of aportfolio
comprised of our target investments. A changein our investment strategy may increase our exposure to interest rate risk, default risk and real
estate market fluctuations. Furthermore, achangein our asset all ocation could result in our making investments in asset categories different from
those described in this annual report. These changes could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, the market price of our
common stock and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Changesin lawsor regulations governing our operations, changesin theinter pretation thereof or newly enacted lawsor regulationsand any
failure by usto comply with theselaws or regulations, could require changesto certain of our business practices, negatively impact our
operations, cash flow or financial condition, impose additional costson usor otherwise adver sely affect our business.

We are subject to regulation by laws and regulations at the local, state and federal levels. These laws and regulations, as well astheir
interpretation, may change from timeto time, and new laws and regulations may be enacted. Accordingly, any change in these laws or regul ations,
changesin their interpretation, or newly enacted laws or regulations and any failure by us to comply with current or new laws or regul ations or
such changes thereto, could require changes to certain of our business practices, negatively impact our operations, cash flow or financial
condition, impose additional costs on us or otherwise adversely affect our business. Furthermore, if regulatory capital requirementsimposed on
our private lenders change, they may be required to limit, or increase the cost of, financing they provide to us. In general, this could potentially
increase our financing costs and reduce our liquidity or require usto sell assets at an inopportune time or price.

On July 21, 2010, President Obama signed into law the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “ Dodd-Frank
Act”). Many of the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act have had extended implementation periods and delayed effective dates and have required
extensive rulemaking by regulatory authorities. While many of the rules required to be written have been promulgated, some have not yet been
implemented. Although the full impact of the Dodd-Frank Act on us may not be known for an extended period of time, the Dodd-Frank Act,
including the rules implementing its provisions and the interpretation of those rules, may negatively impact our operations, cash flows or financial
condition, impose additional costs on us, intensify the regulatory supervision of us or otherwise adversely affect our business.

On February 3, 2017, President Trump signed an Executive Order announcing the new Administration’s policy to regulate the U.S.
financial system in a manner consistent with certain “Core Principles,” including regulation that is efficient, effective and appropriately tailored.
The Executive Order directed the Secretary of the Treasury, in consultation with the heads of the member agencies of the Financial Stability
Oversight Council, to report to the President on the extent to which existing laws, regulations and other government policies promote the Core
Principles and to identify any laws, regulations or other
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government policiesthat inhibit federal regulation of the U.S. financial system. On June 12, 2017, the U.S. Department of the Treasury (“ Treasury”)
published thefirst of several reportsin response to the Executive Order on the depository system covering banks and other savings institutions.
On October 6, 2017, the Treasury released a second report outlining ways to streamline and reform the U.S. regulatory system for capital markets,
followed by athird report, on October 26, 2017, examining the current regulatory framework for the asset management and insurance industries.
The Treasury released afourth report on July 31, 2018 describing recommendations relating to non-bank financial institutions, financial technology
and innovation. Subsequent reports are expected to address retail and institutional investment products and vehicles. At thistimeit isunclear
what impact the Executive Order and the Administration’s policy will have on regulations that affect our and our competitors' businesses.

On December 22, 2017, President Trump signed into law Public Law No. 115-97 (the “ Tax Cuts and Jobs Act”), which significantly
changed the Code, including, areduction in the corporate income tax rate, anew limitation on the deductibility of interest expense, and significant
changesto the taxation of income earned from foreign sources and foreign subsidiaries. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act also authorizes the Internal
Revenue Service (the “IRS") to issue regulations with respect to the new provisions. We cannot predict how the changesin the Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act, or regulations or other guidance issued under it, might affect us or our business.

On May 24, 2018, President Trump signed into law the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act, which
increased from $50 billion to $250 billion the asset threshold for designation of “ systemically important financial institutions” subject to enhanced
prudential standards set by the Federal Reserve, staggering application of this change based on the size and risk of the covered bank holding
company. On May 30, 2018, the Federal Reserve voted to consider changes to the Volcker Rule that would loosen compliance requirements for all
banks. At thistimeit is not possible to determine the potential impact of these new laws and proposals on us.

Adoption of the Basel 111 standards and other proposed supplementary regulatory standards may negatively impact our access to financing or
affect thetermsof our futurefinancing arrangements.

In response to various financial crises and the volatility of financial markets, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision adopted the
Basel 111 standards several years ago. The final package of Basel |11 reforms was approved by the G20 leaders in November 2010. In January 2013,
the Basel Committee agreed to delay implementation of the Basel 111 standards and expanded the scope of assets permitted to be included in a
bank’s liquidity measurement. In 2014, the Basel Committee announced that it would propose additional changes to capital requirements for banks
over the next few years.

U.S. regulators have elected to implement substantially all of the Basel |11 standards. Financial institutions will have until 2019 to fully
comply with the Basel 111 standards, which could cause an increase in capital requirements for, and could place constraints on, the financial
institutions from which we borrow.

In January 2018, U.S. regulators implemented rules requiring enhanced supplementary leverage ratio standards, which impose capital
requirements more stringent than those of the Basel 111 standards for the most systematically significant banking organizations in the U.S.
Adoption and implementation of the Basel 111 standards and the supplemental regulatory standards adopted by U.S. regulators may negatively
impact our access to financing or affect the terms of our future financing arrangements.

In January 2016, the Basel Committee published its revised capital requirements for market risk, known as Fundamental Review of the
Trading Book or FRTB, which are expected to generally result in higher global capital requirements for banks that could, in turn, reduce liquidity
and increase financing and hedging costs. The impact of FRTB will not be known until after any resulting rules are finalized and implemented by
the U.S. federal bank regulatory agencies.

If we do not obtain and maintain the appropriate state licenses, we will not be allowed to originatereal estateloansin some states, which could
materially and adver sely affect us.

State mortgage |oan finance licensing laws vary considerably. Many states and the District of Columbiaimpose alicensing obligation to
originate or purchase real estate loans. If we are unable to obtain the appropriate state licenses or do not qualify for an exemption, we could be
materially and adversely affected.

If these licenses are obtained, state regulators impose additional ongoing obligations on licensees, such as maintaining certain minimum
net worth or line of credit requirements. The minimum net worth requirements vary from state to state. Further, in limited instances, the net worth
calculation may not include recourse on any contingent liabilities. If we do not meet these minimum net worth or line of credit requirements or
satisfy other criteria, regulators may revoke or suspend our licenses and prevent us from continuing to originate real estate loans, which would
materially and adversely affect us.
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Uncertainty about the financial stability of the United States, China and several countriesin Europe could have a significant adver se effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Dueto federal budget deficit concerns, S& P (as defined bel ow) downgraded the federal government's credit rating from AAA to AA+ for
the first timein history on August 5, 2011. Further, Moody's Investors Service and Fitch Ratings had warned that they may downgrade the federal
government's credit rating. Further downgrades or warnings by S& P Global Inc. (“ S&P") or other rating agencies, and the U.S. Government's credit
and deficit concernsin general, could cause interest rates and borrowing costs to rise, which may negatively impact both the perception of credit
risk associated with our debt portfolio and our ability to access the debt markets on favorable terms. In addition, adecreased U.S. Government
credit rating could create broader financial turmoil and uncertainty, which may weigh heavily on our financial performance and the value of our
common stock.

In 2010, afinancia crisis emerged in Europe, triggered by high budget deficits and rising direct and contingent sovereign debt in Greece,
Ireland, Italy, Portugal and Spain, which created concerns about the ability of these nations to continue to service their sovereign debt obligations.
Whilethefinancial stability of many of such countries hasimproved significantly, risks resulting from any future debt crisisin Europe or any
similar crisis could have a detrimental impact on the global economic recovery, sovereign and non-sovereign debt in these countries and the
financial condition of European financial institutions. In June 2016, British voters passed areferendum to exit the European Union leading to
heightened volatility in global markets and foreign currencies. Market and economic disruptions have affected, and may in the future affect,
consumer confidence levels and spending, personal bankruptcy rates, levels of incurrence and default on consumer debt and home prices, among
other factors. We cannot assure you that market disruptionsin Europe, including the increased cost of funding for certain governments and
financial institutions, will not impact the global economy, and we cannot assure you that assistance packages will be available, or if available, be
sufficient to stabilize countries and marketsin Europe or elsewhere affected by afinancial crisis. To the extent uncertainty regarding any economic
recovery in Europe negatively impacts consumer confidence and consumer credit factors, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be significantly and adversely affected.

In the second quarter of 2015, stock pricesin Chinaexperienced a significant drop, resulting primarily from continued sell-off of shares
trading in Chinese markets. In addition, in August 2015, Chinese authorities sharply devalued China's currency. Since then, the Chinese capital
markets have continued to experience periods of instability. These market and economic disruptions have affected, and may in the future affect, the
U.S. capital markets, which could adversely affect our business. Additionally, the Federal Reserve has periodically raised the federal funds rate
during the period between December 2015 and December 2018, and has announced its intention to continue to raise the federal funds rate over
time.

These developments, along with the U.S. Government’s credit and deficit concerns, the European market disruptions and the economic
slowdown in China, could cause interest rates and borrowing coststo rise, which may negatively impact our ability to access the debt markets on
favorable terms.

Uncertainty relating to the LIBOR calculation process may adver sely affect the value of our portfolio of the LIBOR-indexed, floating-rate debt
securitiesor the cost of our borrowings.

Concerns have been publicized that some of the member banks surveyed by the British Bankers' Association (“BBA™) in connection with
the calculation of LIBOR across arange of maturities and currencies may have been under-reporting or otherwise manipulating the inter-bank
lending rate applicable to them in order to profit on their derivatives positions or to avoid an appearance of capital insufficiency or adverse
reputational or other consequences that may have resulted from reporting inter-bank lending rates higher than those they actually submitted. A
number of BBA member banks have entered into settlements with their regulators and law enforcement agencies with respect to alleged
manipulation of LIBOR, and investigations by regul ators and governmental authorities in various jurisdictions are ongoing.

On July 27, 2017, the United Kingdom's Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, announced that it intends to phase out
LIBOR by the end of 2021. It isunclear if at that time whether or not LIBOR will ceaseto exist or if new methods of calculating LIBOR will be
established such that it continues to exist after 2021. The U.S. Federal Reserve, in conjunction with the Alternative Reference Rates Committee, a
steering committee comprised of large U.S. financial institutions, is considering replacing U.S. dollar LIBOR with a new index calculated by short-
term repurchase agreements, backed by Treasury securities. The future of LIBOR at thistimeis uncertain. Potential changes, or uncertainty related
to such potential changes, may adversely affect the market for LIBOR-based loans, including our portfolio of LIBOR-indexed, floating rate loans, or
the cost of our borrowings. In addition, changes or reforms to the determination or supervision of LIBOR may result in a sudden or prolonged
increase or decrease in reported LIBOR, which could have an adverse impact on the market for
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LIBOR-based |oans, including the value of our portfolio of LIBOR-indexed, floating-rate loans, or the cost of our borrowings. Additionally, if
LIBOR ceases to exist, we may need to renegotiate the credit agreements extending beyond 2021 that utilize LIBOR as afactor in determining the
interest rate and certain of our existing mortgage loans to replace LIBOR with the new standard that is established.

We are highly dependent on information systems and systemsfailures could significantly disrupt our business, which may, in turn, negatively
affect the market price of our common stock and our ability to pay dividends.

Our businessis highly dependent on communications and information systems of Ares Management. Any failure or interruption of Ares
Management's systems could cause delays or other problemsin our business, which could have amaterial adverse effect on our operating results
and negatively affect the market price of our common stock and our ability to pay dividendsto our stockholders.

Cybersecurity risksand cyber incidents may adver sely affect our business or the business of our borrowersby causing a disruption to our
operationsor the operations of our borrowers, acompromise or corruption of our confidential information or the confidential information of our
borrowersand/or damageto our businessrelationshipsor the businessrelationships of our borrowers, all of which could negatively impact the
business, financial condition and operating results of usor our borrowers.

A cyber incident is considered to be any adverse event that threatens the confidentiality, integrity or availability of the information
resources of usor our borrowers. These incidents may be an intentional attack or an unintentional event and could involve gaining unauthorized
access to our information systems or those of our borrowers for purposes of misappropriating assets, stealing confidential information, corrupting
data or causing operational disruption. We and our Manager’s employees have been and expect to continue to be the target of fraudulent calls,
emails and other forms of activities. The result of these incidents may include disrupted operations, misstated or unreliable financia data, liability
for stolen assets or information, increased cybersecurity protection and insurance costs, litigation and damage to our business relationships. The
costs related to cyber or other security threats or disruptions may not be fully insured or indemnified by other means. As our and our borrowers’
reliance on technology has increased, so have the risks posed to our information systems, both internal and those provided by Ares Management
and third party service providers, and the information systems of our borrowers. Ares Management has implemented processes, procedures and
internal controlsto help mitigate cybersecurity risks and cyber intrusions, but these measures, as well as our increased awareness of the nature
and extent of arisk of acyber incident, do not guarantee that a cyber incident will not occur and/or that our financial results, operations or
confidential information will not be negatively impacted by such anincident. In addition, cybersecurity has become atop priority for regulators
around the world, and some jurisdictions have enacted laws requiring companies to notify individual s of data security breachesinvolving certain
types of personal data. If wefail to comply with the relevant laws and regulations, we could suffer financial loss, a disruption of our business,
liability to investors, regulatory intervention or reputational damage.

We may not complete our analysisof our internal controlsover financial reportingin atimely manner, or our internal controls may not be
determined to be effective, which may adver sely affect investor confidencein our company and, asa result, the value of our securities.

We may not be able to complete our internal control evaluation, testing and any required remediation in atimely fashion. If we are not able
to comply with the applicabl e requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 in atimely manner or with adequate compliance, our
operations, financial reporting or financial results could be adversely affected. Matters impacting our internal controls may cause us to be unable
to report our financial information on atimely basis and thereby subject us to adverse regulatory consequences, including sanctions by the SEC or
violations of applicable stock exchange listing rules, and result in a breach of the covenants under the agreements governing any of our financing
arrangements. There could also be a negative reaction in the financial markets due to aloss of investor confidence in us and the reliability of our
financial statements. Confidencein the reliability of our financial statements could also suffer if we or our independent registered public
accounting firm were to report amaterial weaknessin our internal controls over financial reporting. This could materially adversely affect usand
lead to adeclinein the price of our securities.

I neffectiveinternal controls could impact our business and oper ating results.

Our internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements because of itsinherent limitations, including the
possibility of human error, the circumvention or overriding of controls, or fraud. Even effective internal controls can provide only reasonable
assurance with respect to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements. If we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls,
including any failure to implement required new or
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improved controls, or if we experience difficultiesin their implementation, our business and operating results could be harmed and we could fail to
meet our financial reporting obligations.

If wefail to comply with laws, regulations and market standar ds regarding the privacy, use and security of customer information, we may be
subject tolegal and regulatory actionsand our reputation would be harmed, which would materially adver sely affect us.

We receive, maintain and store the non-public personal information of our loan applicants. The technology and other controls and
processes designed to secure our customer information and to prevent, detect and remedy any unauthorized access to that information were
designed to obtain reasonable, not absolute, assurance that such information is secure and that any unauthorized accessisidentified and
addressed appropriately. Accordingly, such controls may not have detected, and may in the future fail to prevent or detect, unauthorized accessto
our borrower information. If thisinformation isinappropriately accessed and used by athird party or an employee for illegal purposes, such as
identity theft, we may be responsible to the affected applicant or borrower for any losses he or she may haveincurred as aresult of
misappropriation. In such an instance, we may be liable to agovernmental authority for fines or penalties associated with alapse in the integrity
and security of our customers' information, which could materially adversely affect us.

RISKSRELATED TO SOURCES OF FINANCING AND HEDGING

Wemay incur significant debt, which may subject usto increased risk of lossand may reduce cash availablefor distributionsto our
stockholders.

We borrow funds under the Financing Agreements and the CLO Securitization. As of December 31, 2018, we had approximately $888.0
million of outstanding borrowings under the Financing Agreements and $272.9 million outstanding under the CLO Securitization. Subject to market
conditions and availability, we may incur significant debt through bank credit facilities (including term loans and revolving facilities), repurchase
agreements, warehouse facilities and structured financing arrangements, public and private debt i ssuances and derivative instruments, in addition
to transaction or asset specific funding arrangements. The percentage of |everage we employ will vary depending on our available capital, our
ability to obtain and access financing arrangements with lenders, debt restrictions contained in those financing arrangements and the lenders’ and
rating agencies’ estimate of the stability of our investment portfolio’s cash flow. We may significantly increase the amount of leverage we utilize at
any time without approval of our board of directors. In addition, we may leverage individual assets at substantially higher levels. Incurring
substantial debt could subject usto many risksthat, if realized, would materially and adversely affect us, including the risk that:

. our cash flow from operations may be insufficient to make required payments of principal of and interest on the debt or we may
fail to comply with all of the other covenants contained in the debt, which islikely to result in (a) acceleration of such debt (and
any other debt containing a cross-default or cross-accel eration provision) that we may be unable to repay from internal funds or
to refinance on favorable terms, or at all, (b) our inability to borrow unused amounts under our financing arrangements, even if
we are current in payments on borrowings under those arrangements, and/or (c) the loss of some or all of our assetsto
foreclosure or sale;

. our debt may increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions with no assurance that investment yields
will increase with higher financing costs;

. we may be required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our debt, thereby reducing
funds available for operations, future business opportunities, stockholder distributions or other purposes;

. we are not able to refinance debt that matures prior to the investment it was used to finance on favorable terms, or at all; and
. as the holder of the subordinated classes of a securitization, we may be required to absorb losses.

There can be no assurance that our leveraging strategy will be successful.
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TheFinancing Agreementsimpose, and any additional lending facilitieswill impose, restrictive covenantsand other restrictions.

We borrow funds under the Financing Agreements. The documents that govern the Financing Agreements and our securitizations
contain, and any additional lending facilities would be expected to contain, customary negative covenants and other financial and operating
covenants, that among other things, may affect our ability to incur additional debt, make certain investments or acquisitions, reduce liquidity below
certain levels, make distributions to our stockholders, redeem debt or equity securities, make other restricted payments, impose asset concentration
limits, impact our flexibility to determine our operating policies and investment strategies. For example, certain of the Financing Agreements contain
negative covenants that limit, among other things, our ability to repurchase our common stock, distribute more than a certain amount of our net
income to our stockholders, employ leverage beyond certain amounts, sell assets, engage in mergers or consolidations, grant liens, and enter into
transactions with affiliates (including amending the Management Agreement in amaterial respect). Certain of the restrictive covenants that apply
to the Financing Agreements are further described in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statementsincluded in this annual report on Form 10-K.
If we fail to meet or satisfy any of these covenants, we would be in default under these agreements, and our lenders could elect to declare
outstanding amounts due and payable, terminate their commitments, require the posting of additional collateral, including cash to satisfy margin
calls, and enforce their interests against existing collateral. We are also subject to cross-default and accel eration rights and, with respect to
collateralized debt, the posting of additional collateral, including cash to satisfy margin calls, and foreclosure rights upon default. Further, these
restrictions could also make it difficult for us to satisfy the qualification requirements necessary to maintain our statusasaREIT.

Monetary policy actionsby the U.S. Federal Reserve could adversely impact our financial condition.

We are affected by the fiscal and monetary policies of the U.S. Government and its agencies, including the policies of the Federal Reserve,
which regulates the supply of money and credit in the United States. The Federal Reserve raised the federal funds rate nine times during the period
between December 2015 and December 2018, and has announced itsintention to determine what future adjustments are appropriate to the federal
funds rate over time. Changesin the federal funds rate as well as the other policies of the Federal Reserve affect interest rates, which have a
significant impact on the demand for CRE loans. Changes in fiscal and monetary policies are beyond our control, are difficult to predict and could
materially adversely affect us.

Fluctuationsin interest rates and credit spreads could increase our financing costsand reduce our ability to gener ate income on our
investments, each of which could lead to a significant decreasein our results of operations, cash flowsand the market value of our investments.

Our primary interest rate exposures will relate to the yield on our investments and the financing cost of our debt aswell as our interest rate
swaps that we may utilize for hedging purposes. Changesin interest rates and credit spreads may affect our net interest margin, which isthe
difference between the interest income we earn on our interest-earning investments and the interest expense weincur in financing these
investments. Fluctuations in interest rates and credit spreads resulting in our interest expense exceeding interest income would result in operating
losses for us. Changesin the level of interest rates and credit spreads also may affect our ability to invest in investments, the value of our
investments and our ability to realize gains from the disposition of assets. Changesin interest rates and credit spreads may also negatively affect
demand for loans and could result in higher borrower default rates.

To the extent that our financing costs will be determined by reference to floating rates, such as LIBOR or a Treasury index, plusamargin,
the amount of such costswill depend on avariety of factors, including, without limitation, (a) for collateralized debt, the value and liquidity of the
collateral, and for non-collateralized debt, our credit, (b) the level and movement of interest rates, and (c) general market conditions and liquidity.
Market credit spread over LIBOR is affected similarly by changesin LIBOR spreads. In aperiod of rising interest rates or widening credit spreads,
our interest expense on floating rate debt would increase, while any additional interest income we earn on our floating rate investments may be
subject to caps or may be subject to atighter credit spread and as aresult may not compensate for such increase in interest expense. At the same
time, the interest income we earn on our fixed rate investments would not change, the duration and weighted average life of our fixed rate
investments would increase and the market value of our fixed rate investments would decrease. Similarly, in aperiod of declining interest rates or
tightening credit spreads, our interest income on floating rate investments would decrease, while any decrease in the interest we are charged on
our floating rate debt may be subject to floors and not compensate for such decrease in interest income or tightened credit spread. Additionally,
the interest we are charged on our fixed rate debt would not change. Any such scenario could materially and adversely affect us.

Our operating resultswill depend, in part, on differences between the income earned on our investments, net of credit losses, and our
financing costs. The yields we earn on our floating-rate assets and our borrowing costs tend to move in the same
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direction in response to changes in interest rates and credit spreads. However, one can rise or fall faster than the other, causing our net interest
margin or our credit spreads to expand or contract. In addition, we could experience reductionsin the yield on our investments and an increasein
the cost of our financing. Although we seek to match the terms of our liabilities to the expected lives of loans that we acquire or originate,
circumstances may arise in which our liabilities are shorter in duration than our assets, resulting in their adjusting faster in response to changesin
interest rates and credit spreads. For any period during which our investments are not match-funded, the income earned on such investments may
respond more slowly to interest rate and credit spread fluctuations than the cost of our borrowings. Consequently, changesin interest rates and
credit spreads, particularly short-term interest rates and credit spreads, may immediately and significantly decrease our results of operations and
cash flows and the market value of our investments.

Significant fluctuationsin interest rates and credit spreads aswell as protracted periods of increases or decreasesin interest rates and
credit spreads could adversely affect the operation and income of multifamily and other CRE properties, as well as the demand from investors for
CRE debt in the secondary market. In particular, higher interest rates and widening credit spreads tend to decrease the number of |oans originated.
Anincreasein interest rates or widening credit spreads could cause refinancing of existing loansto become less attractive and qualifying for aloan
to become more difficult. However, a decrease in interest rates or tightening credit spreads will increase the likelihood that certain holdings will be
refinanced at lower rates that would negatively impact our earnings.

TheFinancing Agreementsand any bank credit facilitiesand repur chase agreementsthat we may usein the futureto finance our assets may
requireusto provide additional collateral or pay down debt.

We borrow funds under the Financing Agreements. We anticipate that we will also utilize additional bank credit facilities or repurchase
agreements (including term loans and revolving facilities) to finance our assetsif they become available on acceptable terms. Such financing
arrangements would involve therisk that the value of the loans or securities pledged or sold by usto the provider of the bank credit facility or
repurchase agreement counterparty may decline in value, in which case the lender may require usto provide additional collateral, including cash to
satisfy margin calls, or to repay al or aportion of the funds advanced. With respect to certain facilities, subject to certain conditions, our lenders
retain the sole discretion over the market value of 1oans or securities that serve as collateral for the borrowings under such facilities for purposes of
determining whether we are required to pay margin to such lenders. We may not have the funds available to repay our debt at that time, which
would likely result in defaults unless we are able to raise the funds from alternative sources, which we may not be able to achieve on favorable
termsor at al. Posting additional collateral would reduce our liquidity and limit our ability to leverage our assets. If we cannot meet these
reguirements, the lender could accel erate our indebtedness, increase the interest rate on advanced funds and terminate our ability to borrow funds
from it, which could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and ability to implement our investment strategy. In addition, if the
lender files for bankruptcy or becomesinsolvent, our loans may become subject to bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings, thus depriving us, at
least temporarily, of the benefit of these assets. Such an event could restrict our access to bank credit facilities and increase our cost of capital.
The providers of bank credit facilities and repurchase agreement financing may also require us to maintain a certain amount of cash or set aside
assets sufficient to maintain a specified liquidity position that would allow usto satisfy our collateral obligations. Asaresult, we may not be able
to leverage our assets as fully as we would choose, which could reduce our return on assets. If we are unable to meet these collateral obligations,
our financial condition and prospects could deteriorate rapidly.

In addition, if acounterparty to our repurchase transactions defaults on its obligation to resell the underlying security back to us at the
end of the transaction term, or if the value of the underlying security has declined as of the end of that term, or if we default on our obligations
under the repurchase agreement, we will likely incur aloss on our repurchase transactions.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain additional bank credit facilities or repurchase agreements on favorable terms, or
atall.

Our accessto sour ces of financing may be limited and thus our ability to grow our business and to maximize our returns may be adver sely
affected.

We borrow funds under various financing arrangements and our business requires a significant amount of funding capacity on an interim
basis. Subject to market conditions and availability, we may incur significant additional debt through bank credit facilities (including term loans and
revolving facilities), repurchase agreements, warehouse facilities and structured financing arrangements, public and private debt issuances and
derivative instruments, in addition to transaction or asset specific funding arrangements. We may also issue additional debt or equity securitiesto
fund our growth.

Our access to sources of financing will depend upon a number of factors, over which we have little or no control, including:
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. general economic or market conditions;

. the market's view of the quality of our assets;

. the market's perception of our growth potential;

. our current and potential future earnings and cash distributions; and
. the market price of the shares of our common stock.

From time to time, capital markets may experience periods of disruption and instability. For example, between 2008 and 2009, the global
capital markets were unstabl e as evidenced by periodic disruptionsin liquidity in the debt capital markets, significant write-offsin the financial
services sector, the re-pricing of credit risk in the broadly syndicated credit market and the failure of major financial institutions. Despite actions of
the U.S. Government and foreign governments, these events contributed to worsening general economic conditions that materially and adversely
impacted the broader financial and credit markets and reduced the availability of debt and equity capital for the market as awhole and financial
services firmsin particular. While market conditions have largely recovered from the events of 2008 and 2009, there have been continuing periods
of volatility, some lasting longer than others. For example, continued uncertainty surrounding the referendum by British voters to exit the European
Union and uncertainty between the United States and other countries with respect to trade policies, treaties, and tariffs, among other factors, have
caused disruption in the global markets, including the marketsin which we participate. There can be no assurance that these market conditions will
not continue or worsen in the future.

Wewill need to periodically access the capital markets to raise cash to fund new investments in excess of our repayments. A prolonged
declinein the price of our shares of common stock compared to book value could negatively affect our access to these markets. We have elected
and qualified for taxation asa REIT. Among other things, in order to maintain our REIT status, we are generally required to annually distribute to
our stockholders an amount equal to at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, and, as aresult, such distributions will not be available to fund
investment originations. We must continue to borrow from financial institutions and issue additional securities to fund the growth of our
investments and to ensure that we can meet ongoing maturities of our outstanding debt. Unfavorable economic or capital market conditions may
increase our funding costs, limit our access to the capital markets or could result in a decision by our potential lenders not to extend credit. An
inability to successfully access the capital markets could limit our ability to grow our business and fully execute our business strategy and could
decrease our earnings, if any. In addition, weaknessin the capital and credit markets could adversely affect one or more private lenders and could
cause one or more of our private lenders to be unwilling or unable to provide us with financing or to increase the costs of that financing. In
addition, if regulatory capital requirementsimposed on our private lenders change, they may be required to limit, or increase the cost of, financing
they provide to us. In general, this could potentially increase our financing costs and reduce our liquidity or require usto sell assets at an
inopportune time or price. No assurance can be given that we will be able to obtain any such financing (including any replacement financing for
our current financing arrangements) on favorable termsor at all.

Any war ehousefacilitiesthat we may obtain in the future may limit our ability to originate or acquire assets, and we may incur lossesif the
collateral isliquidated.

We may utilize, if available, warehouse facilities pursuant to which we would accumul ate mortgage loans in anticipation of a securitization
financing, which assets would be pledged as collateral for such facilities until the securitization transaction is consummated. In order to borrow
fundsto originate or acquire assets under any future warehouse facilities, we expect that our lenders thereunder would have the right to review the
potential assets for which we are seeking financing. We may be unabl e to obtain the consent of alender to originate or acquire assets that we
believe would be beneficial to us and we may be unable to obtain alternate financing for such assets. In addition, no assurance can be given that a
securitization structure would be consummated with respect to the assets being warehoused. If the securitization is not consummated, the lender
could demand repayment of the facility, and in the event that we were unable to timely repay, could liquidate the warehoused collateral and we
would then have to pay any amount by which the original purchase price of the collateral assets exceedsits sale price, subject to negotiated caps,
if any, on our exposure. In addition, regardless of whether the securitization is consummated, if any of the warehoused collateral is sold before the
completion, we would have to bear any resulting loss on the sale.
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We have utilized and may continueto utilize in the future non-recour selong-term securitizations. Such structures may expose ustorisks
which could result in losses.

We have utilized and, if available, we may utilize in the future non-recourse long-term securitizations of our investmentsin mortgage
loans, especially loan originations, if and when they become available. Prior to any such financing, we may seek to finance these investments with
relatively short-term facilities until asufficient portfolio is accumulated. Asaresult, we would be subject to the risk that we would not be able to
originate or acquire, during the period that any short-term facilities are available, sufficient eligible assets to maximize the efficiency of a
securitization. We also would bear the risk that we would not be able to obtain new short-term facilities or would not be able to renew any short-
term facilities after they expire should we need more time to seek and originate or acquire sufficient eligible assets for a securitization. In addition,
conditionsin the capital markets, including volatility and disruption in the capital and credit markets, may not permit a non-recourse securitization
at any particular time or may make the issuance of any such securitization less attractive to us even when we do have sufficient eligible assets.
While we would intend to retain the unrated equity component of securitizations and, therefore, still have exposure to any investmentsincluded in
such securitizations, our inability to enter into such securitizations would increase our overall exposure to risks associated with direct ownership of
such investments, including the risk of default, aswe may have utilized recourse facilities to finance such investments. Our inability to refinance
any short-term facilities would also increase our risk because borrowings thereunder would likely be recourse to us as an entity. If we are unable to
obtain and renew short-term facilities or to consummate securitizations to finance our investments on along-term basis, we may be required to seek
other forms of potentially less attractive financing or to liquidate assets at an inopportune time or price.

Moreover, we may also suffer losses if the value of the mortgage |oans we originate declines prior to securitization. Declinesin the value
of amortgage loan can be due to, among other things, changesin interest rates and changes in the credit quality of the loan. In addition, we may
suffer aloss due to the incurrence of transaction costs related to executing these transactions. To the extent that we incur aloss executing or
participating in future securitizations for the reasons described above or for other reasons, it could materially and adversely impact our business
and financial condition.

The securitization processis subject to an evolving regulatory environment that may affect certain aspectsof our current business.

The pools of commercial |oans that we may originate, securitize or acquire as asset-backed securities and for which we act as special
servicer are structures commonly referred to as securitizations. As aresult of the dislocation of the credit markets, and in anticipation of more
extensive regulation, including regulations promulgated pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the securitization industry has crafted and continuesto
craft changes to securitization practices, including changes to representations and warranties in securitization transaction documents, new
underwriting guidelines and disclosure guidelines. Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, various federal agencies, including the SEC (collectively, “the
agencies’) have promulgated regulations with respect to issues that affect securitizations. In August 2014, the SEC adopted amendments to
Regulation AB and other rules that impose significant additional disclosure, review and reporting requirements on issuersin connection with
registered offerings of asset-backed securities. These rulestook effect beginning in late 2014 and throughout 2015, with some provisions taking
effect in late 2016. The SEC has indicated that similar disclosure requirements for private offerings of asset-backed securities remain under
consideration. In October 2014, the agencies adopted rules that require securitizersin both public and private securitization transactions to retain
not less than 5% of the risk associated with the securities, subject to certain exceptions. Compliance with the rules with respect to commercial
mortgage-backed securities and other asset-backed securities became areguirement in late 2016. These regulations, and other proposed
regulations affecting securitization, could alter the structure of securitizationsin the future, pose additional risksto our participation in future
securitizations or reduce or eliminate the economic incentives for participating in future securitizations, increase the costs associated with our
origination, securitization or acquisition activities, or otherwise increase the risks or costs of our doing business.

Wemay enter into hedging transactionsthat could expose usto contingent liabilitiesin the future.

Subject to maintaining our qualification asaREIT, part of our investment strategy will involve entering into hedging transactions that
could require us to fund cash paymentsin certain circumstances (such as the early termination of the hedging instrument caused by an event of
default or other early termination event, or the decision by a counterparty to request margin securitiesit is contractually owed under the terms of
the hedging instrument). The amount due would be equal to the unrealized loss of the open swap positions with the respective counterparty and
could also include other fees and charges. These economic losses will be reflected in our results of operations, and our ability to fund these
obligations will depend on the liquidity of our assets and accessto capital at the time, and the need to fund these obligations could adversely
impact our financial condition.
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Hedging against interest rate or currency exposure may adver sely affect our earnings, which could reduce our cash availablefor distribution to
our stockholders.

Subject to maintaining our qualification asa REIT, we may pursue various hedging strategies to seek to reduce our exposure to adverse
changesin interest rates or currencies. This hedging activity may vary in scope based on the level and volatility of interest rates, the type of
assets held and other changing market conditions. Interest rate hedging may fail to protect or could adversely affect us because, among other
things:

. interest rate hedging can be expensive, particularly during periods of rising and volatile interest rates;

. availableinterest rate hedges may not correspond directly with the interest rate risk for which protection is sought;

. dueto acredit loss, the duration of the hedge may not match the duration of the related liability;

. the amount of income that a REIT may earn from hedging transactions (other than hedging transactions that satisfy certain

requirements of the Code or that are done through a TRS) to offset interest rate lossesis limited by U.S. federal income tax
provisions governing REITS;

. the credit quality of the hedging counterparty owing money on the hedge may be downgraded to such an extent that it impairs
our ability to sell or assign our side of the hedging transaction; and

. the hedging counterparty owing money in the hedging transaction may default on its obligation to pay.

In addition, we may fail to recal cul ate, readjust and execute hedges in an efficient manner. Any hedging activity in which we engage may
materially and adversely affect our business. Therefore, while we may enter into such transactions seeking to reduce interest rate risks,
unanticipated changesin interest rates may result in poorer overall investment performance than if we had not engaged in any such hedging
transactions. In addition, the degree of correlation between price movements of the instruments used in a hedging strategy and price movementsin
the portfolio positions or liabilities being hedged may vary materially. Moreover, for avariety of reasons, we may not seek to establish a perfect
correlation between such hedging instruments and the portfolio positions or liabilities being hedged. Any such imperfect correlation may prevent
us from achieving the intended hedge and expose usto risk of loss.

Hedging instruments often are not traded on regulated exchanges or guaranteed by an exchange or itsclearing house, and involverisksand
coststhat could result in material losses.

The cost of using hedging instruments increases as the period covered by the instrument increases and during periods of rising and
volatileinterest rates, we may increase our hedging activity and thusincrease our hedging costs. In addition, hedging instrumentsinvolve risk
since they often are not traded on regul ated exchanges or guaranteed by an exchange or its clearing house. Consequently, there are no
requirements with respect to record keeping, financial responsibility or segregation of customer funds and positions. Furthermore, the
enforceability of agreements underlying hedging transactions may depend on compliance with applicable statutory and commodity and other
regulatory requirements and, depending on the identity of the counterparty, applicable international requirements. The business failure of a
hedging counterparty with whom we enter into a hedging transaction will most likely result inits default. Default by a party with whom we enter
into a hedging transaction may result in the loss of unrealized profits and force us to cover our commitments, if any, at the then current market
price. Although generally we will seek to reserve the right to terminate our hedging positions, it may not always be possible to dispose of or close
out a hedging position without the consent of the hedging counterparty and we may not be able to enter into an offsetting contract in order to
cover our risk. We cannot assure you that aliquid secondary market will exist for hedging instruments purchased or sold, and we may be required
to maintain a position until exercise or expiration, which could result in significant |osses.

Changesto derivatives regulation imposed by the Dodd-Frank Act could increase our costs of entering into derivative transactions, which could
adversaly impact our results of operations, financial condition and business.

Through its comprehensive new regulatory regime for derivatives, the Dodd-Frank Act currently imposes, or will impose, mandatory
clearing, exchange-trading, recordkeeping, reporting, disclosure, margin and other regul atory requirements on many derivatives transactions
(including formerly unregulated over-the-counter derivatives) in which we may engage. The Dodd-Frank Act also creates new categories of
regulated market participants, such as“ swap dealers,” “security-based swap dealers,” “major swap participants,” and “major security-based swap
participants’ that are and will be subject to significant
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new capital, margin, registration, trading, recordkeeping, reporting, disclosure, business conduct and other regulatory requirements. Certain of
these requirements remain to be clarified through rulemaking or interpretations by the U.S. Commaodity Futures Trading Commission (the“CFTC”),
the SEC, the Federal Reserve and other regulatorsin aregulatory implementation process that has occurred over the past several years and
remains to be completed in some areas.

The possible effects of various provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act may be to increase our overall costs of entering into derivatives
transactions and/or to reduce the availability of derivatives. In particular, new margin requirements, position limits and capital charges, evenif not
directly applicable to us, may cause an increase in the pricing of derivatives transactions sold by market participants to whom such requirements
apply. Administrative costs, due to new requirements such as registration, recordkeeping, reporting and compliance, even if not directly applicable
to us, may also be reflected in higher pricing of derivatives or higher costs of servicing derivatives transactions. New exchange-trading and trade
reporting requirements may lead to reductionsin the liquidity of derivative transactions, causing higher pricing or reduced availability of
derivatives.

In addition, it is possible that we may be determined by a governmental authority to be a swap dealer, major swap participant, security-
based swap dealer, major security-based swap participant or otherwise become subject to new entity or transaction level regulation as aresult of
the Dodd-Frank Act. This additional regulation could lead to significant new costs which could materially adversely affect our business.

Federal bank regulatory authorities and the CFTC have adopted initial and variation margin requirements for swap dealers, security-based
swap dealers, major swap participants and major security-based swap participants (“ swap entities”), including permissible forms of margin,
custodial arrangements and documentation requirements, for uncleared swaps and security-based swaps. As aresult, swap entitieswill be required
to collect margin for transactions and positions in uncleared swaps and security-based swaps by financial end users. The new rules became
effective for end userson March 1, 2017. The effect of the regulations on usis not fully known at thistime. However, these rules may increase the
cost of our activity in uncleared swaps and security-based swaps, limit our ability to enter into such swaps or affect our available liquidity, to the
extent we are determined to be afinancial end user.

In December 2016, the CFTC reproposed rules that would set federal position limits for certain core physical commodity futures, options
and swap contracts (“referenced contracts”), and issued final rules on aggregation among entities under common ownership or control, unless an
exemption applies, for position limits on certain futures and options contracts that would apply to the proposed position limits on referenced
contracts. It is possible that the CFTC could propose to expand such requirements to other types of contractsin the future. The proposal could
affect our ability to enter into derivatives transactionsif and when the CFTC’ s position limits rules become effective.

We may fail to qualify for hedge accounting treatment.

We intend to record derivative and hedging transactions in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815"). Under these standards, we may fail to qualify for hedge
accounting treatment for a number of reasons, including if we use instruments that do not meet the FASB ASC 815 definition of aderivative (such
as short sales), we fail to satisfy FASB ASC 815 hedge documentation and hedge effectiveness assessment requirements or our instruments are
not highly effective. If wefail to qualify for hedge accounting treatment, our operating results may suffer because losses on the derivatives that we
enter into may not be offset by achangein the fair value of the related hedged transaction or item.

We may enter into derivative contractsthat could expose usto contingent liabilitiesin the future.

Subject to maintaining our qualification as a REIT, we may enter into derivative contracts that could require usto fund cash paymentsin
the future under certain circumstances (e.g., the early termination of the derivative agreement caused by an event of default or other early
termination event, or the decision by a counterparty to request margin securitiesit is contractually owed under the terms of the derivative
contract). The amount due would be equal to the unrealized |oss of the open swap positions with the respective counterparty and could also
include other fees and charges. These economic losses may materially and adversely affect our business.
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Weare currently exempt from being regulated as a commaodity pool operator in part because we comply with certain restrictionsregarding our
use of certain derivativeinstruments, and failureto comply with such restrictions could subject usto additional regulation and compliance
requirementswhich could materially adver sely affect our business and financial condition.

Rules under the Dodd-Frank Act have established a comprehensive regulatory framework for derivative contracts commonly referred to
as “swaps.” Under these rules, any investment fund that tradesin swaps may be considered a“commodity pool,” which would cause its directors
to be regulated as “ commodity pool operators,” or “CPOs.” Unless an exemption is available, a CPO must register with the CFTC and become a
member of the National Futures Association (the “NFA”™), which requires compliance with NFA’ s rules, and renders such CPO subject to
regulation by the CFTC, including with respect to disclosure, reporting, recordkeeping and business conduct.

We do not currently invest in any instruments that meet the definition of “swap” under the rules, and we do not currently expect to
engage in any speculative derivatives activities or other non-hedging transactions using swaps, futures or options on futures. However, we may
use hedging instruments in conjunction with our investment portfolio and related borrowings to reduce or mitigate risks associated with changes
ininterest rates, mortgage spreads, yield curve shapes, currency fluctuations and market volatility. These hedging instruments could include
interest rate swaps, interest rate futures and options on interest rate futures, each of whichis considered a*“swap” under CFTC rules. We have
submitted aclaim for relief from any registration regquirements pursuant to a no-action letter issued by the CFTC for mortgage REITs. In order to
qualify for relief from registration, we are restricted to using swaps within certain specific parameters, including alimitation that our annual income
derived from commodity interest trading be less than 5% of our gross annual income and that the initial margin and premiums required to establish
commodity interest positions be no more than 5% of the fair market value of our total assets. If we fail to comply with the applicable restrictions,
our directors may be compelled to register as CPOs, or we may be required to seek other hedging instruments or techniques at increased cost to us,
or that may not be as effective as the use of swaps.

RISKSRELATED TO OUR INVESTMENTS
Wewill allocate our available capital without input from our stockholders.

Y ou will not be able to evaluate the manner in which our available capital isinvested or the economic merit of our expected investments.
Asaresult, we may use our available capital to invest in investments with which you may not agree. Additionally, our investments will be selected
by our Manager and our stockholders will not have input into such investment decisions. Both of these factors will increase the uncertainty, and
thustherisk, of investing in our securities. The failure of our Manager to apply this capital effectively or find investments that meet our investment
criteriain sufficient time or on acceptable terms could result in unfavorable returns, could cause a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, liquidity, results of operations and ability to make distributions to our stockholders, and could cause the value of our common stock to
decline.

Until appropriate investments can be identified, our Manager may invest our available capital in interest-bearing short-term investments,
including money market accounts or funds, commercial mortgage-backed securities, or corporate bonds, which are consistent with our intention to
qualify asaREIT. These investments are expected to provide alower net return than we seek to achieve from investmentsin our target
investments. Our Manager intends to conduct due diligence with respect to each investment and suitabl e investment opportunities may not be
immediately available. Even if opportunities are available, there can be no assurance that our Manager’s due diligence processes will uncover all
relevant facts or that any investment will be successful.

We cannot assure you that (i) we will be able to enter into definitive agreementsto invest in any new investments that meet our
investment objective, (ii) wewill be successful in consummating any investment opportunities we identify or (iii) one or more investments we may
make will yield attractive risk-adjusted returns. Our inability to do any of the foregoing likely would materially and adversely affect our business
and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Thelack of liquidity in our investments may adver sely affect our business.

Theilliquidity of our target investments may make it difficult for usto sell such investmentsif the need or desire arises. Certain target
investments such as senior mortgage loans, subordinated debt, preferred equity, mezzanine |oans and other CRE investments are also particularly
illiquid investments due to their short life, their potential unsuitability for securitization and the greater difficulty of recovery in the event of a
borrower’s default. In addition, many of the loans and securities we invest in will not be registered under the relevant securities laws, resulting in a
prohibition against their transfer, sale, pledge or disposition except in atransaction that is exempt from the registration requirements of, or
otherwise in accordance with, those
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laws. As aresult, we expect many of our investmentswill beilliquid, and if we are required to liquidate all or a portion of our portfolio quickly, we
may realize significantly less than the value at which we have previously recorded investments. Further, we may face other restrictions on our
ability to liquidate an investment in a business entity to the extent that we or our Manager has or could be attributed as having material, non-public
information regarding such business entity. Asaresult, our ability to vary our portfolio in response to changes in economic and other conditions
may be relatively limited, which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Our portfolioisconcentrated in alimited number of loans, which subjectsusto arisk of significant lossif any of these |loans default.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, our portfolio totaled 44 and 42 |oans held for investment, respectively. The number of loansin which
we are invested may be higher or lower depending on the amount of our assets under management at any given time, market conditions and the
extent to which we employ leverage, and will likely fluctuate over time. A consequence of this limited number of investmentsis that the aggregate
returns we realize may be significantly adversely affected if asmall number of investments perform poorly, if we need to write down the val ue of
any oneinvestment or if an investment isrepaid prior to maturity and we are not able to promptly redeploy the proceeds. We do not have fixed
guidelines for diversification, and our investments could be concentrated in relatively few loans.

Whileweintend to continue to diversify our portfolio of investmentsin the manner described in our filings with the SEC, we do not have
fixed guidelinesfor diversification. Asaresult, our investments could be concentrated in relatively few loans and/or relatively few property types.
If our portfolio of target investmentsis concentrated in certain property types that are subject to higher risk of foreclosure, or secured by
properties concentrated in alimited number of geographic locations, downturns relating generally to such region or type of asset may result in
defaults on a number of our investments within a short time period, which may reduce our net income and the value of our common stock and
accordingly reduce our ability to pay dividendsto our stockholders.

We may invest in multiple secured loans that share acommon sponsor. We do not have alimit on the amount of total gross offering
proceeds that can be held by multiple borrowers that share the same sponsor. We may face greater credit risk to the extent alarge portion of our
portfolio is concentrated in loans to multiple borrowers that share the same sponsor.

A prolonged economic dowdown, a lengthy or severerecession or further declinesin real estate values could impair our investmentsand harm
our operations.

We believe the risks associated with our business will be more severe during periods of economic slowdown or recession if these periods
are accompanied by declining real estate values. For example, the severe economic downturn that occurred from 2008 through 2009 limited the
availability of debt financing in the overall marketplace and generally made leveraged acquisitions and refinancing more difficult. Consequently,
our investment model may be adversely affected by prolonged economic downturns or recessions where declining real estate values would likely
reduce the level of new mortgage and other real estate-related loan originations, since borrowers often use appreciation in the value of their
existing properties to support the purchase or investment in additional properties. Borrowers may also be less able to pay principal and interest on
our loansif the value of real estate weakens. Further, declining real estate values significantly increase the likelihood that we will incur losses on
our loansin the event of default because the value of our collateral may be insufficient to cover our cost on the loan. Any sustained period of
increased payment delinquencies, foreclosures or |osses could adversely affect our Manager’s ability to invest in, sell and securitize loans, which
would materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition, liquidity and business and our ability to pay dividendsto
stockholders.

Our real estateinvestmentsare subject torisksparticular toreal property. Theserisksmay result in areduction or elimination of, or return
from, aloan secured by a particular property.

We may own CRE directly in the future as aresult of adefault of mortgage or other real estate related loans. Real estate investments are
subject to various risks, including:

. acts of God, including earthquakes, floods and other natural disasters, which may result in uninsured losses;
. political events, acts of war or terrorism, including the consequences of terrorist attacks;
. adverse changesin national and local economic and market conditions, including local markets with a significant exposure to the

energy sector, which may be affected by the current low prices of oil and related gas that could adversely affect the success of
tenantsin that industry;
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. changesin governmental laws and regulations (including their interpretations), fiscal policies and zoning ordinances and the
related costs of compliance with laws and regulations, fiscal policies and ordinances;

. costs of remediation and liabilities associated with environmental conditions such asindoor mold; and
. the potential for uninsured or under-insured property losses.

If any of these or similar events occurs, it may reduce our return from an affected property or investment and services and reduce or
eliminate our ability to pay dividendsto our stockholders.

The CRE loanswe originate and the mortgage loans under lying any commer cial mortgage-backed securitiesinvestmentsthat we may make will
be subject to the ability of the commercial property owner to generate net income from oper ating the property, aswell astherisks of delinquency
and foreclosure.

Our CRE loans are secured by commercial and multifamily properties and are subject to risks of delinquency and foreclosure, and risks of
loss that may be greater than similar risks associated with loans made on the security of single-family residential property. The ability of aborrower
to repay aloan secured by an income-producing property typically is dependent primarily upon the successful operation of such property rather
than upon the existence of independent income or assets of the borrower. If the net operating income of the property is reduced, the borrower’s
ability to repay the loan may beimpaired. Net operating income of an income-producing property can be adversely affected by, among other
things, the following:

. tenant mix;

. success of tenant businesses;

. property management decisions;

. property location, condition and design;

. competition from comparable types of properties;

. changesin laws that increase operating expenses or limit rents that may be charged,;

. changesin national, regional or local economic conditions and/or specific industry segments, including the credit and

securitization markets;

. declinesin regional or local real estate values;

. changesin local marketsin which our tenants operate, including changesin oil and gas prices;

. declinesin regional or local rental or occupancy rates;

. increasesin interest rates, real estate tax rates and other operating expenses;

J costs of remediation and liabilities associated with environmental conditions;

. the potential for uninsured or underinsured property losses;

. the potential for casualty or condemnation loss;

. changesin governmental laws and regulations, including fiscal policies, zoning ordinances and environmental |egislation and the

related costs of compliance;
. changesin supply (resulting from the recent growth in CRE debt funds or otherwise) and demand; and

. acts of God, terrorist attacks, social unrest and civil disturbances.
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In the event of any default under amortgage loan held directly by us, we will bear arisk of loss of principal to the extent of any deficiency
between the value of the collateral and the principal and accrued interest of the mortgage loan, which could have amaterial adverse effect on our
cash flow from operations and limit amounts available for distribution to our stockholders. In the event of the bankruptcy of a mortgage loan
borrower, the mortgage loan to such borrower will be deemed to be secured only to the extent of the value of the underlying collateral at the time of
bankruptcy (as determined by the bankruptcy court), and the lien securing the mortgage loan will be subject to the avoidance powers of the
bankruptcy trustee or debtor-in-possession to the extent the lien is unenforceable under state law. Foreclosure of a mortgage loan can be an
expensive and lengthy process, which could have a substantial negative effect on our anticipated return on the foreclosed mortgage |oan.

Prepayment rates may adver sely affect the value of our portfolio of assets.

Our net income and earnings may be affected by prepayment rates on our existing CRE loans. In periods of declining interest rates and/or
credit spreads, prepayment rates on loans generally increase. If general interest rates or credit spreads decline at the same time, the proceeds of
such prepayments received during such periods are likely to be reinvested by usin assets yielding less than the yields on the assets that were
prepaid. In addition, the value of our assets may be affected by prepayment rates on loans. If we originate CRE |oans, we expect borrowers will
prepay at a projected rate generating an expected yield. When borrowers prepay their loans faster than expected, the corresponding prepayments
on the CRE loans may reduce the expected yield on such loans.

Prepayment rates on loans may be affected by a number of factorsincluding, but not limited to, the then-current level of interest rates and
credit spreads, the availability of mortgage credit, the relative economic vitality of the areain which the related properties are located, the servicing
of the loans, possible changesin tax laws, other opportunities for investment, and other economic, social, geographic, demographic and legal
factors and other factors beyond our control. Consequently, such prepayment rates cannot be predicted with certainty and no strategy can
completely insulate us from prepayment or other such risks.

In addition, principal repayments from mortgage loansin commercial mortgage-backed securities and collateralized loan obligations are
applied sequentially, first going to pay down the senior commercial mortgage-backed securities and collateralized |oan obligations. Accordingly,
we will not receive any proceeds from repayment of loansin commercial mortgage-backed securities or collateralized |oan obligations until all
senior notes are repaid in full, which could materially and adversely impact our liquidity, capital resources and financial condition.

If we are unableto successfully integrate new assets and manage our growth, our results of operationsand financial condition may suffer.

We have in the past and may in the future significantly increase the size and/or change the mix of our portfolio of assets. We may be
unable to successfully and efficiently integrate newly acquired assets into our existing portfolio or otherwise effectively manage our assets or our
growth effectively. In addition, increases in our portfolio of assets and/or changes in the mix of our assets may place significant demands on our
Manager’'s administrative, operational, asset management, financial and other resources. Any failure to manage increases in size effectively could
adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

We operatein a competitive market for investment opportunitiesand loan originations and competition may limit our ability to originate or
acquireour target investmentson attractiveterms.

A number of entities compete with usto make the types of investments that we seek to make and originate the types of loans that we seek
to originate. Our profitability depends, in large part, on our ability to originate or acquire our target investments on attractive terms. In originating
or acquiring our target investments, we compete with avariety of institutional investors, including other REITS, specialty finance companies,
public and private funds (including other funds managed by Ares Management), commercial and investment banks, CRE service providers,
commercial finance and insurance companies and other financial institutions. Several other REITs have raised, or are expected to raise, significant
amounts of capital, and may have investment objectives that overlap with ours, which may create additional competition for investment
opportunities. Many of our anticipated competitors are significantly larger than we are and may have considerably greater financial, technical,
marketing and other resources than we do. Some competitors may have alower cost of funds and access to funding sources that are not available
to us, such asthe U.S. Government. Many of our competitors are not subject to the operating constraints associated with REIT tax compliance or
maintenance of an exemption from the 1940 Act. In addition, some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments,
which could allow them to consider awider variety of investments, deploy more aggressive pricing and establish more relationships than us.
Furthermore, competition for originations of and investmentsin our target investments may lead to the price of such assets increasing, which may
further limit our ability to generate desired returns. We cannot assure you that the competitive pressures we face will not have a
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material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Also, as aresult of this competition, desirable investmentsin
our target investments may be limited in the future and we may not be able to take advantage of attractive investment opportunities from time to
time, as we can provide no assurance that we will be able to identify and make investments that are consistent with our investment objectives.

If our Manager overestimatestheyieldsor incorrectly pricestherisksof our investments, we may experience losses.

Our Manager values our potential investments based on yields and risks, taking into account estimated future losses on the mortgage
loans and the collateral underlying our mortgage loans and included in securitization pools, and the estimated impact of these losses on expected
future cash flows and returns. Our Manager’s | 0ss estimates may not prove accurate, as actual results may vary from estimates. If our Manager
underestimates the asset-level losses relative to the price we pay for a particular investment, we may experience losses with respect to such
investment.

Loanson propertiesin transition will involve a greater risk of lossthan traditional investment-grade mortgage loanswith fully insured
borrowers.

We may originate transitional loans secured by first lien mortgages on a property to borrowers who are typically seeking short-term
capital to be used in an acquisition or rehabilitation of a property. The typical borrower under atransitional loan has usually identified an
undervalued asset that has been under-managed and/or islocated in arecovering market. If the market in which the asset islocated failsto improve
according to the borrower’s projections, or if the borrower failsto improve the quality of the asset’s management and/or the value of the asset, the
borrower may not receive a sufficient return on the asset to satisfy the transitional |oan, and we bear the risk that we may not recover some or all of
our investment.

In addition, borrowers usually use the proceeds of a conventional mortgage to repay atransitional loan. Transitional loans therefore are
subject to risks of aborrower’sinability to obtain permanent financing to repay the transitional |oan. Transitional loans are also subject to risks of
borrower defaults, bankruptcies, fraud, losses and special hazard losses that are not covered by standard hazard insurance. In the event of any
default under transitional loans that may be held by us, we bear the risk of loss of principal and non-payment of interest and feesto the extent of
any deficiency between the value of the mortgage collateral and the principal amount and unpaid interest of the transitional loan. To the extent we
suffer such losses with respect to these transitional loans, our net income and the value of our common stock may be adversely affected.

Risksof cost overrunsand noncompletion of renovation of the propertiesunderlying short term senior loanson propertiesin transition may
result in significant losses.

The renovation, refurbishment or expansion by a borrower under a mortgaged property involvesrisks of cost overruns and
noncompletion. Estimates of the costs of improvements to bring an acquired property up to standards established for the market position intended
for that property may prove inaccurate. Other risks may include rehabilitation costs exceeding original estimates, possibly making a project
uneconomical, environmental risks and rehabilitation and subsequent leasing of the property not being completed on schedule. If such renovation
is not completed in atimely manner, or if it costs more than expected, the borrower may experience a prolonged impairment of net operating income
and may not be able to make payments on our investment, which could result in significant losses.

Investmentsin non-investment graderated CRE loansor securitiesinvolveincreased risk of loss.

Many of our investments will not be rated or will be rated as non-investment grade by the rating agencies. The non-investment grade
ratings for these assets typically result from the overall leverage of the loans, the lack of a strong operating history for the properties underlying
the loans, the borrowers' credit history, the underlying properties’ cash flow or other factors. Asaresult, these investments should be expected to
have a higher risk of default and loss than investment grade rated assets. Any loss we incur may be significant and may reduce distributions to our
stockholders and adversely affect the market value of our common stock. There are no limits on the percentage of unrated or non-investment grade
rated assets we may hold in our investment portfolio.

TheB-Notesthat we have originated or may originate or acquirein the future may be subject to additional risksrelated to the privately
negotiated structure and terms of the transaction, which may result in lossesto us.

We have originated and may continue to originate or acquire B-Notes. A B-Note isamortgage |oan typically (a) secured by afirst
mortgage on asingle large commercial property or group of related properties and (b) subordinated to an A-Note secured by the same first
mortgage on the same collateral. Asaresult, if aborrower defaults, there may not be sufficient funds remaining for B-Note holders after payment to
the A-Note holders. Because each transaction is privately
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negotiated, B-Notes can vary in their structural characteristics and risks. For example, the rights of holders of B-Notes to control the process
following a borrower default may vary from transaction to transaction. Further, B-Notestypically are secured by a single property and accordingly
reflect the risks associated with significant concentration. Significant losses related to our B-Notes would result in operating losses for us and may
limit our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Our mezzanineloan assetsinvolve greater risksof lossthan senior loans secured by real properties.

We have originated and may continue to originate or acquire mezzanine loans, which take the form of subordinated loans secured by
second mortgages on the underlying property or loans secured by a pledge of the ownership interests of either the entity owning the property or a
pledge of the ownership interests of the entity that owns the interest in the entity owning the property. These types of assetsinvolve a higher
degree of risk than senior mortgage loans secured by real property because the loan may become unsecured as aresult of foreclosure by the senior
lender. In the event of a bankruptcy of the entity providing the pledge of its ownership interests as security, we may not have full recourse to the
assets of such entity or the assets of the entity may not be sufficient to satisfy our mezzanine loan. In addition, lenders can be subject to lender
liability claimsfor actions taken by them where they become too involved in the borrower's business or exercise control over the borrower. For
example, we could become subject to alender's liability claim, if, among other things, we actually render significant managerial assistance.

If aborrower defaults on our mezzanine loan or debt senior to our loan, or in the event of a borrower bankruptcy, our mezzanine loan will
be satisfied only after the senior debt. Asaresult, we may not recover some or al of our initial expenditure. In addition, mezzanine |loans may have
higher loan-to-value ratios than conventional mortgage loans, resulting in less equity in the property and increasing therisk of loss of principal.
Significant losses related to our mezzanine loans would result in operating losses for us and may limit our ability to make distributionsto our
stockholders.

Investmentsin preferred equity involve a greater risk of lossthan traditional debt financing.

Weinvest in and may continueto invest in real estate preferred equity, which involves a higher degree of risk than first mortgage loans
dueto avariety of factors, including the risk that, similar to mezzanine loans, such investments are subordinate to first mortgage |oans and are not
collateralized by property underlying the investment. Unlike mezzanine loans, preferred equity investments generally do not have a pledge of the
ownership interests of the entity that owns the interest in the entity owning the property. Although as a holder of preferred equity we may
enhance our position with covenants that limit the activities of the entity in which we hold an interest and protect our equity by obtaining an
exclusive right to control the underlying property after an event of default, should such a default occur on our investment, we would only be able
to proceed against the entity in which we hold an interest, and not the property owned by such entity and underlying our investment. As aresult,
we may nhot recover some or all of our investment.

Any credit ratingsassigned to our investmentswill be subject to ongoing evaluations and revisions and we cannot assur e you that those ratings
will not be downgraded.

Some of our investments, including the notes issued in our securitization transactions for which we are required to retain a portion of the
credit risk, may be rated by rating agencies such as Moody’s Investors Service, Fitch Ratings, Standard & Poor’'s, DBRS, Inc. or Realpoint LLC.
Any credit ratings on our investments are subject to ongoing evaluation by credit rating agencies, and we cannot assure you that any such ratings
will not be changed or withdrawn by arating agency in the futureif, in itsjudgment, circumstances warrant. If rating agencies assign alower-than-
expected rating or reduce or withdraw, or indicate that they may reduce or withdraw, their ratings of our investmentsin the future, the value of our
investments could significantly decline, which would adversely affect the value of our investment portfolio and could result in losses upon
disposition or the failure of borrowersto satisfy their debt service obligationsto us.

We may experienceadeclinein thefair value of our assets.

A declinein the fair market value of our assets may require usto recognize an “ other-than-temporary” impairment against such assets
under GAAP, if we were to determine that, with respect to any assetsin unrealized | 0ss positions, we do not have the ability and intent to hold
such assets to maturity or for aperiod of time sufficient to allow for recovery to the original acquisition cost of such assets. If such adetermination
were to be made, we will record an allowance to reduce the carrying value of the |oan to the present value of expected future cash flows discounted
at the loan’s contractual effective rate or the fair value of the collateral, if repayment is expected solely from the collateral. Such impairment charges
reflect non-cash losses at the time of recognition; subsequent disposition or sale of such assets could further affect our future losses or gains, as
they are based on the difference between the sale price received and adjusted amortized cost of such assets at the time of sale. If we
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experience adecline in the fair value of our assets, our results of operations, financial condition and our ability to make distributionsto our
stockholders could be materially and adversely affected.

Some of our portfolio investments may berecorded at fair value and, asaresult, therewill be uncertainty asto the value of these investments.

Some of our portfolio investments may bein the form of positions or securities that are not publicly traded. The fair value of securities
and other investments that are not publicly traded may not be readily determinable. Currently, we do not have any financial instruments recorded
at fair value on arecurring basisin our consolidated financial statements. We have not elected the fair value option for the remaining financial
instruments, including loans held for investment, the Financing Agreements and securitization debt. Such financial instruments are carried at cost.
For loans held for investment that are evaluated for impairment at |east quarterly, we estimate the fair value of the instrument, which may include
unobservable inputs. Because such valuations are subjective, the fair value of certain of our assets may fluctuate over short periods of time and
our determinations of fair value may differ materially from the values that would have been used if aready market for these securities existed. The
value of our common stock could be adversely affected if our determinations regarding the fair value of these investments were materially higher
than the values that we ultimately realize upon their disposal.

Additionally, our results of operationsfor agiven period could be adversely affected if our determinations regarding the fair value of
these investments were materially higher than the values that we ultimately realize upon their disposal.

In addition, in June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments. The standard will replace the incurred loss impairment methodol ogy pursuant to GAAP with a methodol ogy that
reflects expected credit losses and requires consideration of abroader range of reasonabl e and supportable information to inform credit loss
estimates. Under the CECL model, which will become effective for usfor fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 and for interim periods
within those fiscal years, we will be required to present certain financial assets carried at amortized cost, such asloans held for investment, at the
net amount expected to be collected. The measurement of expected credit lossesis to be based on information about past events, including
historical experience, current conditions, and reasonabl e and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the reported amount. This
measurement will take place at the time the financial asset isfirst added to the balance sheet and updated quarterly thereafter. This differsfrom the
“incurred loss” model required under current GAAP, which delays recognition until it is probable aloss has been incurred. Accordingly, the
adoption of the CECL model may affect how we determine our allowance for loan losses and could require us to increase our allowance and
recognize provisions for loan losses earlier in the lending cycle. Moreover, the CECL model may create more volatility in the level of our allowance
for loan losses. If we are required to increase our level of allowance for loan losses for any reason, such increase may affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

If weinvest in commercial mortgage-backed securities, such investments would pose additional risks, including therisks of the securitization
processand therisk that the special servicer may take actionsthat could adver sely affect our interests.

We may acquire existing commercial mortgage-backed securities (*CMBS"), including in the most subordinated classes of such
commercial mortgage-backed securities and collateralized loan obligations (“CLO"). In general, losses on a mortgaged property securing a
mortgage loan included in a securitization will be bornefirst by the equity holder of the property, then by a cash reserve fund or letter of credit, if
any, then by the holder of amezzanine loan or B-Note, if any, then by the “first loss” subordinated stockholder and then by the holder of a higher-
rated security. In the event of default and the exhaustion of any equity support, reserve fund, letter of credit, mezzanine loans or B-Notes, and any
classes of securitiesjunior to those in which we invest, we will not be able to recover al of our investment in the securities we purchase. In
addition, if the underlying mortgage portfolio has been overvalued by the originator, or if the values subsequently decline and, asaresult, less
collateral valueis available to satisfy interest and principal payments due on the related mortgage-backed securities. The prices of lower credit
quality securities are generally less sensitive to interest rate changes than more highly rated investments, but more sensitive to adverse economic
downturns or individual issuer developments. A projection of an economic downturn, for example, could cause adeclinein the price of lower credit
quality CMBS and CL Os because the ability of borrowersto make principal and interest payments on the mortgages or loans underlying such
securities may be impaired, as had occurred throughout the global financial crisis.

Subordinate interests such as CLOs and similar structured finance investments generally are not actively traded and are relatively illiquid
investments and volatility in CLO trading markets may cause the value of these investments to decline. In addition, if the underlying mortgage
portfolio has been overvalued by the originator, or if the values subsequently decline and, as aresult, less collateral valueis available to satisfy
interest and principal payments and any other feesin connection with the
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trust or other conduit arrangement for such securities, amounts that would otherwise be used to make payments on the subordinate securities will
be used to repay principal on the more senior securities to the extent necessary to satisfy any senior note overcollateralization ratio and we may
incur significant losses.

With respect to the CMBS and CLOs in which we may invest, overall control over the special servicing of the related underlying mortgage
loanswill be held by a*“directing certificateholder” or a*“controlling class representative,” which is appointed by the holders of the most
subordinated class of commercial mortgage-backed securitiesin such series. Unless we acquire the subordinate classes of existing series of CMBS
and CL Os, we will not have the right to appoint the directing certificatehol der. In connection with the servicing of the specially serviced mortgage
loans, the related special servicer may, at the direction of the directing certificatehol der, take actions with respect to the specially serviced
mortgage loans that could adversely affect our interests.

Real estate valuation isinherently subjective and uncertain.

The valuation of real estate and, therefore, the valuation of collateral underlying CRE loans made by us, isinherently subjective due to,
among other factors, theindividual nature of each property, itslocation, its expected future rental revenues and the valuation methodol ogy
adopted. The valuations of our real estate assets may not be precise and may be based on assumptions and methodol ogies that are inaccurate. Our
valuations of our collateral properties may be wrong and we may incur losses.

Wemay invest in non-performing real estate loansand participations.

During an economic downturn or recession, securities of financially troubled or operationally troubled issuers are more likely to go into
default than securities of other issuers. Securities of financially troubled issuers and operationally troubled issuers are less liquid and more volatile
than securities of companies not experiencing these difficulties. The market prices of such securities are subject to erratic and abrupt market
movements and the spread between bid and ask prices may be greater than normally expected. Investment in the securities of financially troubled
issuers and operationally troubled issuersinvolves a high degree of credit and market risk.

In certain limited cases (e.g., in connection with aworkout, restructuring and/or foreclosing proceedings involving one or more of our
debt investments), the success of our investment strategy with respect thereto will depend, in part, on our ability to effectuate |oan modifications
and/or restructures. The activity of identifying and implementing any such restructuring programs entails a high degree of uncertainty. There can
be no assurance that we will be able to successfully identify and implement such restructuring programs. Further, such modifications and/or
restructuring may entail, among other things, a substantial reduction in the interest rate and a substantial writedown of the principal of such loan,
debt securities or other interests. However, even if arestructuring were successfully accomplished, arisk exists that, upon maturity of such real
estate loan, debt securities or other interests replacement “takeout” financing will not be available.

These financial difficulties may never be overcome and may cause borrowers to become subject to bankruptcy or other similar
administrative and operating proceedings. Thereis apossibility that we may incur substantial or total losses on our investments and in certain
circumstances, become subject to certain additional potential liabilities that may exceed the value of our original investment therein. For example,
under certain circumstances, alender who has inappropriately exercised control over the management and policies of a debtor may haveits claims
subordinated or disallowed or may be found liable for damages suffered by parties as aresult of such actions. In any reorganization or liquidation
proceeding relating to our investments, we may lose our entire investment, may be required to accept cash or securities with a value less than our
original investment and/or may be required to accept payment over an extended period of time. In addition, under certain circumstances, payments
to us and distributions by us to the stockholders may be reclaimed if any such payment or distribution islater determined to have been a
fraudulent conveyance, preferential payment or similar transaction under applicable bankruptcy and insolvency laws. Furthermore, bankruptcy
laws and similar laws applicable to administrative proceedings may delay our ability to realize value on collateral for loan positions held by us or
may adversely affect the priority of such loans through doctrines such as equitabl e subordination or may result in arestructure of the debt
through principles such as the “cramdown” provisions of the bankruptcy laws.

I nsurance on mortgage loans and real estate securities collateral may not cover all losses.

There are certain types of losses, generally of a catastrophic nature, such as earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, terrorism or acts of war,
which may be uninsurable or not economically insurable. Inflation, changesin building codes and ordinances, environmental considerations and
other factors, including terrorism or acts of war, also might result in insurance proceeds insufficient to repair or replace a property if it is damaged
or destroyed. Under these circumstances, the insurance proceeds
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received with respect to a property relating one of our investments might not be adequate to restore our economic position with respect to our
investment. Any uninsured loss could result in the loss of cash flow from, and the asset value of, the affected property and the value of our
investment related to such property.

Liability relating to environmental matters may impact the value of propertiesthat we may acquire upon for eclosur e of the properties underlying
our investments.

To the extent we forecl ose on properties with respect to which we have extended mortgage | oans, we may be subject to environmental
liabilities arising from such foreclosed properties. Under various U.S. federal, state and local laws, an owner or operator of real property may
become liable for the costs of removal of certain hazardous substances rel eased on its property. These laws often impose liability without regard to
whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the release of such hazardous substances.

The presence of hazardous substances may adversely affect an owner’s ability to sell real estate or borrow using real estate as collateral.
To the extent that an owner of a property underlying one of our debt investments becomes liable for removal costs, the ability of the owner to make
payments to us may be reduced, which in turn may adversely affect the value of the relevant mortgage asset held by us and our ability to make
distributions to our stockholders.

If we foreclose on any properties underlying our investments, the presence of hazardous substances on a property may adversely affect
our ability to sell the property and we may incur substantial remediation costs, thus harming our financial condition. The discovery of material
environmental liabilities attached to such properties could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition and
our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

The propertiesunderlying our CRE loans may be subject to other unknown liabilitiesthat could adver sely affect the value of these properties,
and asaresult, our investments.

Properties underlying our CRE loans may be subject to other unknown or unquantifiable liabilities that may adversely affect the value of
our investments. Such defects or deficiencies may include title defects, title disputes, liens or other encumbrances on the mortgaged properties.
The discovery of such unknown defects, deficiencies and liabilities could affect the ability of our borrowers to make paymentsto us or could affect
our ability to foreclose and sell the underlying properties, which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. Further,
we, our executive officers, directors and our Manager may, in the ordinary course of business, be named as defendantsin litigation arising from our
investments.

Construction loansinvolve an increased risk of loss.

Weinvest in and may continue to invest in construction loans. If wefail to fund our entire commitment on a construction loan or if a
borrower otherwise fails to complete the construction of a project, there could be adverse consequences associated with the loan, including, but
not limited to: aloss of the value of the property securing the loan, especially if the borrower is unable to raise funds to complete it from other
sources; aborrower claim against us for failure to perform under the loan documents; increased costs to the borrower that the borrower is unable
to pay; abankruptcy filing by the borrower; and abandonment by the borrower of the collateral for the loan.

Our investmentsin construction loans require usto make estimates about the fair value of land improvementsthat may be challenged by the
IRS.

We may invest in construction loans, the interest from which would be qualifying income for purposes of the grossincome tests
applicable to REITs, provided that the loan value of the real property securing the construction loan was equal to or greater than the highest
outstanding principal amount of the construction loan during any taxable year. For purposes of construction loans, the |loan value of thereal
property isgenerally the fair value of the land plus the reasonably estimated cost of the improvements or developments (other than personal
property) that secure the loan and that are to be constructed from the proceeds of the loan. There can be no assurance that the IRS would not
challenge our estimates of the loan val ues of thereal property.

Our investments may be concentrated and could be subject torisk of default.

We are not required to observe specific diversification criteria, except as may be set forth in the investment guidelines adopted by our
board of directors. Therefore, our investmentsin our target assets may at times be concentrated in certain property types that are subject to higher
risk of foreclosure, or secured by properties concentrated in alimited number of geographic locations. To the extent that our investment portfoliois
concentrated in any one region, sponsor or type of asset,
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economic and business downturns relating generally to such region, sponsor or type of asset may result in defaults on a number of our
investments within a short time period, which may reduce our net income and the value of our common stock and accordingly reduce our ability to
pay dividends to our stockholders.

We may need to foreclose on loansthat arein default, which could result in losses.

We may find it necessary to foreclose on loans that arein default. Foreclosure processes are often lengthy and expensive. Results of
foreclosure processes may be uncertain, as claims may be asserted by borrowers or by other lenders or investorsin the borrowers that interfere
with enforcement of our rights, such as claimsthat challenge the validity or enforceability of our loan or the priority or perfection of our mortgage
or other security interests. Borrowers may resist foreclosure actions by asserting numerous claims, counterclaims and defenses against us,
including, without limitation, lender liability claims and defenses, even when the assertions may have no merit, in an effort to prolong the
foreclosure action and seek to force usinto amodification of the loan or a buy-out of the loan for |ess than we are owed. At any time prior to or
during the foreclosure proceedings, the borrower may file for bankruptcy, which would have the effect of staying the foreclosure actions and
delaying the foreclosure processes and potentially result in reductions or discharges of borrower's debt. Foreclosure may create a negative public
perception of the collateral property, resulting in adiminution of itsvalue. Even if we are successful in foreclosing on a mortgage loan, the
liguidation proceeds upon sale of the underlying real estate may not be sufficient to recover our investment. Any costs or delaysinvolved in the
foreclosure of the loan or aliquidation of the underlying property will reduce the net proceeds realized and, thus, increase the potential for loss.

RISKSRELATED TO OUR COMMON STOCK
Themarket price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly.

Our common stock islisted on the New Y ork Stock Exchange (“NY SE”) under the trading symbol “ACRE.” Recently, the global capital
and credit markets have been in an extended period of volatility and disruption. The market price and liquidity of the market for shares of our
common stock may be significantly affected by numerous factors, some of which are beyond our control and may not be directly related to our

operating performance.

Some of the factorsthat could negatively affect the market price of our common stock include:

. our actual or projected operating results, financial condition, cash flows and liquidity, or changes in business strategy or
prospects;

. actual or perceived conflicts of interest with our Manager or Ares Management and individuals, including our executives;

. equity issuances by us, or share resales by our stockholders, or the perception that such issuances or resales may occur;

. loss of amajor funding source;

. actual or anticipated accounting problems;

. publication of research reports about us or the real estate industry;

. changes in market valuations of similar companies;

. adverse market reaction to any increased indebtedness we incur in the future;

. additions to or departures of our Manager’s or Ares Management’s key personnel;

. speculation in the press or investment community;

. increasesin market interest rates and widening of market credit spreads, which may lead investors to demand a higher

distribution yield for our common stock and would result in increased interest expenses on our debt;

. failure to maintain our REIT qudlification or exemption from the 1940 Act;
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. price and volume fluctuationsin the overall stock market from timeto time;

. general market and economic conditions, and trends including inflationary concerns, the current state of the credit and capital
markets;
. significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of securities of publicly traded REI Ts or other companiesin our

sector, which are not necessarily related to the operating performance of these companies;

. changesin law, regulatory policies or tax guidelines, or interpretations thereof, particularly with respect to REITSs;

. changesin the value of our portfolio;

. any shortfall in revenue or net income or any increase in losses from level s expected by investors or securities analysts;
. operating performance of companies comparable to us;

. short-selling pressure with respect to shares of our common stock or REITs generally;

. uncertainty surrounding the continued strength of the U.S. economy; and

. concernsregarding volatility in the U.S. and global financial markets.

As noted above, market factors unrelated to our performance could also negatively impact the market price of our common stock. One of
the factors that investors may consider in deciding whether to buy or sell our common stock is our distribution rate as a percentage of our stock
pricerelative to market interest rates. If market interest ratesincrease, prospective investors may demand a higher distribution rate or seek
alternative investments paying higher dividends or interest. As aresult, interest rate fluctuations and conditions in the capital markets can affect
the market value of our common stock. For instance, if interest ratesrise, it islikely that the market price of our common stock will decrease as
market rates on interest-bearing securitiesincrease.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market prices of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been
brought against that company. If our stock price fluctuates significantly, we may be the target of securitieslitigation in the future. Securities
litigation could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention and resources from our business.

Common stock eligiblefor future sale may have adver se effectson our shareprice.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, we had 28,755,665 and 28,598,916 shares of common stock outstanding, respectively, on afully diluted
basis.

We cannot predict the effect, if any, of future sales of our common stock, or the availability of shares for future sales, on the market price
of our common stock. Sales of substantial amounts of common stock or the perception that such sales could occur may adversely affect the
prevailing market price for our common stock.

We may issue additional restricted common stock and other equity-based awards under our Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive
Plan. We may continue to issue additional sharesin subsequent public offerings or private placements to make new investments or for other
purposes. We are not required to offer any such sharesto existing stockholders on a preemptive basis. Therefore, it may not be possible for
existing stockholders to participate in such future share issuances, which may dilute the existing stockholders’ interestsin us.

We have not established a minimum distribution payment level and we may be unable to gener ate sufficient cash flows from our operationsto
make distributionsto our stockholdersat any timein the future.

We are generally required to annually distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (which does not equal net
income, as calculated in accordance with GAAP), determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains,
for usto qualify asa REIT, which requirement we currently intend to satisfy through quarterly distributions of all or substantially all of our REIT
taxable incomein such year, subject to certain adjustments. We

34



have not established a minimum distribution payment level and our ability to pay distributions may be adversely affected by a number of factors,
including the risk factors described in thisannual report. All distributions will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend
on our earnings, our financial condition, debt covenants, maintenance of our REIT qualification and other factors as our board of directors may
deem relevant from time to time. We believe that a change in any one of the following factors could adversely affect our results of operations and
impair our ability to pay distributionsto our stockholders:

. our ability to make profitable investments;

. margin calls or other expenses that reduce our cash flow;

. defaultsin our asset portfolio or decreases in the value of our portfolio; and

. the fact that anticipated operating expense levels may not prove accurate, as actual results may vary from estimates.

Asaresult, no assurance can be given that we will be able to make distributions to our stockholders at any time in the future or that the
level of any distributions we do make to our stockholders will achieve a market yield or increase or even be maintained over time, any of which
could materially and adversely affect us.

In addition, distributions that we make to our stockholders out of current or accumulated earnings and profits (as determined for U.S.
federal income tax purposes), and not designated by us as capital gain dividends or qualified dividend income, generally will be taxable to our
stockholders as ordinary income. However, aportion of our distributions may be designated by us as capital gain dividends and generally will be
taxable to our stockholders as long-term capital gain to the extent that such distributions do not exceed our actual net capital gain for the taxable
year, without regard to the period for which the stockholder that receives such distribution has held its stock. Distributions in excess of our current
and accumul ated earnings and profits, as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and not designated by us as capital gain dividends or
qualified dividend income, may constitute areturn of capital. A return of capital is not taxable, but has the effect of reducing the basis of a
stockholder’sinvestment in our common stock, but not below zero.

Our distributions may exceed our cash flow from our operationsand our net income.

We intend to make regular quarterly distributions to holders of our common stock. The regular quarterly cash distributions we pay are
expected to be principally sourced by cash flow from operating activities. However, there can be no assurance that our net income or cash flow
from operating activities will be sufficient to cover our future distributions, and we may use other sources of funds, such as from offering
proceeds, borrowings and asset sales, to fund portions of our future distributions. Our distributions for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017 did not exceed our cash flow from operating activities but our distributions did exceed our net income for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Our distributions for the year ended December 31, 2016 did not exceed our cash flow from operating activities (excluding amounts related to
discontinued operations) or net income.

Investing in our common stock may involve a high degree of risk.

The investments that we make in accordance with our investment objectives may result in a high amount of risk when compared to
aternative investment options and volatility or loss of principal. Our investments may be highly speculative and aggressive, and therefore an
investment in our common stock may not be suitable for someone with lower risk tolerance.

Future offerings of securities may adver sely affect the market price of our common stock.

If we decide to issue securities that are senior to, convertibleinto or exchangeable for our common stock, such securities may have rights,
preferences and privileges more favorabl e than those of our common stock and may result in dilution to holders of our common stock. We and,
indirectly, our stockholders, will bear the cost of issuing and servicing such securities. Because our decision to issue such securitiesin any future
offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our
future offerings. Thus holders of our common stock will bear the risk of our future offerings reducing the market price of our common stock and
diluting the value of their stock holdingsin us.
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RISKSRELATED TO OUR ORGANIZATION AND STRUCTURE

TheMaryland General Corporation Law, or the“MGCL,” prohibits certain business combinations, which may make it more difficult for usto be
acquired.

Under the MGCL, “business combinations” between a Maryland corporation and an “interested stockholder” or an affiliate of an
interested stockholder are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested
stockholder. These business combinations include a merger, consolidation, share exchange or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset
transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities. An interested stockholder is defined as: (a) any person who beneficially owns, directly
or indirectly, 10% or more of the voting power of the then-outstanding voting stock of the corporation; or (b) an affiliate or associate of the
corporation who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 10% or
more of the voting power of the then-outstanding stock of the corporation.

A person isnot an interested stockholder under the statute if the board of directors approved in advance the transaction by which the
person otherwise would have become an interested stockholder. However, in approving atransaction, the board of directors may provide that its
approval is subject to compliance, at or after the time of approval, with any terms and conditions determined by the board of directors.

After the expiration of the five-year period described above, any business combination between the Maryland corporation and an
interested stockholder must generally be recommended by the board of directors of the corporation and approved by the affirmative vote of at
least:

. 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of the then-outstanding shares of voting stock of the corporation; and

. two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation, other than shares held by the interested
stockholder with whom or with whose affiliate the business combination isto be effected, or held by an affiliate or associate of
the interested stockholder.

These supermajority vote requirements do not apply if the corporation’s common stockholders receive a minimum price, as defined under
the MGCL, for their sharesin the form of cash or other consideration in the same form as previously paid by the interested stockholder for its
shares. The MGCL also permits various exemptions from these provisions, including business combinations that are exempted by the board of
directors before the time that the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. Pursuant to the statute, our board of directors has
adopted aresolution exempting any business combination with Ares Investments or any of its affiliates. Consequently, the five-year prohibition
and the supermajority vote requirements will not apply to business combinations between us and Ares Investments or any of its affiliates. Asa
result, Ares Investments or any of its affiliates may be able to enter into business combinations with us that may not be in the best interest of our
stockholders, without compliance with the supermajority vote requirements and the other provisions of the statute. The business combination
statute may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and increase the difficulty of consummating any offer.

Stockholder s have limited control over changesin our policies and operations.
Our board of directors determines our major policies, including with regard to financing, growth, debt capitalization, REIT qualification

and distributions. Our board of directors may amend or revise these and other policies without avote of the stockholders. Under our charter and
the MGCL, our stockholders generally have aright to vote only on the following matters:

J the election or removal of directors;

. the amendment of our charter, except that our board of directors may amend our charter without stockholder approval to:

. change our name;

. change the name or other designation or the par value of any class or series of stock and the aggregate par value of our stock;
. increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of stock that we have the authority to issue;
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. increase or decrease the number of shares of any class or series of stock that we have the authority to issue; and

. effect certain reverse stock splits;

. our dissolution; and

. our being a party to amerger, consolidation, conversion, sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of our assets or
statutory share exchange.

All other matters are subject to the discretion of our board of directors.
Our authorized but unissued shares of common and preferred stock may prevent a changein control.

Our charter authorizes usto issue up to 450,000,000 shares of common stock and 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock without stockhol der
approval. In addition, our board of directors may, without stockholder approval, amend our charter from time to time to increase or decrease the
aggregate number of shares of our stock or the number of shares of stock of any class or seriesthat we have authority to issue and classify or
reclassify any unissued shares of common or preferred stock into other classes or series of stock and set the preferences, rights and other terms of
the classified or reclassified shares. As aresult, our board of directors may establish aclass or series of shares of common or preferred stock that
could delay or prevent amerger, third party tender offer or similar transaction or a change in incumbent management that might involve a premium
price for shares of our common stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders.

Maintenance of our exemption from registration under the 1940 Act imposes significant limitson our operations. Your investment return may
bereduced if wearerequired to register asan investment company under the 1940 Act.

We conduct our operations so that neither we nor any of our subsidiaries are required to register as an investment company under the
1940 Act. In order to maintain our exemption from registration under the 1940 Act, the assets in our portfolio are subject to certain restrictions that
meaningfully limit our operations.

In relevant part, Section 3(a)(1)(A) of the 1940 Act defines an investment company as any issuer that isor holdsitself out as being
engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities. Section 3(a)(1)(C) of the 1940
Act defines an investment company as any issuer that is engaged or proposes to engage in the business of investing, reinvesting, owning,
holding or trading in securities and owns or proposes to acquire investment securities having a value exceeding 40% of the value of theissuer's
total assets (exclusive of U.S. Government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis, or the “40% test.” Theterm “investment
securities” generally includes all securities except U.S. Government securities and securities of majority-owned subsidiaries that are not themselves
investment companies and are not relying on the exemption from the definition of “investment company” under Sections 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) of the
1940 Act.

We are organized as a holding company that conducts its businesses primarily through wholly-owned and other majority-owned
subsidiaries. We conduct our operationsin amanner designed so that we do not come within the definition of an investment company because
less than 40% of the value of our adjusted total assets on an unconsolidated basis consist of “investment securities.” As such, the securities
issued by our wholly-owned or other majority-owned subsidiaries that are exempted from the definition of “investment company” based on
Section 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) of the 1940 Act, together with any other investment securities we may own, may not have avalue in excess of 40% of the
value of our adjusted total assets on an unconsolidated basis. This requirement limits the types of businesses in which we may engage through
such subsidiaries. In addition, the assets we and our subsidiaries may originate or acquire are limited by the provisions of the 1940 Act and the
rules and regulations promulgated under the 1940 Act, which may adversely affect our business. We monitor our holdings to ensure continuing
and ongoing compliance with thistest. In addition, we believe we are not considered an investment company under Section 3(a)(1)(A) of the 1940
Act because we do not engage primarily or hold ourselves out as being engaged primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in
securities. Rather, through our wholly-owned and other majority-owned subsidiaries, we are primarily engaged in the non-investment company
businesses of these subsidiaries.

We determine whether an entity is one of our majority-owned subsidiaries. The 1940 Act defines a majority-owned subsidiary of a person
as acompany 50% or more of the outstanding voting securities of which are owned by such person, or by another company that is a majority-
owned subsidiary of such person. The 1940 Act further defines voting securities as any security presently entitling the owner or holder thereof to
vote for the election of directors of acompany. Wetreat entitiesin
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which we own at least a mgjority of the outstanding voting securities as majority-owned subsidiaries for purposes of the 40% test. We have not
requested the SEC to approve our treatment of any entity as a majority-owned subsidiary and the SEC has not done so. If the SEC were to disagree
with our treatment of one or more subsidiary entities as majority-owned subsidiaries, we would need to adjust our strategy and our assets in order
to continue to pass the 40% test. Any such adjustment in our strategy could have amaterial adverse effect on us.

In addition, we and our subsidiaries may rely upon the exemption from registration as an investment company pursuant to Section 3(c)(5)
(C) of the 1940 Act, which is available for entities “ primarily engaged” in the business of “purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other
lienson and interestsin real estate.” Asreflected in no-action letters, the SEC staff's position on Section 3(c)(5)(C) generally requiresthat at |east
55% of an entity’s assets comprise qualifying real estate assets and that at |east 80% of its assets must comprise qualifying real estate assets and
real estate-related assets under the 1940 Act. Specifically, we expect each of our subsidiaries relying on Section 3(c)(5)(C) to invest at least 55% of
its assets in mortgage loans, certain mezzanine loans and B-Notes and other interestsin real estate that constitute qualifying real estate assetsin
accordance with SEC staff guidance, and approximately an additional 25% of its assets in other types of mortgages, securities of REITs and other
real estate-related assets such as debt and equity securities of companies primarily engaged in real estate businesses and securities issued by
pass-through entities of which substantially all of the assets consist of qualifying real estate assets and/or real estate-related assets.

We expect each of our subsidiaries relying on Section 3(c)(5)(C) to rely on guidance published by the SEC staff or on our analyses of
guidance published with respect to other types of assets to determine which assets are qualifying real estate assets and real estate-related assets.
However, the SEC' s guidance was issued in accordance with factual situationsthat may be substantially different from the factual situationswe
may encounter. No assurance can be given that the SEC will concur with how we classify the assets of our subsidiaries.

The SEC staff, according to published guidance, takes the view that certain mezzanine loans and B-Notes are qualifying real estate assets.
Thus, weintend to treat certain mezzanine loans and B-Notes as qualifying real estate assets. The SEC has not published guidance with respect to
the treatment of some of our other current and target assets, including commercial mortgage-backed securities, for purposes of the Section 3(c)(5)
(C) exemption. For assets for which the SEC has not published guidance, we intend to rely on our own analysis. For example, unless we receive
further guidance from the SEC or its staff with respect to CMBS or CLOs, weintend to treat CMBS or CLOsin which we hold 100% of the
“controlling class” of securities as qualifying real estate assets, and our other holdingsin CMBS or CLOs asreal estate-related assets. We a so
intend to treat debt and equity securities of companies primarily engaged in real estate businesses as real estate-related assets. The SEC may in the
future take aview different than or contrary to our analysis with respect to the types of assets we have determined to be qualifying real estate
assets or real estate-related assets. To the extent that the SEC staff publishes new or different guidance with respect to these matters, we may be
required to adjust our strategy accordingly. If we are required to re-classify our assets, we may no longer be in compliance with the exclusion from
the definition of an “investment company” provided by Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the 1940 Act.

Certain of our subsidiaries may rely on the exemption provided by Section 3(c)(6) to the extent that they hold mortgage assets through
majority-owned subsidiaries that rely on the exemption provided by Section 3(c)(5)(C). The SEC staff has issued little interpretive guidance with
respect to Section 3(c)(6) and any guidance published by the SEC staff could require usto adjust our strategy accordingly.

On August 31, 2011, the SEC issued a concept release titled “ Companies Engaged in the Business of Acquiring Mortgages and
Mortgage-Related Instruments” (SEC Release No. |C-29778). Under the concept release, the SEC stated that it was reviewing interpretive issues
relating to Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the 1940 Act, including the nature of the assets that qualify for purposes of the exemption and whether mortgage
REITs should be regulated in a manner similar to investment companies, and solicited public comment. To the extent that the SEC or its staff
provides more specific guidance regarding any of the matters bearing upon the definition of investment company and the exemptions to that
definition, we may be required to adjust our strategy accordingly. Although any additional guidance from the SEC or its staff could provide
additional flexibility to us, it also could further inhibit our ability to pursue the strategies we have chosen. There can be no assurance that the laws
and regulations governing the 1940 Act status of REITS, including the SEC or its staff providing more specific or different guidance regarding
these exemptions, will not change in amanner that adversely affects our operations.

Although we monitor our portfolio periodically and prior to each investment origination or acquisition, there can be no assurance that we
will be able to maintain our exemptive status. If the value of securitiesissued by our subsidiaries that are exempted from the definition of
“investment company” by Sections 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) of the 1940 Act, together with any other investment securities we own, exceeds 40% of our
adjusted total assets on an unconsolidated basis, or if one or more of such subsidiariesfail to maintain an exemption from registration under the
1940 Act, we could, among other things, be required to
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(a) substantially change the manner in which we conduct our operations to avoid being required to register as an investment company, (b) effect
sales of our assetsin amanner that, or at atime when, we would not otherwise choose to do so, or (c) register as an investment company, any of
which could negatively affect the value of our common stock, the sustainability of our business model, and our ability to make distributions which
could have an adverse effect on our business and the market price for our shares of common stock.

To maintain our exemptive status, we may be unable to sell assets we would otherwise want to sell and may need to sell assets we would
otherwise wish to retain. In addition, we may have to acquire additional assets that we might not otherwise have acquired or may have to forego
opportunities to acquire assets that we would otherwise want to acquire and would be important to our investment strategy. If we were to lose our
exemptive status and were required to register as an investment company but failed to do so, we would be prohibited from engaging in our
business, and criminal and civil actions could be brought against us. In addition, our contracts would be unenforceable unless a court required
enforcement, and a court could appoint areceiver to take control of usand liquidate our business. Alternatively, if we wereto register asan
investment company under the 1940 Act, we would become subject to substantial regulation with respect to our capital structure (including our
ability to use borrowings), management, operations, transactions with affiliated persons (as defined in the 1940 Act), and portfolio composition,
including disclosure requirements and restrictions with respect to diversification and industry concentration, and other matters. Compliance with
the 1940 Act would, accordingly, limit our ability to make certain investments and require us to significantly restructure our business model. This
could have amaterial adverse effect on our net asset value, the market price for our shares of common stock and our ability to pay distributions to
our stockholders.

Rapid and steep declinesin the values of our real estate-related investments may make it more difficult for usto maintain our qualification asa
REIT or exemption from the 1940 Act.

If the market value or income potential of real estate-related investments declines as aresult of increased interest rates or other factors, we
may need to increase our real estate investments and income and/or liquidate our non-qualifying assetsin order to maintain our REIT qualification
or exemption from the 1940 Act. If the declinein real estate asset values and/or income occurs quickly, this may be especially difficult to
accomplish. This difficulty may be exacerbated by theilliquid nature of any non-qualifying assets that we may own. We may have to make
investment decisions that we otherwise would not make absent the REIT and 1940 Act considerations.

Our rightsand therightsof our stockholdersto recover on claimsagainst our directorsand officersarelimited, which could reduce our
stockholdersand our recovery against them if they negligently cause ustoincur losses.

The MGCL providesthat adirector has no liability in such capacity if he performs his dutiesin good faith, in amanner he reasonably
believesto bein our best interests and with the care that an ordinarily prudent person in alike position would use under similar circumstances. A
director who performs his or her dutiesin accordance with the foregoing standards should not be liable to us or any other person for failure to
discharge his or her obligations as a director.

In addition, our charter provides that our directors and officers will not be liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages unless
the director or officer actually received an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services, or is adjudged to be liable to us or our
stockholders based on afinding that his or her action, or failure to act, was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty and was material to the
cause of action adjudicated in the proceeding. Our bylaws require us, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, to indemnify and, without
requiring apreliminary determination of the ultimate entitlement to indemnification, pay or reimburse reasonable expenses in advance of final
disposition of aproceeding to any individual who is apresent or former director or officer and who is made or threatened to be made a party to the
proceeding by reason of hisor her service in that capacity or any individual who, while adirector or officer and at our request, serves or has
served as adirector, officer, partner, trustee, member or manager of another corporation, REIT, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture,
trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise and who is made or threatened to be made a party to the proceeding by reason of hisor her service
in that capacity. With the approval of our board of directors, we may provide such indemnification and advance for expensesto any individual
who served a predecessor of oursin any of the capacities described above and any employee or agent of ours or a predecessor of ours, including
our Manager and its affiliates.

We also are permitted to purchase and maintain insurance or provide similar protection on behalf of any directors, officers, employeesand

agents, including our Manager and its affiliates, against any liability asserted which was incurred in any such capacity with us or arising out of
such status. This may result in us having to expend significant funds, which will reduce the available cash for distribution to our stockholders.
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Our charter contains provisionsthat make removal of our directorsdifficult, which could makeit difficult for our stockholdersto effect changes
to our management.

Our charter provides that a director may only be removed for cause upon the affirmative vote of stockholders entitled to cast two-thirds of
the votes entitled to be cast generally in the election of directors. Vacancies may be filled only by amajority of the remaining directorsin office,
even if less than aquorum, and any director elected to fill avacancy will hold office for the remainder of the full term of the class of directorsin
which the vacancy occurred and until a successor is elected and qualifies. These requirements make it more difficult to change our management by
removing and replacing directors and may prevent achangein control that isin the best interests of our stockholders. Pursuant to our charter, our
board of directorsisdivided into three classes of directors serving staggered three year terms. The staggered terms of our directors may reduce the
possibility of atender offer or an attempt at a change in control, even though atender offer or change in control might be in the best interest of our
stockholders.

Owner ship limitations may restrict change of control or business combination opportunitiesin which our stockholders might receivea
premium for their shares.

In order for usto maintain our qualification asa REIT, commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2012, no more than 50% in
value of our outstanding capital stock may be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals during the last half of each taxable year
after 2012. “Individuals’ for this purpose include natural persons, private foundations, some employee benefit plans and trusts, and some
charitable trusts. To preserve our REIT qualification, among other purposes, our charter generally prohibits any person (except Ares Investments
which is subject to a 22% excepted holder limit) from directly or indirectly owning more than 9.8% in value of the outstanding shares of our capital
stock or more than 9.8% in value or in number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of the outstanding shares of any class or series of our stock.
This ownership limitation could have the effect of discouraging atakeover or other transaction in which holders of our common stock might
receive apremium for their shares over the then-prevailing market price or which holders might believe to be otherwise in their best interests.

U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX RISKS

Our failuretoremain qualified asa REIT would subject usto U.S. federal incometax and potentially state and local tax, and would adver sely
affect our operationsand the market price of our common stock.

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2012. However, we may terminate our REIT
election if our board of directors determines that not qualifying asaREIT isin the best interests of our stockholders. We may also inadvertently
terminate our REIT election, as our qualification asaREIT depends upon our satisfaction of certain asset, income, organizational, distribution,
stockholder ownership and other requirements on a continuing basis. We have structured and intend to continue structuring our activitiesin a
manner designed to satisfy all the requirements for qualification asa REIT and believe that we have qualified as a REIT since the year of our initial
election. The REIT qualification requirements are extremely complex and interpretation of the U.S. federal income tax laws governing qualification
asaREIT islimited. Accordingly, we cannot be certain that we will be successful in operating so we can remain qualified asaREIT. Our ability to
satisfy the asset tests depends on our analysis of the characterization and fair market values of our assets, some of which are not susceptibleto a
precise determination, and for which we will not obtain independent appraisals. Our compliance with the REIT income or quarterly asset
reguirements also depends on our ability to successfully manage the composition of our income and assets on an ongoing basis. Accordingly, if
certain of our operations were to be re-characterized by the IRS such re-characterization could jeopardize our ability to satisfy al the requirements
for qualification asa REIT. Furthermore, future legidlative, judicia or administrative changesto the U.S. federal income tax laws could be applied
retroactively, which could result in our disqualification asaREIT.

If wefail to maintain our qualification asa REIT for any taxable year, and we do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions, we will
be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income at the corporate tax rate. |n addition, we would generally be disqualified from treatment
asaREIT for the four taxable years following the year of losing our REIT qualification. Losing our REIT qualification would reduce our net
earnings available for investment or distribution to stockholders because of the additional tax liability. In addition, distributions to stockholders
would no longer qualify for the dividends paid deduction, and we would no longer be required to make distributions. If this occurs, we might be
required to borrow funds or liquidate some investments in order to pay the applicable tax.

Furthermore, any REIT inwhich we invest directly or indirectly, including the REIT through which we own our interest in the CLO
Securitization, ACRE 2017-FL3 Holder REIT LLC, isindependently subject to, and must comply with, the same REIT requirements that we must
satisfy in order to qualify asaREIT, together with all other rules applicableto REITSs. If
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the subsidiary REIT failsto qualify asaREIT and certain statutory relief provisions do not apply, then (a) the subsidiary REIT would become
subject to U.S. federal incometax, (b) the subsidiary REIT will be disqualified from treatment asa REIT for the four taxable years following the year
during which qualification was lost, (c) our investment in the subsidiary REIT could cease to be aqualifying asset for purposes of the asset tests
applicable to REITs and any dividend income or gains derived by us from such subsidiary REIT may cease to be treated as income that qualifies
for purposes of the 75% grossincometest, and (d) we may fail certain of the asset or income tests applicable to REITs, in which event we will fail
to qualify asaREIT unless we are able to avail ourselves of certain statutory relief provisions.

REITs, in certain circumstances, may incur tax liabilitiesthat would reduce the cash availablefor distribution to our stockholders.

Even if we maintain our status asa REIT, we may be subject to U.S. federal income taxes and related state and local taxes. For example, net
income from the sale of propertiesthat are considered inventory or property held primarily for sale to customers by a REIT in the ordinary course
of itstrade or business (a“ prohibited transaction” under the Code) will be subject to a 100% tax. Also, if wewereto fail an income test (and did not
lose our REIT status because such failure was due to reasonabl e cause and not willful neglect) we would be subject to tax on the portion of our
income that does not meet the income test requirements. We also may decide to retain net capital gains we earn from the sale or other disposition
of our property and pay U.S. federal income tax directly on such income. In that event, our stockholders would be treated as if they earned that
income and paid the tax on it directly. However, stockholdersthat are tax-exempt, such as charities or qualified pension plans, would have no
benefit from their deemed payment of such tax liability unlessthey file U.S. federal income tax returns and thereon seek arefund of such tax. We
also will be subject to corporate tax on any undistributed REIT taxable income. We also may be subject to state and local taxes on our income or
property, including franchise, payroll, mortgage recording and transfer taxes, either directly or at the level of the other companies through which
we indirectly own our assets, such as our TRSs, which are subject to full U.S. federal, state, and local corporate-level income taxes. Finally, we may
incur an excise tax applicable to REITsif we fail to make sufficient distributions to our stockholders during the course of ataxable year, along with
any distributions declared in the fourth quarter of ayear and paid in January of the following year. Any taxes we pay directly or indirectly will
reduce our cash available for distribution to stockholders.

To qualify asa REIT, we must meet annual distribution requirements, which may for ce usto forgo otherwise attr active opportunities or borrow
funds during unfavorable market conditions. Thiscould delay or hinder our ability to meet our investment objectivesand reduce your overall
return.

In order to maintain our status as a REIT, we must annually distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (which
does not equal net income, as calculated in accordance with GAAP), determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding
net capital gain. We will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our undistributed REIT taxable income and net capital gain at corporate rates and
to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on any amount by which distributions we pay with respect to any calendar year are less than the sum of (a) 85%
of our ordinary income, (b) 95% of our capital gain net income and (c) 100% of our undistributed income from prior years. These requirements
could inhibit our ability to finance our growth and cause us to distribute amounts that otherwise would be spent on investmentsin real estate
assetsand it is possible that we might be required to borrow funds, possibly at unfavorablerates, or sell assets to fund these distributions.
Although we intend to make distributions sufficient to meet the annual distribution requirements and to avoid U.S. federal income and excise taxes
on our earnings whilewe qualify asaREIT, it is possible that we might not always be able to do so.

Certain of our business activities are potentially subject to the prohibited transaction tax, which could reducethereturn on your investment.

For so long aswe qualify asa REIT, our ability to dispose of property during the first few years following acquisition may be restricted to
asubstantial extent asaresult of our REIT qualification. Under applicable provisions of the Code regarding prohibited transactions by REITS, we
will be subject to a 100% penalty tax on any gain recognized on the sale or other disposition of any property (other than foreclosure property) that
we own, directly or through any subsidiary entity, but generally excluding TRSs, that is deemed to be inventory or property held primarily for sale
to customersin the ordinary course of atrade or business. Whether property isinventory or otherwise held primarily for sale to customersin the
ordinary course of atrade or business depends on the particular facts and circumstances surrounding each property. While we qualify asaREIT,
we will seek to avoid the 100% prohibited transaction tax by (a) conducting activities that may otherwise be considered prohibited transactions
through a TRS (such TRS will incur income tax at corporate tax rates with respect to any income or gain recognized by it), (b) conducting our
operationsin such amanner so that no sale or other disposition of an asset we own, directly or through any subsidiary (other than a TRS), will be
treated as a prohibited transaction, or (c) structuring certain dispositions of our propertiesto comply with a prohibited transaction safe harbor
available under the Code for properties that have been held for at least two years. However, no assurance can be given that any particular property
we own, directly or
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through any subsidiary entity, but generally excluding TRSs, will not be treated as inventory or property held primarily for sale to customersin the
ordinary course of atrade or business.

Thetax on prohibited transactionswill limit our ability to engagein transactions, including certain methods of securitizing mortgage loansthat
would betreated assalesfor U.S. federal incometax purposes.

A REIT’s net income from prohibited transactionsis subject to a 100% tax. In general, prohibited transactions are sales or other
dispositions of property, other than foreclosure property, but including mortgage loans, held as inventory or primarily for sale to customersin the
ordinary course of business. We might be subject to thistax if we were to sell or securitize loansin a manner that was treated as a sale of the loans
asinventory for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Therefore, in order to avoid the prohibited transactions tax, we may choose not to engage in
certain sales of loans, other than through a TRS, and we may be required to limit the structures we use for our securitization transactions, even
though such sales or structures might otherwise be beneficial for us.

TRSsare subject to corporate-level taxes and dealingswith TRSs may be subject to 100% excisetax.

A REIT may own up to 100% of the stock of one or more TRS. Both the subsidiary and the REIT must jointly elect to treat the subsidiary
asaTRS. A corporation of which a TRS directly or indirectly owns more than 35% of the voting power or value of the stock will automatically be
treated asa TRS. Overall, no more than 20% (25% for our taxable years beginning prior to January 1, 2018) of the gross value of aREIT’s assets
may consist of stock or securities of one or more TRSs, and the aggregate val ue of debt instruments issued by public REITs held by usthat are not
otherwise secured by real property may not exceed 25% of the value of our total assets. In addition, the TRS rules limit the deductibility of interest
paid or accrued by a TRSto its parent REIT to assure that the TRSis subject to an appropriate level of corporate taxation. The rules also impose a
100% excise tax on certain transactions between a TRS and its parent REIT that are not conducted on an arm'’ s-length basis.

ACRCW TRS, FL3 TRS and other TRSs that we may form will pay U.S. federd, state and |ocal income tax on their taxable income, and
their after-tax net income will be available for distribution to us but will not be required to be distributed to us, unless necessary to maintain our
REIT qualification. While we will be monitoring the aggregate value of the securities of our TRSs and intend to conduct our affairs so that such
securitieswill represent less than 20% of the value of our total assets, there can be no assurance that we will be able to comply with the TRS
limitation in al market conditions.

Our investmentsin certain debt instruments may cause usto recognize incomefor U.S. federal incometax purposes even though no cash
payments have been received on the debt instruments, and certain modifications of such debt by us could cause the modified debt to not qualify as
agood REIT asset, thereby jeopardizing our REIT qualification.

Our taxable income may substantially exceed our net income as determined based on GAAP, or differences in timing between the
recognition of taxable income and the actual receipt of cash may occur. For example, we may acquire assets, including debt securities requiring us
to accrue OID or recognize market discount income, that generate taxable income in excess of economic income or in advance of the corresponding
cash flow from the assets. In addition, if aborrower with respect to a particular debt instrument encounters financial difficulty rendering it unable
to pay stated interest as due, we may nonethel ess be required to continue to accrue and recognize the unpaid interest as taxable income with the
effect that we will recognize income but will not have a corresponding amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

Asaresult of the foregoing, we may generate less cash flow than taxable income in a particular year and find it difficult or impossible to
meet the REIT distribution requirementsin certain circumstances. In such circumstances, we may be required to (a) sell assets in adverse market
conditions, (b) borrow on unfavorable terms, (c) distribute amounts that would otherwise be used for future acquisitions or used to repay debt, or
(d) make ataxable distribution of our shares of common stock as part of a distribution in which stockholders may el ect to receive shares of common
stock or (subject to alimit measured as a percentage of the total distribution) cash, in order to comply with the REIT distribution requirements.

Moreover, we may acquire distressed debt investments that require subsequent modification by agreement with the borrower. If the
amendments to the outstanding debt are “significant modifications” under the applicable Treasury Regulations, the modified debt may be
considered to have been reissued to usin a debt-for-debt taxable exchange with the borrower. This deemed reissuance may prevent the modified
debt from qualifying asagood REIT asset if the underlying security has declined in value and would cause us to recognize income to the extent
the principal amount of the modified debt exceeds our adjusted tax basisin the unmodified debt.
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Thefailure of mortgage loans subject to a repurchase agreement to qualify asareal estate asset would adver sely affect our ability to qualify asa
REIT.

We have entered into repurchase agreements under which we will nominally sell certain of our assets to a counterparty and
simultaneously enter into an agreement to repurchase the sold assets. We believe that we will be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as
the owner of the assets that are the subject of any such agreements notwithstanding that such agreements may transfer record ownership of the
assets to the counterparty during the term of the agreement. It is possible, however, that the IRS could assert that we did not own the assets
during the term of the repurchase agreement, in which case we could fail to qualify asa REIT if our remaining assets do not satisfy the asset tests
or if our income does not satisfy the gross income tests.

Thefailure of mezzanineloansto qualify asareal estate asset would adver sely affect our ability to qualify asa REIT.

In order for aloan to be treated as aqualifying real estate asset producing qualifying income for purposes of the REIT asset and income
tests, generally the loan must be secured by real property or an interest in real property. We may originate or acquire mezzanine loans that are not
directly secured by real property or an interest in real property but instead are secured by equity interestsin apartnership or limited liability
company that directly or indirectly ownsreal property or aninterest in real property. In Revenue Procedure 2003-65, the IRS provided a safe harbor
pursuant to which a mezzanine loan that is not secured by real estate would, if it meets each of the requirements contained in the Revenue
Procedure, be treated by the IRS as a qualifying real estate asset. Although the Revenue Procedure provides a safe harbor on which taxpayers may
rely, it does not prescribe rules of substantive tax law and in many casesit may not be possible for usto meet all the requirements of the safe
harbor. We cannot provide assurance that any mezzanine loan in which weinvest would be treated as a qualifying asset producing qualifying
income for REIT qualification purposes. If any such loan fails either the REIT income or asset tests, we may be disqualified asaREIT.

Our qualification asa REIT and exemption from U.S. federal income tax with respect to certain assets may be dependent on the accuracy of legal
opinionsor advicerendered or given or statements by theissuersof assetsthat we acquire, and theinaccuracy of any such opinions, advice or
statements may adver sely affect our REIT qualification and result in corporate-level tax.

When purchasing securities, we may rely on opinions or advice of counsel for the issuer of such securities, or statements made in related
offering documents, for purposes of determining whether such securities represent debt or equity securitiesfor U.S. federal income tax purposes,
and also to what extent those securities constitute real estate assets for purposes of the asset tests and produce qualifying income for purposes of
the 75% grossincome test. In addition, when purchasing the equity tranche of a securitization, we may rely on opinions or advice of counsel
regarding the qualification of the securitization for exemption from U.S. corporate income tax and the qualification of interestsin such securitization
as debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Theinaccuracy of any such opinions, advice or statements may adversely affect our REIT
qualification and result in significant corporate level tax.

Thetaxable mortgage pool, or “ TMP,” rulesmay increasethe taxesthat we or our stockholdersmay incur, and may limit the manner in which
we effect future securitizations.

Our CL O securitization resulted in the creation of a TMP for federal income tax purposes. Future securitizations by us or our subsidiaries
could result in the creation of additional TMPsfor U.S. federal income tax purposes. As aresult, we could have “excess inclusion income.” Certain
categories of stockholders, such as non-U.S. stockholders eligible for treaty or other benefits, stockholders with net operating losses, and certain
tax-exempt stockholders that are subject to unrelated business income tax, could be subject to increased taxes on a portion of their dividend
income from usthat is attributable to any such excessinclusionincome. In the case of astockholder that isa REIT, regulated investment company
(“RIC"), common trust fund or other pass-through entity, our allocable share of our excessinclusion income could be considered excessinclusion
income of such entity. In addition, to the extent that our common stock is owned by tax-exempt “ disqualified organizations,” such as certain
government-related entities and charitable remainder trusts that are not subject to tax on unrelated businessincome, we may incur a corporate level
tax on aportion of any excessinclusion income. Because this tax generally would be imposed on us, al of our stockholders, including stockholders
that are not disqualified organizations, generally will bear a portion of the tax cost associated with the classification of us or a portion of our assets
asaTMP. A RIC or other pass through entity owning our common stock in record name will be subject to tax at the highest U.S. federal corporate
tax rate on any excess inclusion income allocated to their owners that are disqualified organizations. The manner in which excess inclusion income
iscalculated is not clear under current law. Asrequired by IRS guidance, we intend to make such determinations based on what we believe to be a
reasonable method. However, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not challenge our method of making any such determinations. If the IRS
were to disagree with any such determinations made or with the method used by
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us, the amount of any excess inclusion income required to be taken into account by one or more stockholders, including tax-exempt stockholders,
non-U.S. stockholders and stockholders with net operating losses, could be significantly increased. Moreover, we could face limitationsin selling
equity interestsin these securitizations to outside investors, or selling any debt securitiesissued in connection with these securitizations that
might be considered to be equity interests for tax purposes. Finaly, if we wereto fail to qualify asaREIT, any TMP securitizations would be
treated as separate taxable corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposes that could not be included in any consolidated U.S. federal corporate
income tax return. These limitations may prevent us from using certain technigques to maximize our returns from securitization transactions.

We may choose to makedistributionsin our own stock, in which case you may berequired to pay income taxesin excess of the cash dividends
you receive.

In connection with our qualification asaREIT, we are required to annually distribute to our stockholders at |east 90% of our REIT taxable
income (which does not equal net income, as cal culated in accordance with GAAP), determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid
and excluding net capital gain. In order to satisfy this requirement, we may make distributions that are payable in cash and/or shares of our
common stock (which could account for up to 80% of the aggregate amount of such distributions) at the election of each stockholder. Taxable
stockholders receiving such distributions will be required to include the full amount of such distributions as ordinary dividend income to the extent
of our current or accumul ated earnings and profits, as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Asaresult, U.S. stockholders may be
required to pay income taxes with respect to such distributionsin excess of the cash portion of the distribution received. Accordingly, U.S.
stockholders receiving a distribution of our shares may be required to sell sharesreceived in such distribution or may be required to sell other
stock or assets owned by them, at atime that may be disadvantageous, in order to satisfy any tax imposed on such distribution. If aU.S.
stockholder sells the stock that it receives as part of the distribution in order to pay thistax, the sales proceeds may be less than the amount it
must include in income with respect to the distribution, depending on the market price of our stock at the time of the sale. Furthermore, with respect
to certain non-U.S. stockholders, we may be required to withhold U.S. tax with respect to such distribution, including in respect of al or aportion
of such distribution that is payable in stock, by withholding or disposing of part of the sharesincluded in such distribution and using the
proceeds of such disposition to satisfy the withholding tax imposed. In addition, if a significant number of our stockholders determine to sell
shares of our common stock in order to pay taxes owed on dividend income, such sale may put downward pressure on the market price of our
common stock.

Various tax aspects of such ataxable cash/stock distribution are uncertain and have not yet been addressed by the IRS. No assurance can
be given that the IRS will not impose requirements in the future with respect to taxable cash/stock distributions, including on aretroactive basis, or
assert that the requirements for such taxable cash/stock distributions have not been met.

Dividends payable by REITsgenerally do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends.

Currently, the maximum tax rate applicable to qualified dividend income payable to U.S. stockholders that are individuals, trusts and
estates is 20%. Dividends payable by REITs, however, generally are not eligible for this reduced rate. Although this does not adversely affect the
taxation of REITs or dividends payable by REITs, the more favorable rates applicable to regular corporate qualified dividends could cause
investors who are individuals, trusts and estates to perceive investmentsin REITsto berelatively less attractive than investments in the stocks of
non-REIT corporations that pay dividends, which could adversely affect the value of the shares of REITs, including our common stock. Tax rates
could be changed in future legislation.

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge our liabilities effectively and may cause usto incur tax liabilities.

The REIT provisions of the Code may limit our ability to hedge our liabilities. Any income from a hedging transaction we enter into to
manage risk of interest rate changes, price changes or currency fluctuations with respect to borrowings made or to be made to acquire or carry real
estate assets or in certain cases to hedge previously acquired hedges entered into to manage risks associated with property that has been
disposed of or liabilities that have been extinguished, if properly identified under applicable Treasury Regulations, does not constitute “gross
income” for purposes of the 75% or 95% gross income tests. To the extent that we enter into other types of hedging transactions, the income from
those transactions will likely be treated as non-qualifying income for purposes of both of the grossincome tests. Asaresult of these rules, we may
need to limit our use of advantageous hedging techniques or implement those hedges through a TRS. This could increase the cost of our hedging
activities because our TRSs are subject to tax on gains and may expose usto greater risks associated with changesin interest rates than we would
otherwise want to bear. In addition, lossesin a TRS generally will not provide any tax benefit, except for being carried forward against future
taxable income of such TRS.
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Complying with REIT requirements may force usto forgo and/or liquidate otherwise attractive investment opportunities.

To maintain our qualification asaREIT, we must ensure that we meet the REIT grossincome tests annually and that at the end of each
calendar quarter, at least 75% of the value of our assets consists of cash, cash items, government securities and qualified REIT real estate assets,
including certain mortgage |oans and certain kinds of mortgage-related securities. The remainder of our investment in securities (other than
government securities and qualified real estate assets) generally cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of any one
issuer or more than 10% of the total value of the outstanding securities of any oneissuer. In addition, in general, no more than 5% of the value of
our assets (other than government securities and qualified real estate assets) can consist of the securities of any one issuer, and no more than 20%
of the value of our total assets can be represented by securities of one or more TRSs. If wefail to comply with these requirements at the end of any
calendar quarter, we must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutory relief provisionsto
avoid losing our REIT qualification and suffering adverse tax consequences. As aresult, we may be required to liquidate assets from our portfolio
or not make otherwise attractive investmentsin order to maintain our qualification asa REIT. These actions could have the effect of reducing our
income and amounts available for distribution to our stockholders.

We may be subject to adver selegidative or regulatory tax changesthat could increase our tax liability, reduce our operating flexibility and
reduce the price of our common stock.

In recent years, numerous legislative, judicial and administrative changes have been made in the provisions of U.S. federal income tax
laws applicable to investments similar to an investment in shares of our common stock. Additional changesto the tax laws are likely to continue to
occur, and we cannot assure you that any such changes will not adversely affect the taxation of a stockholder. Any such changes could have an
adverse effect on an investment in our shares or on the market value or the resale potential of our assets. Y ou are urged to consult with your tax
advisor with respect to the impact of recent legislation on your investment in our shares and the status of legislative, regulatory or administrative
developments and proposals and their potential effect on aninvestment in our shares. Y ou also should note that our counsel’stax opinionis
based upon existing law, applicable as of the date of its opinion, all of which will be subject to change, either prospectively or retroactively.

Although REITs generally receive better tax treatment than entities taxed as regular corporations, it is possible that future legislation
would result in aREIT having fewer tax advantages, and it could become more advantageous for a company that investsin real estate to elect to be
treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a corporation. As aresult, our charter provides our board of directorswith the power, under certain
circumstances, to revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election and cause usto be taxed as aregular corporation, without the vote of our
stockholders. Our board of directors has fiduciary dutiesto us and our stockholders and could only cause such changesin our tax treatment if it
determinesin good faith that such changes are in the best interest of our stockholders.

Potential characterization of distributionsor gain on sale may betreated as unrelated business taxable income to tax-exempt investors.

If (8) wearea“pension-held REIT,” (b) atax-exempt stockholder hasincurred (or is deemed to have incurred) debt to purchase or hold our
common stock or (c) aholder of common stock is a certain type of tax-exempt stockholder, dividends on, and gains recognized on the sale of,
common stock by such tax-exempt stockholder may be subject to U.S. federal income tax as unrelated business taxable income under the Code.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

We do not own any real estate or other physical properties materially important to our operation. Our principal executive officesare
located at 245 Park Avenue, 42nd Floor, New York, NY 10167. Our principal executive and certain of our other offices are leased by our Manager or
one of its affiliates from third parties and pursuant to the terms of our Management Agreement, we reimburse our Manager (or its affiliate, as
applicable) for expenses (including our pro-rata portion of rent, telephone, printing, mailing, utilities, office furniture, equipment, machinery and

other office, internal and overhead expenses)
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relating to such offices, including disaster backup recovery sites and facilities maintained for us, our affiliates, our investments or our Manager or
its affiliates required for our operation.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In the normal course of business, we may be subject to various legal proceedings from time to time. Furthermore, third parties may try to
seek to impose liability on usin connection with our loans. As of December 31, 2018, we were not subject to any material pending legal
proceedings.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market For Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters And I ssuer Purchases Of Equity Securities
COMMON STOCK

Our common stock is listed for trading on the NY SE under the symbol “ACRE.” On February 19, 2019, the closing price of our common
stock, as reported on the NY SE, was $14.11 per share.

HOLDERS

As of February 19, 2019, there were 41 holders of record of our common stock, including Cede & Co, which holds shares as nominee for
the Depository Trust Company, which itself holds shares on behalf of the beneficial owners of shares of our common stock. This number does not
include beneficial ownerswho hold shares of our common stock in nominee name. Such information was obtained through our registrar and
transfer agent, based on the results of abroker search.

DISTRIBUTION POLICY

We elected to be taxed asaREIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, anticipate annually distributing to our stockholders at
least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains. To the extent
that we distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income in any tax year (taking into account any distributions made in a subsequent tax year
under Sections 857(b)(9) or 858 of the Code), we will pay tax at regular corporate rates on that undistributed portion. This 90% distribution
requirement does not require the distribution of net capital gains. However, if aREIT electsto retain any of its net capital gain for any tax year, it
must notify its stockholders and pay tax at regular corporate rates on the retained net capital gain. For the year ended December 31, 2018, we plan
to satisfy the REIT distribution requirement in part with dividends paid in 2019. For the year ended December 31, 2017, we el ected to satisfy the
REIT distribution requirement in part with adividend paid in 2018. Furthermore, if a REIT distributes |ess than the sum of 85% of its ordinary
income for the calendar year, 95% of its capital gain net income for the calendar year plus any undistributed shortfall from its prior calendar year
(the “Required Distribution”) to its stockhol ders during any calendar year (including any distributions declared by the last day of the calendar
year but paid in January of the subsequent year), then it isrequired to pay non-deductible excise tax equal to 4% of any shortfall between the
Required Distribution and the amount that was actually distributed. Any of these taxes would decrease cash available for distribution to our
stockholders. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, we accrued an excise tax of $362 thousand, $153 thousand and $209
thousand, respectively. Excise tax payableisincluded in the lineitem “ Other ligbilities’ in the consolidated bal ance sheetsincluded in this annual
report on Form 10-K. Excisetax expenseisincluded in the line item “Income tax expense (benefit), including excisetax” in the consolidated
statements of operationsincluded in this annual report on Form 10-K.

We cannot assure our stockholders, however, that the current level of distributionswill be sustained, as any distributions that we pay in
the future will depend upon our actual results of operations, economic conditions and other factors that could materially alter our expectations.
Before we make any distributions, whether for U.S. federal income tax purposes or otherwise, we must first meet both our operating requirements
and debt service on the Financing Agreements and other debt payable. If our cash available for distribution isless than our REIT taxableincome,
we could be required to sell assets or borrow funds to make cash distributions or we may make a portion of the Required Distribution in the form of
ataxable stock distribution or distribution of debt securities.

Any distributions we make to our stockholderswill be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon our earnings,
financial condition, liquidity, debt covenants, funding or margin requirements under securitizations, warehouse facilities or other secured and
unsecured borrowing agreements, maintenance of our REIT qualification, applicable provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law, and
such other factors as our board of directors deems relevant. The Financing Agreements provide that in an event of default, we may make
distributions only to the extent necessary to maintain our statusasaREIT. Our earnings, financial condition and liquidity will be affected by
various factors, including the net interest and other income from our portfolio, our operating expenses and any other expenditures. See “ Risk
Factors” included in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Distributions that stockholders receive (not designated as capital gain dividends or qualified dividend income) will be taxed as ordinary
income to the extent they are paid from our earnings and profits (as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes). However, distributions that
we designate as capital gain dividends generally will be taxable as long-term capital gain to our stockholders to the extent that they do not exceed
our actual net capital gain for the taxable year. Some portion of these
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distributions may not be subject to tax in the year in which they are received because depreciation expense reduces the amount of taxable income,
but does not reduce cash available for distribution. The portion of our stockholders distribution that is not designated as a capital gain dividend
and isin excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profitsis considered areturn of capital for U.S. federal income tax purposes and will
reduce the adjusted tax basis of their investment, but not below zero, deferring such portion of their tax until their investment is sold or our
company isliquidated, at which time they will be taxed at capital gain rates (subject to certain exceptions for corporate stockholders). To the extent
such portion of our stockholders distribution exceeds the adjusted tax basis of their investment, such excesswill be treated as capital gain if they
hold their shares of common stock as a capital asset for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Depending on the level of taxable income earned in atax
year, we may choose to carry forward taxable income for distribution in the following year, and pay any applicable excise tax. Wewill furnish
annually to each of our stockholders a statement setting forth distributions paid during the preceding year and their characterization as ordinary
income, return of capital, qualified dividend income or capital gain. Please note that each stockholder’ s tax considerations are different, therefore,
our stockholders should consult with their own tax advisors and financial planners prior to making an investment in our shares.

RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED EQUITY SECURITIES
Stock Buyback Program

In May 2015, we announced that our board of directors authorized us to repurchase up to $20.0 million of our outstanding common stock
over aperiod of one year (the “ Stock Buyback Program”). In February 2016, the board of directorsincreased the size of the existing $20.0 million
Stock Buyback Program to $30.0 million and extended the Stock Buyback Program through March 31, 2017. The Stock Buyback Program was not
extended after March 31, 2017. Purchases made pursuant to the Stock Buyback Program could have been made in either the open market or in
privately negotiated transactions, from time to time and as permitted by federal securities|aws and other legal requirements. In connection with this
Stock Buyback Program, in March 2016, we entered into a Rule 10b5-1 plan to repurchase shares of our common stock in accordance with certain
parameters set forth in the Stock Buyback Program. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, we did not repurchase any shares of our
common stock under our Stock Buyback Program.
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH
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NOTES: Assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2013 in ACRE, the S& P 500 Index and the SNL US Finance REIT Index. Assumesall
dividends are reinvested on the respective dividend payment dates without commissions.

12/31/13 12/31/14 12/31/15 12/31/16 12/31/17 12/31/18

ACRE 100.00 94.78 102.59 134.23 136.37 149.84
S& P 500 Index 100.00 113.69 115.26 129.05 157.22 150.33
SNL US Finance REIT Index 100.00 114.52 105.02 129.36 150.94 145.09

The stock performance graph and the table furnished above shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC or
subject to Regulation 14A or 14C, or to theliabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act.

SECURITIESAUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

On April 23, 2012, we adopted an equity incentive plan. In April 2018, our board of directors authorized, and in June 2018, our
stockholders approved, an amended and restated equity incentive plan (the “Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan™). Pursuant to our
Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, we may grant awards consisting of restricted shares of our common stock, restricted stock
units and/or other equity-based awards to our directors, our Manager and its personnel and other eligible awardees under the plan, subject to an
aggregate limitation of 1,390,000 shares of common stock. As of December 31, 2018, 35.7% of the shares reserved under our Amended and Restated
2012 Equity Incentive Plan, or atotal of 495,756 restricted shares of our common stock, had been granted and 64.3% of the shares reserved, or
894,244 shares
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remained available for future issuance under our Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan. Aside from our Amended and Restated 2012
Equity Incentive Plan, we have no other compensation plans or arrangements under which our securities may be issued (whether or not approved
by our stockholders). For further discussion of our Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, see Note 6 to our consolidated financial

statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K.

The following table presents certain information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2018:

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
futureissuance
Number of under equity
securitiesto be W eighted- compensation
issued upon aver age exercise plans
exercise price of (excluding
of outstanding outstanding securities
options, options, reflected in the
warrants warrants and first column of
Plan Category and rights rights thistable)(1)
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders — 3 = 894,244
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders — — —
Total — $ = 894,244
@) The securities shown in this column may beissued as restricted stock, restricted stock units and/or other equity-based awardsto eligible

awardees under our Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Thefollowing selected financial and other data for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014 is derived from our
consolidated financial statements and related notes, which have been audited by Ernst & Y oung LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm whose report thereon isincluded el sewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K. The data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto and “ Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included

in thisannual report on Form 10-K.
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ARESCOMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Operating Data:

Net interest margin, excluding non-controlling interests
held by third parties

Gain on sale of loans

Total expenses

Early extinguishment of debt costs

Net income from continuing operations

Net income from operations of discontinued operations,
net of income taxes

Gain on sale of discontinued operations
Net income attributable to common stockholders

Basic weighted average shares of common stock
outstanding

Diluted weighted average shares of common stock
outstanding

Basic earnings per common share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net income

Diluted earnings per common share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net income
Dividends declared per share of common stock
Balance Sheet Data:

Loans held for investment

Total assets

Secured funding agreements

Secured term loan

Total unsecured debt

Total securitizations debt

Total lighilities

Total stockholders' equity

Total equity

For the years ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
55,282 46313 $ 40568 $ 40936 $ 36,551
— — — — 680
16,240 14,970 14,426 13,671 14,549
— (768) — — —
38,596 30,432 30,451 36,335 22,749
_ — 4221 6,985 1,867
— — 10,196 — —
38,596 30407 $ 40336 $ 34285 $ 24,396
28,529,439 28,478,237 28,461,853 28,501,897 28,459,309
28,656,660 28,550,945 28,523,306 28,597,568 28,585,022
1.35 107 $ 091 $ 096 $ 0.79
— — 051 0.25 0.07
1.35 107 $ 142 % 120 $ 0.86
1.35 107 $ 091 $ 095 $ 0.79
— — 051 0.24 0.07
1.35 107 $ 141§ 120 $ 0.85
116 108 $ 104§ 100 $ 1.00
1,524,873 1726283 $ 1313937 $ 1174391 $ 1462584
1,603,324 1,770,219 1,373,703 1,378,982 1,862,155
777,974 957,960 780,713 522,775 552,799
108,345 107,595 149,878 69,762 —
— — — — 67,414
270,737 271,211 — 254,343 523,229
1,177,737 1,351,049 944,030 922,494 1,381,269
425,587 419,170 419,029 409,471 402,954
425,587 419,170 429673 456,488 480,886

Item 7. Management’s Discussion And Analysis Of Financial Condition And Results Of Operations

We are a specialty finance company primarily engaged in originating and investing in commercial real estate (“CRE”) loans and related
investments. We are externally managed by Ares Commercial Real Estate Management LLC (“ACREM” or our “Manager”), asubsidiary of Ares
Management Corporation (NY SE: ARES) (“ Ares Management”), a publicly traded, |eading global alternative asset manager, pursuant to the terms
of the management agreement dated April 25, 2012, as amended, between us and our Manager (the “Management Agreement”). From the
commencement of our operationsin late 2011, we have been primarily focused on directly originating and managing a diversified portfolio of CRE

debt-related investments for our own account.
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We were formed and commenced operationsin late 2011. We are aMaryland corporation and completed our initial public offering in May
2012. We have elected and qualified to be taxed as areal estate investment trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes under the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2012. We generally will not be subject to U.S. federal
income taxes on our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains, to the
extent that we annually distribute all of our REIT taxable income to stockholders and comply with various other requirementsasa REIT. We also
operate our businessin a manner that isintended to permit us to maintain our exemption from registration under the Investment Company Act of
1940, as amended (the “ 1940 Act”).

Sale of Mortgage Banking Subsidiary

On June 28, 2016, we entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (as amended, the “ Agreement”) with Barings Real Estate AdvisersLLC
(formerly known as Cornerstone Real Estate Advisers LLC), aDelaware limited liability company (the “Buyer”), to sell ACRE Capital HoldingsLLC
(“TRS Holdings”), the holding company that owned our mortgage banking subsidiary, ACRE Capital LLC (“ACRE Capital”). Under the terms and
subject to the conditions set forth in the Agreement, on September 30, 2016, the Buyer purchased from us all of the outstanding common units of
TRS Holdings (the “ ACRE Capital Sale”). ACRE Capital primarily originated, sold and serviced multifamily and senior-living related loans under
programs offered by government-sponsored enterprises and by government agencies.

Under the terms of the Agreement, the Buyer paid approximately $93 million in cash as consideration for the ACRE Capital Sale. We
recognized a net gain on the sale of TRS Holdings of approximately $10.2 million.

Asaresult of the sale of TRS Holdings, the operations of the mortgage banking segment have been reclassified as discontinued
operationsin all periods presented. After giving effect to the ACRE Capital Sale, we now conduct and manage our business as one operating
segment, rather than multiple operating segments; therefore, we no longer provide segment reporting.

Below are significant devel opments during the year ended December 31, 2018 presented by quarter:

Developments During the First Quarter of 2018:

. ACRE originated a$16.7 million senior mortgage loan on the construction of aresidential property located in California.

. ACRE originated a$21.7 million senior mortgage loan on a multifamily property located in California.

. ACRE originated a $56.1 million senior mortgage |oan on amixed-use property located in California.

. ACRE exercised a 12-month extension option on the CNB Facility (as defined below) to extend theinitial maturity date to March

10, 2019. ACRE has one additional 12-month extension option, which, if exercised, would extend the maturity date of the
CNB Facility to March 10, 2020.

Developments During the Second Quarter of 2018:

. ACRE originated a $39.2 million senior mortgage loan on amultifamily property located in South Carolina.

. ACRE originated a$32.9 million senior mortgage loan on ahotel property located in lllinois.

. ACRE originated a $68.1 million senior mortgage loan on aportfolio of hotel propertieslocated in Oregon and Washington.

. ACRE originated a $15.3 million mezzanine loan on the construction of a mixed-use property located in Illinois.

. ACRE originated a $59.6 million senior mortgage |oan on an office property located in lllinois.

. ACRE amended the BAML Facility (as defined below), which has acommitment amount of $125.0 million, to extend the period

during which we may request individual loans under the facility to May 23, 2019. In addition, the final maturity date of
individual loans under the BAML Facility was extended to May 23, 2022.

Developments During the Third Quarter of 2018:

. ACRE originated a $31.5 million senior mortgage |oan on a hotel property located in Minnesota.

. ACRE originated an $8.0 million pre-construction mezzanine loan on a property with in-place development rights for aresidential
condominium project located in Hawaii.

. ACRE originated a $78.0 million senior mortgage loan on a hotel portfolio located across multiple states.
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Developments During the Fourth Quarter of 2018:

. ACRE originated a$17.5 million pre-construction senior mortgage |oan on a property with in-place development rights for a
residential condominium project located in Florida.

. ACRE originated a $14.0 million mezzanine construction loan on a property with in-place development rights for aresidential
condominium conversion project located in New Y ork.

. ACRE originated a$13.5 million senior mortgage |oan on an office property located in North Carolina.

. ACRE originated a$22.9 million senior mortgage |oan on an office property located in California

. ACRE originated a $40.0 million senior mortgage loan on a multifamily property located in Illinais.

. ACRE originated a $30.3 million senior mortgage loan on a multifamily property located in Pennsylvania.

. ACRE originated a $43.5 million senior mortgage loan on amultifamily property located in Florida.

. ACRE amended the Wells Fargo Facility (as defined below), which has a commitment amount of $500.0 million, to extend the

initial maturity date to December 14, 2020 and decrease the interest rate on advances from a per annum rate equal to the sum of
one-month LIBOR plus apricing margin range of 1.75% to 2.35% to a per annum rate equal to the sum of one-month LIBOR plus
apricing margin range of 1.50% to 2.25%. Theinitial maturity date of the Wells Fargo Facility is subject to three 12-month
extensions, each of which may be exercised at ACRE's option, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including
payment of an extension fee, which, if all three were exercised, would extend the maturity date of the Wells Fargo Facility to
December 14, 2023.

. ACRE amended the Citibank Facility (as defined bel ow) to increase the facility’s commitment amount from $250.0 million to $325.0
million and extend the initial maturity date to December 13, 2021. Theinitial maturity date of the Citibank Facility is subject to two
12-month extensions, each of which may be exercised at ACRE's option assuming no existing defaults under the Citibank Facility
and applicable extension fees being paid, which, if both were exercised, would extend the maturity date of the Citibank Facility to
December 13, 2023. In addition, ACRE amended the Citibank Facility to decrease the interest rate on advances from a per annum
rate equal to the sum of one-month LIBOR plus an indicative pricing margin range of 2.25% to 2.50%, subject to certain
exceptions, to a per annum rate equal to the sum of one-month LIBOR plus an indicative pricing margin range of 1.50% to 2.25%,
subject to certain exceptions.

FactorsImpacting Our Operating Results

Theresults of our operations are affected by a number of factors and primarily depend on, among other things, the level of our net
interest income, the market value of our assets and the supply of, and demand for, commercial mortgage loans, CRE debt and other financial assets
in the marketplace. Our net interest income, which reflects the amortization of origination fees and direct costs, is recognized based on the
contractual rate and the outstanding principal balance of the loans we originate. Interest rates will vary according to the type of investment,
conditionsin the financial markets, creditworthiness of our borrowers, competition and other factors, none of which can be predicted with any
certainty. Our operating results may also beimpacted by credit lossesin excess of initial anticipations or unanticipated credit events experienced
by borrowers.

Changesin Fair Value of Our Assets. We originate CRE debt and related instruments generally to be held for investment. Loansthat are
held for investment are carried at cost, net of unamortized |oan fees and origination costs, unless the |loans are deemed impaired. |mpairment occurs
when it is deemed probable that we will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan. If aloan is considered
to beimpaired, we will record an allowance to reduce the carrying value of the loan to the present val ue of expected future cash flows discounted
at the loan's contractual effective rate. Significant judgment is required when evaluating loans for impairment, therefore, actual results over time
could be materialy different.

Loans are generally collateralized by real estate and as aresult, the extent and impact of any credit deterioration associated with the
performance and/or value of the underlying collateral property, aswell asthe financial and operating capability of the borrower, are regularly
evaluated. We monitor performance of our investment portfolio under the following methodology: (1) borrower review, which analyzes the
borrower’s ability to execute on its original business plan, reviewsits financial condition, assesses pending litigation and considersits general
level of responsiveness and cooperation; (2) economic review, which considers underlying collateral (i.e., leasing performance, unit sales and cash
flow of the collateral and its ability to cover debt service aswell asthe residual loan balance at maturity); (3) property review, which considers
current environmental risks, changes in insurance costs or coverage, current site visibility, capital expenditures and market perception; and
(4) market review, which analyzes the collateral from a supply and demand perspective of similar property types, aswell as from a capital markets
perspective. Such impairment analyses are completed and reviewed by asset management and finance personnel who utilize various data sources,
including periodic financial data such as property occupancy, tenant profile, rental rates, operating expenses, and the borrower’s exit plan, among
other factors. Other than as set forth in Note 3 to our
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consolidated financial statementsincluded in this annual report on Form 10-K, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, all loans were paying in
accordance with their contractual terms. There were no impairments during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Although we generally hold our target investments as long-term investments, we may occasionally classify some of our investments as
held for sale. Investments held for sale will be carried at fair value within loans held for sale in our consolidated balance sheets, with changesin fair
value recorded through earnings. The fees received are deferred and recognized as part of the gain or loss on sale. At thistime, we do not expect to
hold any of our investments for trading purposes.

Changesin Market Interest Rates. With respect to our business operations, increases in interest rates, in general, may over time cause:

. the interest expense associated with our borrowings to increase, subject to any applicable ceilings;

. the value of our mortgage loansto decline;

. coupons on our floating rate mortgage loans to reset to higher interest rates; and

. to the extent we enter into interest rate swap agreements as part of our hedging strategy where we pay fixed and receive floating

interest rates, the value of these agreements to increase.

Conversely, decreasesin interest rates, in general, may over time cause:

. the interest expense associated with our borrowings to decrease, subject to any applicable floors;

. the value of our mortgage loan portfolio to increase, for such mortgages with applicable floors;

. coupons on our floating rate mortgage loansto reset to lower interest rates, subject to any applicable floors; and

. to the extent we enter into interest rate swap agreements as part of our hedging strategy where we pay fixed and receive floating

interest rates, the value of these agreements to decrease.

Credit Risk. We are subject to varying degrees of credit risk in connection with our target investments. Our Manager seeksto mitigate
thisrisk by seeking to originate or acquire investments of higher quality at appropriate prices with appropriate risk adjusted returns given
anticipated and unanticipated | osses, by employing a comprehensive review and selection process and by proactively monitoring originated or
acquired investments (see the performance monitoring methodology above in Changesin Fair Value of Our Assets). Neverthel ess, unanticipated
credit losses could occur that could adversely impact our operating results and stockholders' equity.

Market Conditions. We believe that our target investments currently present attractive risk-adjusted return profiles, given the
underlying property fundamentals and the competitive landscape for the type of capital we provide. We believe that growth in commercial real
estate val uations has been supported by alower supply of new properties, which broadly have remained bel ow the long-term average since the
onset of the global financial crisis. New additions to inventory have been limited given that new construction financing has been constrained by
post-recession financial regulations. While the availability of debt capital for high quality assets has increased and |ed to more competitive pricing
and terms, we continue to anticipate rising demand for the type of customized debt financing we provide from borrowers or sponsors. We also
envision that demand for financing will be strong for situations in which a property is being acquired with plans to improve the net operating
income through capital improvements, leasing, cost savings or other key initiatives and realize the improved value through a subsequent sale or
refinancing. We believe market conditions continue to be favorable for disciplined and scaled direct lending with broad and flexible product
offerings. However, we are mindful that rising interest rates and the removal of certain central banking monetary policies may impact asset values
and could |lead to periods of volatility. Ultimately, during periods of sustained volatility, increased lending opportunities may arise for flexible
capital providerslike us.

Performance of Commercial Real Estate Related Markets. Our business is dependent on the general demand for, and value of,
commercial real estate and related services, which are sensitive to economic conditions. Demand for multifamily and other commercial rea estate
generally increases during periods of stronger economic conditions, resulting in increased property values, transaction volumes and loan
origination volumes. During periods of weaker economic conditions, multifamily and
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other commercial real estate may experience higher property vacancies, lower demand and reduced values. These conditions can result in lower
property transaction volumes and loan originations.

Availability of Leverage and Equity. We expect to use leverage to make additional investments that may increase our potential returns.
We may not be able to obtain the amount of |everage we desire and, consequently, the returns generated from our investments may be less than
we currently expect. To grow our portfolio of investments, we also may determine to raise additional equity. Our access to additional equity will
depend on many factors, and our ability to raise equity in the future cannot be predicted at thistime.

Size of Portfolio. The size of our portfolio of investments, as measured both by the aggregate principal balance and the number of our
CRE loans and our other investments, will also be an important factor in determining our operating results. Generally, as the size of our portfolio
grows, the amount of interest income we receive will increase and we may achieve certain economies of scale and diversify risk within our portfolio
investments. A larger portfolio, however, may result in increased expenses; for example, we may incur additional interest expense or other coststo
finance our investments. Also, if the aggregate principal balance of our portfolio grows but the number of our loans or the number of our
borrowers does not grow, we could face increased risk by reason of the concentration of our investments.

Investment Portfolio

As of December 31, 2018, our portfolio included 44 loans held for investment, excluding 76 |oans that were repaid or sold since inception.
Such investments are referred to herein as our investment portfolio. As of December 31, 2018, the aggregate originated commitment under these
loans at closing was approximately $1.7 billion and outstanding principal was $1.5 billion. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we funded
approximately $544.2 million of outstanding principal and received repayments of $746.8 million of outstanding principal. As of December 31, 2018,
89.8% of our loans have London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) floors, with aweighted average floor of 1.38%, calculated based on loans with
LIBOR floors. Referencesto LIBOR or “L” areto 30-day LIBOR (unless otherwise specifically stated).

Other than as set forth in Note 3 to our consolidated financial statementsincluded in thisannual report on Form 10-K, as of December 31,
2018, all loans were paying in accordance with their contractual terms. During the year ended December 31, 2018, there were no impairments with
respect to our loans held for investment.

Our loans held for investment are accounted for at amortized cost. The following table summarizes our loans held for investment as of
December 31, 2018 ($ in thousands):

As of December 31, 2018

Weighted
Average Weighted
Minimum Loan Weighted Average Average
Carrying Outstanding Borrowing Unleveraged Remaining
Amount (1) Principal (1) Spread (2) Effective Yield (3) Life (Years)
Senior mortgage loans $ 1489708 $ 1,498,530 5.2% 7.0% 1.7
Subordinated debt and preferred equity investments 35,165 36,213 12.7% 14.9% 43
Total loans held for investment portfolio $ 1524873 $ 1534743 5.4% 7.1% 18
1) The difference between the Carrying Amount and the Outstanding Principal amount of the loans held for investment consists of

unamortized purchase discount, deferred |oan fees and |oan origination costs.

2 Minimum Loan Borrowing Spread is equal to (a) for floating rate loans, the margin above the applicable index rate (e.g., LIBOR) plus
floors, if any, on such applicableindex rates, and (b) for fixed rate loans, the applicable interest rate.

(3) Unleveraged Effective Yield isthe compounded effective rate of return that would be earned over the life of the investment based on the
contractual interest rate (adjusted for any deferred |oan fees, costs, premiums or discounts) and assumes no dispositions, early
prepayments or defaults. The total Weighted Average Unleveraged Effective Yield is calcul ated based on the average of Unleveraged
Effective Yield of all loans held by us as of December 31, 2018 as weighted by the outstanding principal balance of each loan.
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Non-Controlling I nterests

The non-controlling interests held by third partiesin our consolidated financial statements represent the equity interestsin ACRC KA
Investor LLC (“*ACRC KA") that are not owned by us. In January 2017, our investment in ACRC KA was repaid in full. Accordingly, as of
December 31, 2017, our investment was no longer outstanding. See Notes 6 and 12 to our consolidated financial statementsincluded in this annual
report on Form 10-K for more information about ACRC KA.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“ GAAP’), which
require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts. The estimates and assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors management believes to be reasonable. Actual results may differ from those estimates and assumptions. We believe
the following critical accounting policy represents an area where more significant judgments and estimates are used in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of Loans Held for Investment. We originate CRE debt and related instruments generally to be held for investment. L oans that
are held for investment are carried at cost, net of unamortized |oan fees and origination costs, unless the loans are deemed impaired. I mpairment
occurswhen it is deemed probable that we will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan. If aloanis
considered to be impaired, we will record an allowance to reduce the carrying value of the loan to the present value of expected future cash flows
discounted at the loan’s contractual effective rate. Significant judgment is required when evaluating loans for impairment, therefore, actual results
over time could be materially different.

Each loan classified as held for investment is evaluated for impairment on a quarterly basis. Loans are generally collateralized by real
estate or the equity of the real estate owner. The extent of any credit deterioration associated with the performance and/or value of the underlying
collateral property and the financial and operating capability of the borrower could impact the expected amounts received.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statementsincluded in thisannual report on Form 10-K, which describes recent accounting
pronouncements that we have adopted or are currently evaluating.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

On January 11, 2019, ACRE Commercial Mortgage 2017-FL 3 Ltd. (the “1ssuer”) and ACRE Commercial Mortgage
2017-FL3 LLC (the “Co-lssuer”), both wholly-owned indirect subsidiaries of ours, entered into an Amended and Restated Indenture (the
“Amended Indenture”) with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as advancing agent and note administrator, and Wilmington Trust, National
Association, astrustee, which governs the approximately $504.1 million principal balance of secured floating rate notes issued by the Issuer and
$52.9 million of preferred equity in the Issuer (the “2019 FL3 CLO Securitization”). The Amended Indenture amends and restates, and replacesin its
entirety, the indenture for the CL O Securitization issued in March 2017, which governed the issuance of approximately $308.8 million principal
balance of secured floating rate notes and $32.4 million of preferred equity in the I ssuer. After giving effect to the 2019 FL 3 CLO Securitization, we
retained (through one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries) approximately $58.5 million of the non-investment grade notes and all of the $52.9 million
of preferred equity in the Issuer, which notes and preferred equity were not offered to investors. The secured floating rate notes are collateralized
by interestsin apool of 17 mortgage assets having an aggregate principal balance of $557.0 million.

On February 6, 2019, we originated and fully funded a $30.0 million senior mortgage loan on a student housing property located in North
Carolina. Theloan has a per annum interest rate of LIBOR plus a spread of 3.15% (plus fees) and an initial term of three years.

On February 14, 2019, we originated a $100.6 million senior mortgage loan on a mixed-use property located in Florida. At closing, the
outstanding principal balance was approximately $37.0 million. The loan has a per annum interest rate of LIBOR plus 4.25% (plus fees) and an initial
term of two years.

On February 21, 2019, we declared a cash dividend of $0.33 per common share for the first quarter of 2019. The first quarter 2019 dividend
is payable on April 16, 2019 to common stockhol ders of record on March 29, 2019.
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RESULTSOF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
($in thousands):

For the years ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Net interest margin $ 55282 $ 46,348 % 45,107
Total expenses 16,240 14,970 14,426
Early extinguishment of debt costs — (768) —
Income from continuing oper ations befor e income taxes 39,042 30,610 30,681
Income tax expense, including excise tax 446 178 230
Net income from continuing operations 38,596 30,432 30,451
Net income from operations of discontinued operations, net of income taxes — — 4221
Gain on sale of discontinued operations — — 10,196
Net income attributableto ACRE 38,596 30,432 44,868
Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interests — (25) (4,532)
Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 385% $ 30407 $ 40,336

Thefollowing tables set forth select details of our consolidated results of operations from continuing operations for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 ($ in thousands):

Net Interest Margin

For the years ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Interest income from loans held for investment $ 118284 $ 97541 % 81,963
Interest expense (63,002 (51,193) (36,856)
Net interest margin $ 55282 $ 46,348 % 45,107

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, net interest margin was approximately $55.3 million and $46.3 million, respectively. For
the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, interest income from loans held for investment of $118.3 million and $97.5 million, respectively, was
generated by weighted average earning assets of $1.7 billion and $1.5 billion, respectively, offset by $63.0 million and $51.2 million, respectively, of
interest expense, unused fees and amortization of deferred loan costs. The weighted average borrowings under the Wells Fargo Facility, the
Citibank Facility, the BAML Facility, the CNB Facility, the MetLife Facility, the UBS Facility and the U.S. Bank Facility (individually defined below
and collectively, the “ Secured Funding Agreements”) and securiti zation debt and the Secured Term Loan (as defined below) were $1.3 billion and
$1.1 hillion for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Theincrease in interest income from loans held for investment and
interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 primarily relatesto an increase in our
weighted average earnings assets and weighted average borrowings as well as an increase in 30-day LIBOR for the year ended December 31, 2018.

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, net interest margin was approximately $46.3 million and $45.1 million, respectively. For
the years ended December 31, 2017 and 20186, interest income from loans held for investment of $97.5 million and $82.0 million, respectively, was
generated by weighted average earning assets of $1.5 billion and $1.3 hillion, respectively, offset by $51.2 million and $36.9 million, respectively, of
interest expense, unused fees and amortization of deferred loan costs. The weighted average borrowings under the Secured Funding Agreements
and securitization debt and the Secured Term Loan were $1.1 billion and $889.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. Theincreasein interest income from loans held for investment and interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared
to the year ended December 31, 2016 primarily relates to an increase in our weighted average earnings assets and weighted average borrowings for
the year ended December 31, 2017.
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Operating Expenses

The operating expenses below do not include expenses of ACRE Capital. See Note 13 to our consolidated financial statementsincludedin
this annual report on Form 10-K for more information about the operating expenses of ACRE Capital.

For the years ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Management and incentive feesto affiliate $ 7418 $ 6,569 $ 5,956
Professional fees 1,945 1,674 2,228
General and administrative expenses 3,307 2,828 2,801
General and administrative expenses reimbursed to affiliate 3,570 3,899 3,441
Total expenses $ 16,240 $ 14970 $ 14,426

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, we incurred operating expenses of $16.2 million and $15.0 million, respectively. As
discussed below, the increase in operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 primarily
relates to an increase in incentive fees due to our Manager, an increase in stock-based compensation expense and an increase in our use of third
party professionals due to changesin transaction activity year over year.

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, we incurred operating expenses of $15.0 million and $14.4 million, respectively. As
discussed below, the increase in operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 primarily
relates to an increase in management fees and general and administrative expenses due to our Manager that were allocated to continuing
operations for the year ended December 31, 2017 and partially offset by a decrease in our use of third party professionals due to changesin
transaction activity year over year.

Related Party Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2018, related party expenses included $7.4 million in management and incentive fees due to our Manager
pursuant to the Management Agreement, which consisted of $6.3 million in management fees and $1.2 million in incentive fees. For the year ended
December 31, 2018, related party expenses also included $3.6 million for our share of allocable general and administrative expenses for which we
were required to reimburse our Manager pursuant to the Management Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2017, related party expenses
included $6.6 million in management and incentive fees due to our Manager pursuant to the Management Agreement, which consisted of $6.2
million in management fees and $0.4 million in incentive fees. For the year ended December 31, 2017, related party expenses also included
$3.9 million for our share of alocable general and administrative expenses for which we were reguired to reimburse our Manager pursuant to the
Management Agreement. The management fees due to our Manager were relatively consistent for both periods. The increasein incentive fees due
to our Manager for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 primarily relates to an increase in our Core
Earnings (as defined below) for the year ended December 31, 2018. “ Core Earnings’ is a non-GAAP measure and is defined as GAAP net income
(loss) computed in accordance with GAAP, excluding non-cash equity compensation expense, the incentive fee, depreciation and amortization (to
the extent that any of our target investments are structured as debt and we foreclose on any properties underlying such debt), any unrealized
gains, losses or other non-cash items recorded in net income (loss) for the period, regardless of whether such items are included in other
comprehensive income or loss, or in net income (loss), and one-time events pursuant to changesin GAAP and certain non-cash charges after
discussions between our Manager and our independent directors and after approval by a majority of our independent directors. The decreasein
general and administrative expenses due to our Manager for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017
primarily relates to a decrease in the percentage of time allocated to us by employees of our Manager due to changes in transaction activity year
over year.

For the year ended December 31, 2017, related party expensesincluded $6.6 million in management and incentive fees due to our Manager
pursuant to the Management Agreement, which consisted of $6.2 million in management fees and $0.4 million in incentive fees. For the year ended
December 31, 2017, related party expenses also included $3.9 million for our share of allocable general and administrative expenses for which we
were required to reimburse our Manager pursuant to the Management Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2016, related party expenses
included $6.0 million in management and incentive fees due to our Manager pursuant to the Management Agreement, which consisted of $5.6
million in management fees and $0.3 million in incentive fees. For the year ended December 31, 2016, related party expenses also included $3.4
million for our share of allocable general and administrative expenses for which we were required to reimburse our Manager
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pursuant to the Management Agreement. The increase in management fees due to our Manager for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to
the year ended December 31, 2016 primarily relates to an increase in management fees that were allocated to continuing operations subsequent to
the closing of the ACRE Capital Sale on September 30, 2016. The incentive fees due to our Manager were relatively consistent for both periods.
Theincreasein general and administrative expenses due to our Manager for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2016 primarily relatesto an increase in general and administrative expenses that were allocated to continuing operations as
employees of our Manager allocated a significant percentage of their time during the year ended December 31, 2016 to discontinued operations for
due diligence work associated with the closing of the ACRE Capital Sale.

Other Expenses

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, professional fees were $1.9 million and $1.7 million, respectively. Theincreasein
professional feesfor the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 primarily relates to an increase in our use of
third party professionals due to changesin transaction activity year over year. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, general and
administrative expenses were $3.3 million and $2.8 million, respectively. The increase in general and administrative expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 primarily relatesto an increase in stock-based compensation expense due to new
restricted stock grants awarded after December 31, 2017.

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, professional feeswere $1.7 million and $2.2 million, respectively. The decreasein
professional fees for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 primarily relatesto a decrease in our use of
third party professionals due to changesin transaction activity year over year. For both the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, general and
administrative expenses were $2.8 million.

Early Extinguishment of Debt Costs

In December 2017, we voluntarily elected to repay $45.0 million of outstanding principal on our Secured Term Loan (as defined below)
prior to the scheduled maturity as permitted by the contractual terms of the Secured Term Loan. For the year ended December 31, 2017, we incurred
early extinguishment of debt costs of $0.8 million, which was a non-cash charge incurred in connection with the $45.0 million repayment of
outstanding principal on the Secured Term Loan. The early extinguishment of debt costs was comprised of the pro-rata share of the unamortized
deferred debt issuance costs and original issue discounts being allocated to the outstanding principal that was repaid.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Liquidity isameasure of our ability to meet potential cash requirements, including ongoing commitments to repay
borrowings, fund and maintain our assets and operations, make distributions to our stockholders and other general business needs. We use
significant cash to purchase our target investments, make principal and interest payments on our borrowings, make distributions to our
stockholders and fund our operations. Our primary sources of cash generally consist of unused borrowing capacity under our Secured Funding
Agreements, the net proceeds of future offerings, payments of principal and interest we receive on our portfolio of assets and cash generated from
our operating activities. However, principal repayments from mortgage |oans in securitizations where we retain the subordinate securities are
applied sequentialy, first used to pay down the senior notes, and accordingly, we will not receive any proceeds from repayment of loansin the
securitizations until all senior notes arerepaid in full. Subject to maintaining our qualification asa REIT and our exemption from the 1940 Act, we
expect that our primary sources of financing will be, to the extent available to us, through (a) credit, secured funding and other lending facilities,
(b) securitizations, (c) other sources of private financing, including warehouse and repurchase facilities, and (d) public or private offerings of our
equity or debt securities. We may seek to sell certain of our investmentsin order to manage liquidity needs, interest rate risk, meet other operating
objectives and adapt to market conditions. In instances where we do not have sufficient available liquidity to originate mortgage |oans, Ares
Management or one of itsinvestment vehicles may originate such mortgage loans and we may have the opportunity to purchase such loans that
are determined by our Manager in good faith to be appropriate for us, once we have sufficient available liquidity.

Equity Offerings

There were no sharesissued in public offerings of our equity securities for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.
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Cash Flows

The following table sets forth changes in cash, cash equival ents and restricted cash for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016, which areinclusive of amounts related to discontinued operations ($ in thousands):

For theyears ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016

Net income $ 385% $ 30432 % 44,868
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities: 622 844 (49,358)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 39,218 31,276 (4,490)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 157,924 (405,768) (60,297)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (214,396) 355,569 73,057
Change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ (17254) ¢ (18923) $ 8,270

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash increased (decreased) by $(17.3)
million, $(18.9) million and $8.3 million, respectively.

Operating Activities

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, net cash provided by operating activities totaled $39.2 million and $31.3 million,
respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2018, adjustments to net income rel ated to operating activities primarily included accretion of
deferred loan origination fees and costs of $6.9 million and amortization of deferred financing costs of $5.7 million. For the year ended December 31,
2017, adjustments to net income related to operating activities primarily included accretion of deferred loan origination fees and costs of $6.6
million, amortization of deferred financing costs of $7.6 million and change in other assets of $2.5 million.

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, net cash provided by (used in) operating activities totaled $31.3 million and $(4.5)
million, respectively. This change in net cash provided by (used in) operating activities was primarily related to the cash used to originate and fund
mortgage loans held for sale exceeding the proceeds received from the sale of mortgage loans held for sale to third parties for the year ended
December 31, 2016. For the year ended December 31, 2017, adjustments to net income rel ated to operating activities primarily included accretion of
deferred loan origination fees and costs of $6.6 million, amortization of deferred financing costs of $7.6 million and change in other assets of $2.5
million. For the year ended December 31, 2016, adjustmentsto net income related to operating activities primarily included originations of mortgage
loans held for sale of $639.4 million, sale of mortgage loans held for sale to third parties of $571.7 million, change in the fair value of mortgage
servicing rights (“MSRs") of $6.5 million, gain on sale of discontinued operations of $10.2 million, change in other assets of $40.0 million and
change in other lighilities of $10.1 million.

Investing Activities

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, net cash provided by (used in) investing activities totaled $157.9 million and $(405.8)
million, respectively. This change in net cash provided by (used in) investing activities was primarily as aresult of the cash received from principal
repayment of loans held for investment exceeding the cash used for the origination of new loans held for investment for the year ended December
31, 2018.

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, net cash used in investing activities totaled $405.8 million and $60.3 million, respectively.
This change in net cash used in investing activities was primarily as aresult of the cash used for the origination of new loans held for investment
exceeding the cash received from principal repayment of loans held for investment and proceeds from the sale of mortgage loans held for sale for
the year ended December 31, 2017.

Financing Activities
For the year ended December 31, 2018, net cash used in financing activities totaled $214.4 million and primarily related to repayments of

our Secured Funding Agreements of $822.2 million and dividends paid of $32.1 million, partially offset by proceeds from our Secured Funding
Agreements of $642.2 million.
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For the year ended December 31, 2017, net cash provided by financing activities totaled $355.6 million and primarily related to proceeds
from our Secured Funding Agreements of $923.9 million and proceeds from the issuance of debt of consolidated VIEs of $272.9 million, partialy
offset by repayments of our Secured Funding Agreements of $746.6 million, repayments of our Secured Term Loan (as defined below) of $45.0
million and dividends paid of $30.5 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, net cash provided by financing activities totaled $73.1 million and primarily related to proceeds
from our Secured Funding Agreements of $1.3 billion, proceeds from our Warehouse Lines of Credit (as defined below) of $863.4 million and
proceeds from our Secured Term Loan (as defined below) of $80.0 million, partially offset by repayments of our Secured Funding Agreements of
$1.0 hillion, repayments of debt of consolidated VIEs of $255.3 million, repayments of our Warehouse Lines of Credit of $795.7 million and
dividends paid of $29.4 million.

We, through our previously owned subsidiary, ACRE Capital, borrowed funds under the ASAP Line of Credit and the BAML Line of
Credit (individually defined below and together, the “Warehouse Lines of Credit”). ACRE Capital was party to an $80.0 million multifamily as soon
as pooled sale agreement (the “ ASAP Line of Credit”) with the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mag”) to finance installments
received from Fannie Mae. ACRE Capital was party to a$135.0 million line of credit agreement with Bank of America, N.A. (as amended and
restated, the “BAML Line of Credit”), which was used to finance mortgage loans originated by ACRE Capital.

Summary of Financing Agreements

The sources of financing, as applicablein agiven period, under our Secured Funding Agreements and the Secured Term Loan
(collectively, the “ Financing Agreements”) are described in the following table ($ in thousands):

Asof December 31,

2018 2017
Total Outstanding Total Outstanding
Commitment Balance Interest Rate Maturity Date Commitment Balance Interest Rate Maturity Date
Secured Funding Agreements:
Wells Fargo LIBOR+1.50to December 14, LIBOR+1.75t0 December 14,
Facility $ 500,000 $ 274,071 2.25% 2020 @b $ 500,000 $ 407,853 2.35% 2018 2)
Citibank LIBOR+1.50to December 13, LIBOR+2.25t0 December 10,
Facility 325,000 184,003 2.50% 2021 2 250,000 (2) 175,651 2.50% 2018 )
BAML
Facility 125,000 36,280 LIBOR+2.00% May 23,2019 (3) 125,000 78,320 LIBOR+2.00% May 24,2018 (3)
March 10, March 11,
CNB Facility 50,000 — LIBOR+3.00% 2019 (4) 50,000 — LIBOR+3.00% 2018 (4)
MetLife August 12, August 12,
Facility 180,000 135,145 LIBOR+2.30% 2020 (5) 180,000 101,131 LIBOR+2.30% 2020 (5)
LIBOR+1.88t0 October 21,
UBS Facility — — — — (6) 140,000 34,000 2.28% (6) 2018
U.S. Bank LIBOR+1.75t0 LIBOR+1.85t0
Facility 185,989 148,475 2.25% July 31,2020 (7) 185,989 161,005 2.25% July 31, 2020 (7)
Subtotal $ 1,365,989 $ 777,974 $ 1,430,989 $ 957,960
Secured Term December 22, December 22,
Loan $ 110,000 $ 110,000 LIBOR+5.00% 2020 8 $ 110,000 $ 110,000 LIBOR+5.00% 2020 (8)
Total $ 1,475,989 $ 887,974 $ 1,540,989 $ 1,067,960
1) The maturity date of the master repurchase funding facility with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (the “Wells Fargo Facility”) is

subject to three 12-month extensions at our option provided that certain conditions are met and applicable extension fees are paid. In
December 2018, we amended the Wells Fargo Facility to extend the initial maturity date to December 14, 2020 and decrease the interest rate
on advances to a per annum rate equal to the sum of one-month LIBOR plus a pricing margin range of 1.50% to 2.25%.

2 The maturity date of the master repurchase facility with Citibank, N.A. (the “ Citibank Facility”) is subject to two 12-month extensions at
our option provided that certain conditions are met and applicable extension fees are paid. As of December 31, 2017, the Citibank Facility
had an accordion feature that provided for an increase in the $250.0 million commitment amount with respect to approved assets, as
determined by Citibank, N.A. inits sole discretion. In December 2018, we amended the Citibank Facility to increase the facility’s
commitment amount from $250.0 million to $325.0 million, extend the initial maturity date to December 13, 2021, decrease the interest rate on
advancesto a per
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annum rate equal to the sum of one-month LIBOR plus an indicative pricing margin range of 1.50% to 2.25% and remove the accordion
feature.

(3 Individual advances on loans under the Bridge L oan Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement with Bank of America, N.A. (the
“BAML Facility”) generally have atwo-year maturity, subject to a 12-month extension at our option provided that certain conditions are
met and applicable extension fees are paid. In May 2018, we amended the BAML Facility to extend the period during which we may
reguest individual loans under the facility to May 23, 2019. In addition, the final maturity date of individua loans under the BAML Facility
was extended to May 23, 2022.

4 The maturity date of the secured revolving funding facility with City National Bank (the “ CNB Facility”) is subject to one 12-month
extension at our option provided that certain conditions are met and applicable extension fees are paid. In February 2018, we exercised a
12-month extension option on the CNB Facility to extend the maturity date to March 10, 2019.

5 The maturity date of the revolving master repurchase facility with Metropolitan Life Insurance Company (the “ MetLife Facility”) is
subject to two 12-month extensions at our option provided that certain conditions are met and applicable extension fees are paid.
(6) The interest rate on advances under the revolving master repurchase facility with UBS Real Estate Securities Inc. (the “ UBS Facility”) was

the sum of one-month LIBOR plus (i) 1.88% per annum, for assets that were subject to an advance for one year or less, (ii) 2.08% per
annum, for assets that were subject to an advance in excess of one year but |ess than two years, and (iii) 2.28% per annum, for assets that
were subject to an advance for more than two years. In October 2018, the UBS Facility matured. The UBS Facility had been repaid in full
and its term was not extended.

W) The maturity date of the master repurchase and securities contract with U.S. Bank National Association (the“U.S. Bank Facility”) is
subject to two 12-month extensions at our option provided that certain conditions are met and applicable extension fees are paid.

(8) The maturity date of the Credit and Guaranty Agreement with the lenders referred to therein and Cortland Capital Market ServicesLLC, as
administrative agent and collateral agent for the lenders (the “ Secured Term Loan”), is subject to one 12-month extension at our option
provided that certain conditions are met.

Our Financing Agreements contain various affirmative and negative covenants, including negative pledges, and provisions related to
events of default that are normal and customary for similar financing agreements. As of December 31, 2018, we were in compliance with al financial
covenants of each respective Financing Agreement. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statementsincluded in this annual report on Form 10-
K for moreinformation on our Financing Agreements.

Securitizations

We may seek to enhance the returns on our senior mortgage loan investments through securitizations, if available. To the extent available,
we intend to securitize the senior portion of some of our loans, while retaining the subordinate securitiesin our investment portfolio. The
securitization of this senior portion will be accounted for as either a“ sale” and the loans will be removed from our bal ance sheet or as a*“financing”
and will be classified as“loans held for investment” in our consolidated balance sheets, depending upon the structure of the securitization. As of
December 31, 2018, the carrying amount and outstanding principal of our CL O Securitization was $270.7 million and $272.9 million, respectively. See
Note 12 to our consolidated financial statementsincluded in thisannual report on Form 10-K for additional terms and details of our CLO
Securitization. See “ Recent Developments’ and Note 15 to our consolidated financial statementsincluded in this annual report on Form 10-K for a
subsequent event related to the CLO Securitization.

Capital Markets

We may periodically raise additional capital through public offerings of debt and equity securitiesto fund new investments. On June 6,
2016, wefiled aregistration statement on Form S-3 with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“ SEC”), which became effective on August 29,
2016, in order to permit usto offer, from time to time, in one or more offerings or series of offerings up to $1.25 billion of our common stock,
preferred stock, debt securities, subscription rights to purchase shares of our common stock, warrants representing rights to purchase shares of
our common stock, preferred stock or debt securities, or units.

Other Sourcesof Financing
In addition to the sources of liquidity described above, in the future, we may also use other sources of financing to fund the origination or
acquisition of our target investments or to refinance expiring Financing Agreements and securitizations, including other credit facilities, warehouse

facilities, repurchase facilities, non-convertible or convertible debt, securitized
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financings and other public and private forms of borrowing. These financings may be issued by us or our subsidiaries, be collateralized or non-
collateralized, accrue interest at either fixed or floating rates and may involve one or more lenders.

L everage Policies

We intend to use prudent amounts of leverage to increase potential returnsto our stockholders. To that end, subject to maintaining our
qualification asaREIT and our exemption from registration under the 1940 Act, we intend to continue to use borrowings to fund the origination or
acquisition of our target investments. Given current market conditions and our focus on first or senior mortgages, we currently expect that such
leverage would not exceed, on adebt-to-equity basis, a4-to-1 ratio. Our charter and bylaws do not restrict the amount of leverage that we may use.
The amount of leverage we will deploy for particular investmentsin our target investments will depend upon our Manager’s assessment of a
variety of factors, which may include, among others, the anticipated liquidity and price volatility of the assets in our investment portfolio, the
potential for losses and extension risk in our portfolio, the gap between the duration of our assets and liabilities, including hedges, the availability
and cost of financing the assets, our opinion of the creditworthiness of our financing counterparties, the health of the U.S. economy generally or in
specific geographic regions and commercial mortgage markets, our outlook for the level and volatility of interest rates, the slope of theyield curve,
the credit quality of our assets, the collateral underlying our assets, and our outlook for asset spreads relative to the LIBOR curve.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONSAND COMMITMENTS

Our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2018 are described in the following table ($ in thousands):

Lessthan Morethan
Total 1 year 1to3years 3to5years 5years
Wells Fargo Facility $ 274071  $ — 274071 3 — $ =
Citibank Facility 184,003 — 184,003 — —
BAML Fecility 36,280 36,280 - = =
CNB Facility — — — — —
MetLife Facility 135,145 = 135,145 = =
U.S. Bank Facility 148,475 — 148,475 — —
Secured Term Loan 110,000 — 110,000 — —
Future Loan Funding Commitments 142,872 13,055 122,052 7,765 —
Total $ 1,030,846 $ 49335 § 973,746 $ 7,765 $ =

The table above does not include the related interest expense under the Secured Funding Agreements and the Secured Term Loan, as all
our interest isvariable. Additionally, the table above does not include extension options, as applicable, under the Secured Funding Agreements.

We may enter into certain contracts that may contain avariety of indemnification obligations, principally with underwriters and
counterparties to repurchase agreements. The maximum potential future payment amount we could be required to pay under these indemnification
obligations may be unlimited.

M anagement Agreement

We are also required to pay our Manager a base management fee of 1.5% of our stockholders' equity per year, an incentive fee and
expense reimbursements pursuant to our Management Agreement. The table above does not include the amounts payabl e to our Manager under
our Management Agreement as they are not fixed and determinable. See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statementsincluded in this annual
report on Form 10-K for additional terms and details of the fees payable under our Management Agreement.

DIVIDENDS

We elected to be taxed asa REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, anticipate annually distributing to our stockholders at
least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains. To the extent
that we distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income in any tax year (taking into account any distributions made in a subsequent tax year
under Sections 857(b)(9) or 858 of the Code), we will pay tax at
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regular corporate rates on that undistributed portion. Furthermore, if a REIT distributes |ess than the sum of 85% of its ordinary income for the
calendar year, 95% of its capital gain net income for the calendar year plus any undistributed shortfall from its prior calendar year (the “ Required
Distribution™) to its stockhol ders during any calendar year (including any distributions declared by the last day of the calendar year but paid in the
subsequent year), then it isrequired to pay non-deductible excise tax equal to 4% of any shortfall between the Required Distribution and the
amount that was actually distributed. Any of these taxes would decrease cash available for distribution to our stockholders. The 90% distribution
requirement does not require the distribution of net capital gains. However, if aREIT electsto retain any of its net capital gain for any tax year, it
must notify its stockholders and pay tax at regular corporate rates on the retained net capital gain. The stockholders must include their
proportionate share of the retained net capital gain in their taxable income for the tax year, and they are deemed to have paid the REI T’ s tax on their
proportionate share of the retained capital gain. Furthermore, such retained capital gain may be subject to the nondeductible 4% excise tax. If we
determine that our estimated current year taxable income (including net capital gain) will bein excess of estimated dividend distributions (including
capital gains dividends) for the current year from such income, we accrue excise tax on a portion of the estimated excess taxable income as such
taxable incomeis earned.

Before we make any distributions, whether for U.S. federal income tax purposes or otherwise, we must first meet both our operating
requirements and debt service on our Financing Agreements and other debt payable. If our cash available for distribution islessthan our REIT
taxable income, we could be required to sell assets or borrow funds to make cash distributions or we may make a portion of the Required
Distribution in the form of ataxable stock distribution or distribution of debt securities.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We have commitments to fund various senior mortgage loans, as well as subordinated debt and preferred equity investmentsin our
portfolio.

Other than as set forth in this annual report on Form 10-K, we do not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured investment vehicles, specia purpose entities or VIEs, established to facilitate off-
balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. Further, we have not guaranteed any obligations of unconsolidated
entities or entered into any commitment or intend to provide additional funding to any such entities.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

As part of our risk management strategy, our Manager closely monitors our portfolio and actively manages the credit, interest rate,
market, prepayment, real estate inflation and financing risks associated with holding a portfolio of our target investments. We manage our portfolio
through an interactive process with our Manager and Ares Management. Our Manager has an Investment Committee that oversees compliance
with our investment strategy and guidelines, investment portfolio holdings and financing strategy. We seek to manage our risksrelated to the
credit quality of our assets, interest rates, liquidity, prepayment speeds and market value while, at the same time, seeking to provide an opportunity
to stockholders to realize attractive risk-adjusted returns through ownership of our capital stock. While we do not seek to avoid risk completely, we
believe the risks can be quantified from historical experience and seek to actively manage those risks, to earn sufficient compensation to justify
taking those risks and to maintain capital |evels consistent with the risks we undertake.

Credit Risk

We are subject to varying degrees of credit risk in connection with holding our target investments. We have exposure to credit risk on our
CRE loans and other target investments in our business. Our Manager seeks to manage credit risk by performing our due diligence process prior to
origination or acquisition and through the use of non-recourse financing, when and where available and appropriate. Credit risk is also addressed
through our Manager’s ongoing review of our investment portfolio. In addition, with respect to any particular target investment, our Manager's
investment team evaluates, among other things, relative valuation, comparable analysis, supply and demand trends, shape of yield curves,
delinguency and default rates, recovery of various sectors and vintage of collateral. See “Management’s Discussion And Analysis Of Financial
Condition And Results Of Operations - Factors Impacting Our Operating Results’ regarding our performance monitoring methodology.

I nterest Rate Risk

Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors, including fiscal and monetary policies and domestic and international economic and
political considerations, aswell as other factors beyond our control. We are subject to interest rate risk in connection with our assets and our
related financing obligations, including our borrowings under the Financing
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Agreements. We primarily originate or acquire floating rate mortgage assets and finance those assets with index-matched floating rate liabilities.
Asaresult, we significantly reduce our exposure to changes in portfolio value and cash flow variability related to changesin interest rates.
However, we regularly measure our exposure to interest rate risk and assess interest rate risk and manage our interest rate exposure on an ongoing
basis by comparing our interest rate sensitive assets to our interest rate sensitive liabilities. Based on that review, we determine whether or not we
should enter into hedging transactions and derivative financial instruments, such as forward sale commitments and interest rate floorsin order to
mitigate our exposure to changesin interest rates.

While hedging activities may mitigate our exposure to adverse fluctuationsin interest rates, certain hedging transactions that we may
enter into in the future, such as interest rate swap agreements, may also limit our ability to participate in the benefits of lower interest rates with
respect to our investments. In addition, there can be no assurance that we will be able to effectively hedge our interest rate risk.

In addition to the risks related to fluctuations in asset values and cash flows associated with movementsin interest rates, there is also the
risk of non-performance on floating rate assets. In the case of asignificant increasein interest rates, the additional debt service payments due from
our borrowers may strain the operating cash flows of the real estate assets underlying our mortgages and, potentially, contribute to non-
performance or, in severe cases, default.

I nterest Rate Effect on Net I nterest Margin

Our operating results depend in large part on differences between the income earned on our assets and our cost of borrowing. The cost of our
borrowings generally is based on prevailing market interest rates. During a period of rising interest rates, our borrowing costs generally increase
whilethe yields earned on our leveraged fixed-rate mortgage assets remain static, which could result in adeclinein our net interest spread and net
interest margin.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the following fluctuations in the average 30-day LIBOR would have resulted in the following
increases in net interest margin on our loans held for investment ($ in millions):

For the year ended
Changein Average 30-Day LIBOR December 31, 2018

Up 300 basis points $ 11.4
Up 200 basis points $ 7.6
Up 100 basis points $ 38
Down to 0 basis points $ 8.2

The severity of any such impact depends on our asset/liability composition at the time aswell as the magnitude and duration of the
interest rate increase and any applicable floors and caps. Further, an increase in short-term interest rates could also have a negative impact on the
market value of our target investments. If any of these events happen, we could experience a decrease in net income or incur anet loss during
these periods, which could adversely affect our liquidity and results of operations.

I nterest Rate Cap and Floor Risk

We primarily originate or acquire floating rate mortgage assets. These are assets in which the mortgages may be subject to periodic and
lifetime interest rate caps and floors, which limit the amount by which the asset’sinterest yield changes during any given period. However, our
borrowing costs pursuant to our Financing Agreements sometimes are not subject to similar restrictions or have different floors and caps. Asa
result, in aperiod of increasing interest rates, interest rate costs on our borrowings could increase without limitation by caps, while the interest rate
yields on our floating rate mortgage assets could be limited if we do not implement effective caps. In addition, floating rate mortgage assets may be
subject to periodic payment caps that result in some portion of the interest being deferred and added to the principal outstanding. This could
result in our receipt of less cash income on such assets than we would need to pay the interest cost on our related borrowings. In addition, in a
period of decreasing interest rates, the interest rate yields on our floating rate mortgage assets could decrease, while the interest rate costs on
certain of our borrowings could be fixed at a higher floor. These factors could lower our net interest income or cause a net |oss during periods of
decreasing interest rates, which would harm our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
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Market Risk

The estimated fair values of our investments fluctuate primarily due to changesin interest rates and other factors. Generaly, inarising
interest rate environment, the estimated fair value of the fixed-rate securities would be expected to decrease; conversely, in adecreasing interest
rate environment, the estimated fair value of the fixed-rate securities would be expected to increase. As market volatility increases or liquidity
decreases, the fair value of our investments may be adversely impacted.

Prepayment and Securitizations Repayment Risk

Our net income and earnings may be affected by prepayment rates on our existing CRE loans. When we originate our CRE |oans, we
anticipate that we will generate an expected yield. When borrowers prepay their CRE loans faster than we expect, we may be unable to replace
these CRE loans with new CRE loans that will generate yields which are as high as the prepaid CRE loans. Additionally, principal repayment
proceeds from mortgage loans in the CLO Securitization are applied sequentially, first used to pay down the senior CLO Securitization notes. We
will not receive any proceeds from the repayment of loansin the CLO Securitization until all senior notes are repaid in full.

Financing Risk

We borrow funds under our Financing Agreements to finance our target assets. Over time, as market conditions change, in addition to
these financings, we may use other forms of leverage. Weakness or volatility in the financial markets, the commercial real estate and mortgage
markets and the economy generally could adversely affect one or more of our potential lenders and could cause one or more of our potential
lenders to be unwilling or unable to provide us with financing or to increase the costs of that financing.

Real Estate Risk

Our real estate investments are subject to volatility and may be affected adversely by a number of factors, including, but not limited to,
national, regional and local economic conditions (which may be adversely affected by industry slowdowns and other factors); local real estate
conditions; changes or continued weakness in specific industry segments; local markets with a significant exposure to the energy sector;
construction quality, age and design; demographic factors; and retroactive changes to building or similar codes. In addition, decreasesin property
values reduce the value of the collateral and the potential proceeds available to aborrower to repay the underlying loan or loans, as the case may
be, which could also cause us to suffer losses. We seek to manage these risks through our underwriting and asset management processes.

I nflation Risk

Virtually all of our assets and liabilities are sensitive to interest rates. As aresult, interest rates and other factors influence our
performance far more so than doesinflation. Changesin interest rates do not necessarily correlate with inflation rates or changesin inflation rates.
In each case, in general, our activities and bal ance sheet are measured with reference to historical cost and/or fair market value without considering
inflation.

Item 8. Financial Statementsand Supplementary Data

See the Index to Consolidated Financial Statementsincluded in thisannual report on Form 10-K.
Item 9. Changes|n and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A. Controlsand Procedures

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as that term is defined in Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports under the
Exchange Act isrecorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated,
can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. Our management, with the participation of our principal

executive officer
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and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2018. Based upon that eval uation and subject to the foregoing, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer
concluded that, as of December 31, 2018, the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to accomplish their
objectives at the reasonable assurance level.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financia reporting for the Company. Internal control over financial reporting is a processto provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting for external purposesin accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. Internal control over financial reporting includes maintaining records that in reasonabl e detail accurately
and fairly reflect our transactions; providing reasonabl e assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary for preparation of our consolidated
financial statements; providing reasonabl e assurance that recei pts and expenditures of company assets are made in accordance with management
authorization; and providing reasonabl e assurance that unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of company assets that could have a material
effect on our consolidated financial statements would be prevented or detected on atimely basis. Because of itsinherent limitations, internal
control over financial reporting is not intended to provide absol ute assurance that a material misstatement of our consolidated financial statements
would be prevented or detected.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this
evaluation, management concluded that the Company'sinternal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2018. The
Company's independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, hasissued an audit report on the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control over financial reporting.

(c) Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm. Our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP,
has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting which is set forth under the heading “ Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” on page F-2.

(d) Changesin Internal Control over Financial Reporting. There have been no changesin our internal control over financial reporting
(asdefined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2018 that have materially affected, or
that are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officersand Corporate Gover nance

The information required by thisitem will be contained in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2019 Annual Stockholder
Meeting, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2018, and isincorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Theinformation required by thisitem will be contained in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2019 Annual Stockholder
Meeting, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2018, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownersand Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Theinformation required by thisitem will be contained in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2019 Annual Stockhol der
Meeting, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2018, and isincorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationshipsand Related Party Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by thisitem will be contained in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2019 Annual Stockholder
Meeting, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2018, and isincorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Feesand Services

Theinformation required by thisitem will be contained in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2019 Annual Stockholder
Meeting, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2018, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibitsand Financial Statement Schedules

Thefollowing documents are filed as part of this annual report:

1. Financia Statements—See the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on Page F-1.

2. Financial Statement Schedules—None. We have omitted financial statement schedul es because they are not required or are not
applicable, or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

3. Exhibits.

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description
21 * Purchase and Sale Agreement, among Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation and Cornerstone Real Estate AdvisersLLC.(1)
2.2 * Waiver and Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement, dates as of September 29, 2016, among Ares Commercial Real Estate
Corporation and Barings Real Estate Advisers LLC (formerly known as Cornerstone Real Estate Advisers LLC).(24)
31 *  Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation.(2)
3.2 *  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation.(3)

10.1 * Registration Rights Agreement, dated April 25, 2012, between Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation and Ares Investments
Holdings LLC.(4)

10.2 * Management Agreement, dated April 25, 2012, between Ares Commercia Real Estate Management LLC and Ares Commercial Real
Estate Corporation.(5)

10.3 *  Trademark License Agreement, dated April 25, 2012, between Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation and Ares
Management LLC.(4)

104 *  Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.(34)#

10.5 * Form of Restricted Stock Agreement.(6)#

10.6 * Form of Restricted Stock Agreement with officers.(34)#

10.7 *  Form of Indemnification Agreement with directors and certain officers.(4)#

10.8 * Form of Indemnification Agreement with members of the Investment Committee and/or Underwriting Committee of Ares
Commercial Real Estate Management LLC.(4)#

10.9 * Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 30, 2013, among Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation, Alliant Inc. and
The Alliant Company, LLC.(7)

10.10 *  Credit Agreement, dated as of March 12, 2014, by and among ACRC Lender LLC, as borrower, City National Bank, a national
banking association, as arranger and administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto.(8)

1011  * Genera Continuing Guaranty, dated as of March 12, 2014, by Ares Commercia Real Estate Corporation, as guarantor, in favor of
City National Bank, a national banking association, as arranger and administrative agent.(8)

1012  * Security Agreement, dated as of March 12, 2014, by ACRC Lender LLC, as borrower, in favor of City National Bank, anational
banking association, as arranger and administrative agent.(8)

1013  * |Intercompany Subordination Agreement, dated as of March 12, 2014, by and among ACRC Lender LLC, as borrower, and Ares
Commercial Real Estate Corporation, as guarantor, in favor of City National Bank, a national banking association, as arranger and
administrative agent.(8)

10.14 *  Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of April 9, 2014, among ACRC Lender U LLC and ACRC Lender U TRSLLC, assellers,
ACRC Lender U Mezz LLC, as mezzanine subsidiary, Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation, as guarantor, and UBS Real Estate
Securities Inc., as buyer.(9)

1015 * Guaranty Agreement, dated as of April 9, 2014, by Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation in favor of UBS Real Estate
Securities Inc.(9)

10.16 * Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of August 13, 2014, between ACRC Lender ML LLC, asseller, and Metropolitan Life
Insurance Company, as buyer.(10)

1017  * Guaranty, dated as of August 13, 2014, by Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation in favor of Metropolitan Life Insurance

Company.(10)
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

10.18 Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2014, by and between ACRC Lender C LLC, as seller, and Citibank, N.A.,
asbuyer.(11)

10.19 Omnibus Amendment To Other Transaction Documents and Reaffirmation of Guaranty, dated as of December 8, 2014, by and
among ACRC Lender CLLC, ACRC Lender LLC, Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation and Citibank, N.A.(11)

10.20 Amendment Number One to Credit Agreement and Consent, dated as of July 30, 2014, by and anong ACRC Lender LLC, as
borrower, City National Bank, a national banking association, as arranger and administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto.
(12)

10.21 Bridge Loan Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of May 27, 2015, by and among ACRC Lender B LLC, Bank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent and L ender and the other Lenders.(13)

10.22 Guaranty Agreement, dated as of May 27, 2015, by Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation, in favor of Bank of America, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent and Lender and for the benefit of the other Lenders.(13)

10.23 Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of May 27, 2015, by and between ACRC Lender LLC and Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent and Lender and for the benefit of the other Lenders.(13)

10.24 Amendment No. 2 to Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of October 21, 2015, among ACRC Lender U LLC and ACRC Lender
U TRSLLC, assdllers, ACRC Lender U Mezz LLC, as mezzanine subsidiary, Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation, as
guarantor and UBS Real Estate Securities, Inc., as buyer.(14)

10.25 Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of December 9, 2015 by and among Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation, as
borrower and ACRC Holdings LLC, ACRC Mezz Holdings LLC, ACRC CP Investor LL C and ACRC Warehouse Holdings LLC, as
guarantors, the lenders party thereto, Highbridge Principal Strategies, LLC, as administrative agent and DBD Credit Funding LLC,
as collateral agent.(15)

10.26 Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of December 9, 2015 among Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation, ACRC
Holdings LLC, ACRC Mezz Holdings LLC, ACRC CP Investor LLC, ACRC Warehouse Holdings LLC and ACRC Lender and DBD
Credit Funding LLC, as collateral agent for the lenders.(15)

10.27 Negative Pledge Agreement, dated as of December 9, 2015 by Ares Commercia Real Estate Corporation, ACRC KA JV
Investor LLC, ACRC Lender LLC, ACRC Champions Investor L L C and ACRE Capital Holdings LLC in favor of DBD Credit
Funding LLC, as collateral agent for the lenders.(15)

10.28 Amendment No. 2 to Bridge L oan Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement dated as of February 26, 2016, among ACRC
Lender B LLC and Bank Of America, N.A.(16)

10.29 Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement dated as of February 26, 2016, by and among ACRC Lender LLC, as borrower, City
National Bank, a national banking association, as arranger and administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto.(16)

10.30 Amendment No. 3 to Bridge Loan Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement dated as of May 26, 2016, anong ACRC Lender B
LLC and Bank of America, N.A.(17)

10.31 First Amendment to Master Repurchase Agreement and Guaranty dated as of July 13, 2016, anong ACRC Lender CLLC, as
borrower, Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation, as guarantor, and Citibank, N.A., as lender.(18)

10.32 Second Amendment to Master Repurchase Agreement and Guaranty dated as of July 13, 2016, anong ACRC Lender CLLC, as
borrower, Ares Commercia Real Estate Corporation, as guarantor, and Citibank, N.A., as lender.(19)

10.33 Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement dated as of July 29, 2016, by and among ACRC Lender LLC, City National Bank, anational
banking association, as arranger and administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto.(18)

10.34 Master Repurchase and Securities Contract dated as of August 1, 2016, between ACRC Lender USLLC and U.S. Bank National
Association.(18)

10.35 Payment Guaranty, dated as of August 1, 2016, by Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation in favor of U.S. Bank National
Association.(18)

10.36 Amended and Restated Bridge L oan Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of August 8, 2016, by and among
ACRC Lender B LLC, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Lender and the other L enders.(20)

10.37 Amendment to Guaranty, dated as of September 22, 2016, by Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation, as guarantor, and
Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, as buyer.(21)

10.38 Assignment and Amendment No. 1 to Custodial Agreement, dated November 2, 2016, among ACRC Lender U LLC and ACRC

Lender U TRSLLC, assdllers, ACRC Lender U Mezz LLC, as mezzanine subsidiary, UBS Real Estate Securities Inc., as assignor,
UBSAG, asassignee, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Custodian.(31)
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

10.39

10.52
10.53

1054

Assignment and Amendment No. 3 to Master Repurchase Agreement, dated November 2, 2016, among ACRC Lender U LLC and
ACRC Lender U TRSLLC, assellers, ACRC Lender U Mezz LLC, as mezzanine subsidiary, UBS Real Estate Securities, Inc., as
assignor, UBS AG, as assignee, and Ares Commercia Real Estate Corporation, as guarantor.(31)

Assignment and Reaffirmation of Guaranty, dated November 2, 2016, among UBS Real Estate Securities Inc., as assignor, UBS
AG, asassignee, and Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation, as guarantor.(31)

Amendment No. 3 to Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of December 8, 2016, by and among, ACRC Lender CLLC, Ares
Commercial Real Estate Corporation, as Guarantor, and Citibank, N.A., anational banking association, as Buyer.(22)

Amendment No. 4 to Credit Agreement and Amendment No. 1 to General Continuing Guaranty dated as of December 27, 2016, by
and among, by and among ACRC Lender LLC, as borrower, Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation, as Guarantor and City
National Bank, a national banking association, as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto.(31)

Reaffirmation and Consent to Amendment No. 4 to Credit Agreement and Amendment No. 1 to General Continuing Guaranty
dated as of December 27, 2016, by and among, by and among ACRC Lender LLC, as borrower, Ares Commercial Real Estate
Corporation, as Guarantor and City National Bank, anational banking association, as administrative agent, and the lenders party
thereto.(31)

Amendment No. 5 to Credit Agreement dated as of March 2, 2017, by and anong ACRC Lender LLC, asborrower, Ares
Commercial Real Estate Corporation, as Guarantor and City National Bank, a national banking association, as administrative
agent, and the lenders party thereto.(23)

Indenture dated as of March 2, 2017 anong ACRE Commercial Mortgage 2017-FL 3 Ltd, asissuer, ACRE Commercial Mortgage
2017-FL3 LLC as co-issuer, Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as note
administrator, paying agent, calculation agent, transfer agent, authentication agent and custodian, and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as advancing agent.(23)

Mortgage Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of March 2, 2017 between ACRC Lender LLC, as seller and ACRE Commercial
Mortgage 2017-FL3 Ltd., asissuer.(23)

Amendment No. 6 to the Credit Agreement dated as of April 19, 2017, by and among, the several banks and other financial
institutions and lenders from time to time party hereto, each individually as alender and, collectively, asthe lenders, and City
National Bank, as administrative agent to the lenders, and ACRC Lender LLC, asthe borrower.(24)

Second Amended and Restated Master Repurchase and Securities Contract dated as of May 1, 2017, by and among, ACRC
Lender W LLC, asexisting seller, ACRC Lender W TRSLLC, as new seller, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
buyer.(24)

Reaffirmation Agreement dated as of May 1, 2017, by Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation in favor of Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association.(24)

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Bridge L oan Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement dated as of May 25, 2017,
by and among ACRC Lender B LLC, as borrower, the Persons party to the Credit Agreement from time to time as lenders, and
Bank of America, N.A., aslender and in its capacity as administrative agent for the Lenders under the Credit Agreement, as
administrative agent.(25)

First Amendment to Master Repurchase and Securities Contract dated as of June 23, 2017, by and among ACRC Lender USLLC,
asseller, and U.S. Bank National Association, as buyer, and acknowledged and agreed to by Ares Commercial Real Estate
Corporation.(26)

First Amendment to Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of August 4, 2017, by and between ACRC Lender ML LLC, as
seller, and Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, as buyer.(27)

Reaffirmation of Guarantor, dated as of August 4, 2017, by Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation in favor of Metropolitan Life
Insurance Company.(27)

First Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 16, 2017, to the Indenture, dated as of March 2, 2017 among ACRE Commercial
Mortgage 2017-FL 3 Ltd, asissuer, ACRE Commercial Mortgage 2017-FL 3 LL C as co-issuer, Wilmington Trust, National
Association, astrustee, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as note administrator, paying agent, cal culation agent, transfer
agent, authentication agent and custodian, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as advancing agent.(28)

Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Bridge L oan Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of October 2,
2017, by and among ACRC Lender B LLC, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent and L ender and the other Lenders.(29)

First Amendment to Credit and Guaranty Agreement dated as of December 22, 2017 and is entered into by and among,
Wilmington Trust, National Association, as grantor trust trustee, as lender, Cortland Capital Market ServicesLLC, asthe
administrative agent and the collateral agent for the lenders, and Ares Commercia Real Estate Corporation, as borrower and
ACRC HoldingsLLC, ACRC Mezz Holdings LLC, ACRC CP Investor LLC and ACRC Warehouse Holdings LL C, as guarantors.
(30)
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

10.57 * Second Amendment to Master Repurchase and Securities Contract, dated as of March 15, 2018, by and between ACRC Lender
USLLC, asseller, and U.S. Bank National Association, as buyer, and acknowledged and agreed to by Ares Commercial Real
Estate Corporation.(32)

1058 * Amendment No. 3 to Bridge Loan Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2018, by and among ACRC
Lender B LLC, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Lender and the other Lenders.(33)

1059 * Amended and Restated Fourth Amendment to Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of December 13, 2018, among ACRC
Lender CLLC, asseller, Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation, as guarantor, and Citibank, N.A., as buyer.(35)

10.60 * Second Amended and Restated Substitute Guaranty Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2018, by Ares Commercial Real Estate
Corporation in favor of Citibank, N.A.(35)

10.61 *  Amendment Number One to the Second Amended and Restated Master Repurchase and Securities Contract dated as of
December 14, 2018, by and among, ACRC Lender W LLC, asseller, ACRC Lender W TRSLLC, as seller, and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as buyer.(36)

21.1 Subsidiaries of Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation

231 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

311 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

*  Previously filed

Denotes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on June 29, 2016.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on March 1, 2016.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Form S-8 (File No. 333-181077), filed on May 1, 2012

Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.1, 10.3, 10.4 and 10.5, as applicable, to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on May 4,
2012.

(5) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on March 17, 2014.

(6) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Amendment No. 3 to Form S-11/A (File
No. 333-176841), filed on April 12, 2012.

(7) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35517), filed on November 13, 2013.

(8) Incorporated by referenceto Exhibits 10.1, 10.2, 10.3 and 10.4, as applicable, to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on
March 14, 2014.

(9) Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.1 and 10.2, as applicable, to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on April 15, 2014.
(10) Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.1 and 10.2, as applicable, to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on August 18, 2014.

(11) Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.1 and 10.2, as applicable, to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on December 12,
2014.
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(12) Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.6, as applicable, to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on July 31, 2014.

(13) Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.1, 10.2 and 10.3, as applicable, to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on June 2,
2015.

(14) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on October 26, 2015.

(15) Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.1, 10.2 and 10.3, as applicable, to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on
December 14, 2015.

(16) Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.52 and 10.53, as applicable, to the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on March 1,
2016.

(17) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (file No. 001-35517), filed on June 1, 2016.

(18) Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.4, 10.6, 10.8 and 10.9, as applicable, to the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35517), filed on
August 4, 2016.

(19) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on July 19, 2016

(20) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on August 11, 2016.
(21) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35517), filed on November 3, 2016.
(22) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on December 12, 2016.

(23) Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.1, 10.2 and 10.3, as applicable, to the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35517), filed on May 2,
2017.

(24) Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 2.2, 10.1, 10.2 and 10.3, as applicable, to the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35517), filed on
August 3, 2017.

(25) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on May 30, 2017.

(26) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on June 28, 2017.

(27) Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.1 and 10.2, as applicable, to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on August 9, 2017.
(28) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35517), filed on November 1, 2017.

(29) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on October 3, 2017.

(30) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on December 29, 2017.

(31) Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.38, 10.39, 10.40, 10.42 and 10.43, as applicable, to the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-35517),
filed on March 1, 2018.

(32) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35517), filed on May 1, 2018.
(33) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on May 30, 2018.
(34) Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.1 and 10.3, as applicable, to the Company’s Form S-8 (File No. 333-225891), filed on June 26, 2018.

(35) Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.1 and 10.2, as applicable, to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on December 14,
2018.

(36) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-35517), filed on December 20, 2018.
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Ares Commercia Real Estate Corporation and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018,
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Ares Commercia Real Estate Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company)
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated statements of operations, equity and
cash flows for each of the three yearsin the period ended December 31, 2018 and the related notes and our report dated February 21, 2019
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basisfor Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility isto express an opinion on the Company’sinternal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We area
public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federa securities|aws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists,
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’sinternal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonabl e assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statementsfor external purposesin accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’sinternal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of recordsthat, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statementsin accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors
of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of itsinherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectivenessto future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/Ernst & Young LLP
LosAngeles, CA
February 21, 2019
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as
of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated statements of operations, equity and cash flows for each of the three yearsin the
period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “ consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three yearsin the period ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
Company'sinternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated February 21, 2019
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basisfor Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility isto express an opinion on the Company’s
financia statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securitieslaws and the applicable rules and regul ations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such proceduresincluded examining, on atest basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosuresin
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide areasonable basis for our opinion.

/9 Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2012.

Los Angeles, CA
February 21, 2019



ARESCOMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

As of December 31,

2018 2017
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,089 $ 28,343
Restricted cash 379 379
Loans held for investment ($289,576 and $341,158 related to consolidated VI Es, respectively) 1,524,873 1,726,283
Other assets ($843 and $945 of interest receivable related to consolidated VIES, respectively;
$51,582 of other receivables related to consolidated VIEs as of December 31, 2018) 66,983 15,214
Total assets $ 1603324 $ 1,770,219
LIABILITIESAND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Secured funding agreements $ 777974 $ 957,960
Secured term loan 108,345 107,595
Collateralized loan obligation securitization debt (consolidated VIE) 270,737 271,211
Dueto affiliate 3,163 2,628
Dividends payable 8,914 7,722
Other lighilities ($541 and $414 of interest payable related to consolidated VIEs, respectively) 8,604 3,933
Total liabilities 1,177,737 1,351,049
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 450,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2018 and
2017, and 28,755,665 and 28,598,916 sharesissued and outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively 283 283
Additional paid-in capital 421,739 420,637
Accumulated earnings (deficit) 3,565 (1,750)
Total stockholders' equity 425,587 419,170
Total liabilities and stockholders equity $ 1603324 $ 1,770,219

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



ARESCOMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Net interest margin:
Interest income from loans held for investment
Interest expense
Net interest margin
Expenses:
Management and incentive feesto affiliate
Professional fees
General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses reimbursed to affiliate
Total expenses
Early extinguishment of debt costs
Income from continuing oper ations befor eincome taxes
Income tax expense, including excise tax
Net income from continuing oper ations
Net income from operations of discontinued operations, net of income taxes
Gain on sale of discontinued operations
Net income attributableto ACRE
Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interests
Net income attributable to common stockholders
Basic earnings per common share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net income
Diluted earnings per common share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net income
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic weighted average shares of common stock outstanding
Diluted weighted average shares of common stock outstanding

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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For the years ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
118284 $ 97541 $ 81,963
(63,002) (51,193) (36,856)

55,282 46,348 45,107
7,418 6,569 5,956
1,945 1,674 2,228
3,307 2,828 2,801
3,570 3,899 3,441

16,240 14,970 14,426

— (768) —

30,042 30,610 30,681
446 178 230
38,596 30,432 30,451

_ _ 4221

— — 10,196

38,596 30,432 44,368

— (25) (4,532)

385%6 $ 30407 $ 40,336
135 $ 107 $ 091

— — 0.51

135 $ 107 $ 142

135 $ 107 $ 091

— — 0.51

135 $ 107 $ 1.41
28,529,439 28,478,237 28,461,853
28,656,660 28,550,945 28,523,306



ARESCOMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOL IDATED STATEMENTSOF EQUITY
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Balance at December 31, 2015
Stock-based compensation

Repurchase and retirement of common

stock
Net income
Dividends declared

Contributions from non-controlling
interests

Distributions to non-controlling
interests

Balance at December 31, 2016
Stock-based compensation

Net income

Dividends declared

Contributions from non-controlling
interests

Distributions to non-controlling
interests

Balance at December 31, 2017
Stock-based compensation

Net income

Dividends declared

Balance at December 31, 2018

Common Stock Additional Accumulated Total Non-

Paid-in Earnings Stockholders’ Controlling Total

Shares Amount Capital (Deficit) Equity Interests Equity
28,609,650 $ 284 $ 421179 % (11,992 $ 409471 $ 47,017 $ 456,488
3,022 — 312 — 312 — 312
(129,916) ) (1,435) — (1,436) — (1,436)
— — — 40,336 40,336 4,532 44,868
- == - (29,654) (29,654) - (29,654)
— — — — — 11 11
— — — — — (40,916) (40,916)
28,482,756 283 $ 420056 % (1,3100 $ 419,029 $ 10644 $ 429,673
116,160 — 581 — 581 — 581
— — — 30,407 30,407 25 30,432
— — — (30,847) (30,847) — (30,847)
— — — — — 12 12
— — — — — (10,681) (10,681)
28,598,916 283 $ 420637 $ (1,750) $ 419,170 $ — $ 419,170
156,749 = 1,102 — 1,102 — 1,102
— — — 38,596 38,596 — 38,596
— — — (33,281) (33,281) — (33,281)
28,755,665 283 $ 421,739 % 3565 $ 425587 $ — $ 425587

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ARESCOMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTSOF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016

Operating activities:
Net income $ 38,596 $ 30432 $ 44,868

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
(inclusive of amounts related to discontinued operations):

Amortization of deferred financing costs 5,720 7,608 6,439
Change in mortgage banking activities — — (10,386)
Change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights — — 6,457
Accretion of deferred loan origination fees and costs (6,949) (6,578) (5,924)
Provision for loss sharing — — (146)
Cash paid to settle |oss sharing obligations — — (681)
Originations of mortgage loans held for sale — — (639,413)
Sale of mortgage loans held for sale to third parties — — 571,714
Stock-based compensation 1,102 581 312
Early extinguishment of debt costs — 768 —
Gain on sale of discontinued operations — — (10,196)
Depreciation expense — — 167
Deferred tax expense — — 2,049
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Other assets 198 (2,530) 40,016
Due to affiliate 535 (71) 380
Other liabilities 16 1,066 (10,146)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 39,218 31,276 (4,490)
Investing activities:
Issuance of and fundings on loans held for investment (543,077) (900,289) (861,444)
Principal repayment of loans held for investment 695,183 411,298 721,684
Proceeds from sale of mortgage loans held for sale — 73,900 —
Receipt of origination fees 5,818 9,323 6,813
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations, net of cash and restricted cash sold — — 73,004
Purchases of other assets — — (354)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 157,924 (405,768) (60,297)
Financing activities:
Proceeds from secured funding agreements 642,241 923,882 1,288,698
Repayments of secured funding agreements (822,227) (746,635) (1,030,760)
Payment of secured funding costs (2,322) (8,405) (5,563)
Proceeds from issuance of debt of consolidated VIEs — 272,927 —
Repayments of debt of consolidated VIEs — — (255,275)
Proceeds from warehouse lines of credit — — 863,382
Repayments of warehouse lines of credit — — (795,684)
Proceeds from secured term loan — — 80,000
Repayments of secured term loan — (45,000) —
Repurchase of common stock — — (1,436)
Dividends paid (32,088) (30,531) (29,400)
Contributions from non-controlling interests — 12 11
Distributions to non-controlling interests — (10,681) (40,916)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (214,396) 355,569 73,057
Change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (17,254) (18,923) 8,270

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of continuing operations, beginning of period 28,722 47,645 18,149



Cash, cash eguivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations, beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of continuing operations, end of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations, end of period
Supplemental Information:

Interest paid during the period

Income taxes paid during the period
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities:

Dividends declared, but not yet paid

Other receivables related to consolidated VIEs

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ARESCOMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Asof December 31, 2018
(in thousands, except share and per sharedata, per centages and as otherwise indicated)

1. ORGANIZATION

Ares Commercia Real Estate Corporation (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the “ Company” or “ACRE") isa specialty finance
company primarily engaged in originating and investing in commercial real estate |oans and related investments. Through Ares Commercial Real
Estate Management LLC (“ACREM” or the Company’s “Manager”), a Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC") registered investment adviser
and asubsidiary of Ares Management Corporation (NY SE: ARES) (“ Ares Management” or “Ares’), apublicly traded, leading global alternative
asset manager, it has investment professionals strategically located across the United States and Europe who directly source new loan
opportunities for the Company with owners, operators and sponsors of commercial real estate (“ CRE") properties. The Company was formed and
commenced operationsin late 2011. The Company isaMaryland corporation and completed itsinitial public offering (the“IPO”) in May 2012. The
Company is externally managed by its Manager, pursuant to the terms of a management agreement (the “Management Agreement”).

The Company is primarily focused on directly originating and managing a diversified portfolio of CRE debt-related investments for the
Company’s own account. The Company’ s target investments include senior mortgage loans, subordinated debt, preferred equity, mezzanine loans
and other CRE investments, including commercial mortgage backed securities. These investments are generally held for investment and are
secured, directly or indirectly, by office, multifamily, retail, industrial, lodging, senior-living, self storage, student housing, residential and other
commercial rea estate properties, or by ownership interests therein.

The Company has elected and qualified to be taxed as areal estate investment trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes under
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code”), commencing with its taxable year ended December 31, 2012. The Company generally
will not be subject to U.S. federal income taxes on its REI T taxable income, determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and
excluding net capital gains, to the extent that it annually distributes all of its REIT taxable income to stockholders and complies with various other
requirementsasaREIT.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in conformity with United
States generally accepted accounting principles (“ GAAP”) and include the accounts of the Company, the consolidated variable interest entities
(“VIES”) that the Company controls and of which the Company is the primary beneficiary, and the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries. The
consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments and reclassifications that, in the opinion of management, are necessary for the fair
presentation of the Company’s results of operations and financial condition as of and for the periods presented. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated.

Discontinued Operations

On June 28, 2016, the Company entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (as amended, the “ Agreement”) with Barings Real Estate
Advisers LLC (formerly known as Cornerstone Real Estate Advisers LLC), aDelaware limited liability company (the “ Buyer”), to sell ACRE Capital
Holdings LLC (“TRS Holdings"), the holding company that owned the Company’s mortgage banking subsidiary, ACRE Capital LLC (“ACRE
Capital”). Under the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Agreement, on September 30, 2016, the Buyer purchased from the
Company all of the outstanding common units of TRS Holdings (the “ ACRE Capital Sale”’). ACRE Capital primarily originated, sold and serviced
multifamily and senior-living related loans under programs offered by government-sponsored enterprises and by government agencies. Under the
terms of the Agreement, the Buyer paid approximately $93 million in cash as consideration for the ACRE Capital Sale.

Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (*ASC”) Topic 205-20, Presentation of Financial
Statements - Discontinued Operations, definesthe criteriarequired for adisposal transaction to qualify for reporting as a discontinued operation.
The Company determined that the ACRE Capital Sale met the criteriafor discontinued operations. As aresult, the operating results of ACRE
Capital, which formerly comprised the mortgage banking segment, are presented separately in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as
discontinued operations for the year
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ended December 31, 2016. The operating results of discontinued operations are included in the lineitem “Net income from operations of
discontinued operations, net of income taxes” in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2016. Summarized
financial information for the discontinued mortgage banking segment is shown in Note 13 included in these consolidated financial statements.

Variable I nterest Entities

The Company evaluates all of itsinterestsin VIEs for consolidation. When the Company’sinterests are determined to be variable
interests, the Company assesses whether it is deemed to be the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The primary beneficiary of aVIE isrequired to
consolidate the VIE. FASB ASC Topic 810, Consolidation, defines the primary beneficiary as the party that has both (i) the power to direct the
activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance, and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses and the right to receive
benefits from the VIE which could be potentially significant. The Company considersits variable interests, aswell asany variable interests of its
related partiesin making this determination. Where both of these factors are present, the Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary and it
consolidates the VIE. Where either one of these factorsis not present, the Company is not the primary beneficiary and it does not consolidate the
VIE.

To assess whether the Company has the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the VIE's economic
performance, the Company considers all facts and circumstances, including itsrolein establishing the VIE and its ongoing rights and
responsibilities. This assessment includesfirst, identifying the activities that most significantly impact the VIE's economic performance; and
second, identifying which party, if any, has power over those activities. In general, the parties that make the most significant decisions affecting
the VIE or have theright to unilaterally remove those decision makers are deemed to have the power to direct the activitiesof aVIE.

To assess whether the Company has the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could
potentialy be significant to the VIE, the Company considers all of its economic interests, including debt and equity investments, servicing fees,
and other arrangements deemed to be variableinterestsin the VIE. This assessment requires that the Company applies judgment in determining
whether these interests, in the aggregate, are considered potentially significant to the VIE. Factors considered in assessing significance include:
the design of the VIE, including its capitalization structure; subordination of interests; payment priority; relative share of interests held across
various classes within the VIE's capital structure; and the reasons why the interests are held by the Company.

For VIEs of which the Company is determined to be the primary beneficiary, all of the underlying assets, liabilities, equity, revenue and
expenses of the structures are consolidated into the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The Company performs an ongoing reassessment of: (1) whether any entities previously evaluated under the majority voting interest
framework have become VIEs, based on certain events, and therefore are subject to the VIE consolidation framework, and (2) whether changesin
the facts and circumstances regarding itsinvolvement with a VI E cause the Company’s consolidation conclusion regarding the VIE to change. See
Note 12 included in these consolidated financial statements for further discussion of the Company’sVIEs.

Segment Reporting

The Company previously had two reportabl e business segments: principal lending and mortgage banking. Asaresult of the ACRE
Capital Sale, the operations of the mortgage banking segment have been reclassified as discontinued operationsin all periods presented. The
Company now conducts and manages its business as one operating segment, rather than multiple operating segments; therefore, the Company no
longer provides segment reporting. See Note 13 included in these consolidated financial statements for further discussion of the sale of the
mortgage banking segment.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
Cash and cash equivalentsinclude funds on deposit with financial institutions, including demand deposits with financial institutions.
Cash and short-term investments with an original maturity of three months or less when acquired are considered cash and cash equivalentsfor the

purpose of the consolidated balance sheets and statements of cash flows.

Restricted cash includes deposits required under certain Secured Funding Agreements (each individually defined in Note 4 included in
these consolidated financial statements).
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The following table provides areconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash in the consolidated balance sheetsto the total
amount shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows ($ in thousands):

For theyears ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,089 $ 28343 $ 47,270
Restricted cash 379 379 375
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the Company's consolidated
statements of cash flows $ 11468 $ 28722 $ 47,645

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents
and restricted cash, loans held for investment and interest receivable. The Company placesits cash and cash equivalents with financial institutions
and, at times, cash held may exceed the FDIC-insured limit. The Company has exposure to credit risk on itsloans held for investment. The
Company and the Company’s Manager seek to manage credit risk by performing due diligence prior to origination or acquisition and through the
use of non-recourse financing, when and where avail able and appropriate.

LoansHeld for I nvestment

The Company originates CRE debt and related instruments generally to be held for investment. Loans that are held for investment are
carried at cost, net of unamortized loan fees and origination costs, unless the loans are deemed impaired. Impairment occurs when it is deemed
probable that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan. If aloan is considered to be
impaired, the Company will record an allowance to reduce the carrying val ue of the loan to the present value of expected future cash flows
discounted at the loan’s contractual effective rate.

Each loan classified as held for investment is evaluated for impairment on aquarterly basis. Loans are generally collateralized by real
estate. The extent of any credit deterioration associated with the performance and/or value of the underlying collateral property and the financial
and operating capability of the borrower could impact the expected amounts received. The Company monitors performance of itsinvestment
portfolio under the following methodology: (1) borrower review, which analyzes the borrower’s ability to execute on its original business plan,
reviewsitsfinancial condition, assesses pending litigation and considersits general level of responsiveness and cooperation; (2) economic review,
which considers underlying collateral (i.e. leasing performance, unit sales and cash flow of the collateral and its ability to cover debt service, as
well asthe residual loan balance at maturity); (3) property review, which considers current environmental risks, changesin insurance costs or
coverage, current site visibility, capital expenditures and market perception; and (4) market review, which analyzesthe collateral from a supply and
demand perspective of similar property types, aswell asfrom a capital markets perspective. Such impairment analyses are completed and reviewed
by asset management and finance personnel who utilize various data sources, including periodic financial data such as property occupancy, tenant
profile, rental rates, operating expenses, and the borrower’s exit plan, among other factors.

In addition, the Company evaluates the entire portfolio to determine whether the portfolio has any impairment that requires avaluation
allowance on the remainder of the loan portfolio. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company did not recognize any
impairment charges with respect to itsloans held for investment.

Loans are generally placed on non-accrual status when principal or interest payments are past due 30 days or more or when thereis
reasonable doubt that principal or interest will be collected in full. Accrued and unpaid interest is generally reversed against interest incomein the
period the loan is placed on non-accrual status. Interest payments received on non-accrual loans may be recognized asincome or applied to
principal depending upon management’s judgment regarding the borrower’s ability to make pending principal and interest payments. Non-accrual
loans are restored to accrual status when past due principal and interest are paid and, in management’s judgment, are likely to remain current. The
Company may make exceptionsto placing aloan on non-accrual statusif the loan has sufficient collateral value and isin the process of collection.

Preferred equity investments, which are subordinate to any loans but senior to common equity, are accounted for as loans held for
investment and are carried at cost, net of unamortized loan fees and origination costs, unless the loans are deemed
impaired, and are included within loans held for investment in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The
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Company accretes or amortizes any discounts or premiums over the life of the related loan held for investment utilizing the effective interest
method.

Debt I ssuance Costs

Debt issuance costs under the Company’s indebtedness are capitalized and amortized over the term of the respective debt instrument.
Unamortized debt issuance costs are expensed when the associated debt isrepaid prior to maturity. Debt issuance costs related to debt
securitizations are capitalized and amortized over the term of the underlying |oans using the effective interest method. When an underlying loanis
prepaid in adebt securitization and the outstanding principal balance of the securitization debt is reduced, the related unamortized debt issuance
costs are charged to expense based on a pro-rata share of the debt issuance costs being all ocated to the specific |oans that were prepaid.
Amortization of debt issuance costsisincluded within interest expensein the Company’s consolidated statements of operations while the
unamortized balance on (i) Secured Funding Agreements (each individually defined in Note 4 included in these consolidated financial statements)
isincluded within other assets and (ii) the Secured Term Loan (defined in Note 4 included in these consolidated financial statements) and debt
securitizations are both included as a reduction to the carrying amount of the liability, in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

The original issue discount (“OID”) on amounts drawn under the Company’s Secured Term Loan represents a discount to the face
amount of the drawn debt obligations. The OID isamortized over the term of the Secured Term Loan using the effective interest method and is
included within interest expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations while the unamortized balance isincluded as a reduction
to the carrying amount of the Secured Term Loan in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

Revenue Recognition

Interest income fromloans held for investment is accrued based on the outstanding principa amount and the contractual terms of each
loan. For loans held for investment, origination fees, contractual exit fees and direct |oan origination costs are also recognized in interest income
from loans held for investment over theinitial loan term as ayield adjustment using the effective interest method.

A reconciliation of the Company’s interest income from loans held for investment, excluding non-controlling interests, to the Company’s

interest income from loans held for investment as included within its consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016 is as follows ($ in thousands):

For the years ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Interest income from loans held for investment, excluding non-controlling
interests $ 118,284 $ 97,506 $ 77,424
Interest income from non-controlling interest investment held by third parties — 35 4,539
Interest income from loans held for investment $ 118284 $ 97541 § 81,963

Net I nterest Margin and | nterest Expense

Net interest margin in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations serves to measure the performance of the Company’s loans
held for investment as compared to its use of debt leverage. The Company includes interest income from itsloans held for investment and interest
expense related to its Secured Funding Agreements, securitizations debt and the Secured Term Loan (individually defined in Note 4 included in
these consolidated financial statements) in net interest margin. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, interest expenseis
comprised of the following ($ in thousands):

For the years ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Secured funding agreements and securitizations debt $ 54473 $ 37602 $ 27,856
Secured term loan 8,529 13,591 9,000
Interest expense $ 63,002 $ 51,193 § 36,856
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Income Taxes

The Company has elected and qualified for taxation asa REIT commencing with its taxable year ended December 31, 2012. As aresult of
the Company’s REIT qualification and its distribution policy, the Company does not generally pay U.S. federal corporate level income taxes. Many
of the REIT requirements, however, are highly technical and complex. To continue to qualify asa REIT, the Company must meet a number of
organizational and operational requirements, including arequirement that the Company distributes annually to its stockholders at least 90% of the
Company’s REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains. To the extent that
the Company distributes less than 100% of its REIT taxable income in any tax year (taking into account any distributions made in a subsequent tax
year under Sections 857(b)(9) or 858 of the Code), the Company will pay tax at regular corporate rates on that undistributed portion. Furthermore, if
aREIT distributes |ess than the sum of 85% of its ordinary income for the calendar year, 95% of its capital gain net income for the calendar year
plus any undistributed shortfall from its prior calendar year (the “Required Distribution”) to its stockhol ders during any calendar year (including
any distributions declared by the last day of the calendar year but paid in the subsequent year), then it is required to pay a non-deductible excise
tax equal to 4% of any shortfall between the Required Distribution and the amount that was actually distributed. The 90% distribution requirement
does not require the distribution of net capital gains. However, if aREIT electsto retain any of its net capital gain for any tax year, it must notify its
stockholders and pay tax at regular corporate rates on the retained net capital gain. The stockholders must include their proportionate share of the
retained net capital gain in their taxable income for the tax year, and they are deemed to have paid the REIT’ stax on their proportionate share of the
retained capital gain. Furthermore, such retained capital gain may be subject to the nondeductible 4% excise tax. If it is determined that the
Company's estimated current year taxableincome will be in excess of estimated dividend distributions (including capital gain dividend) for the
current year from such income, the Company accrues excise tax on estimated excess taxable income as such taxable income is earned. The annual
expenseis calculated in accordance with applicable tax regulations. Excise tax expenseisincluded in the line item income tax expense (benefit),
including excise tax in the consolidated statements of operationsincluded in thisannual report on Form 10-K.

The Company formed awholly-owned subsidiary, ACRC Lender W TRSLLC (“ACRC W TRS"), in December 2013 in order to issue and
hold certain loans intended for sale. The Company also formed awholly-owned subsidiary, ACRC 2017-FL3 TRSLLC (“FL3 TRS"), in March 2017
in order to hold a portion of the CLO Securitization (as defined below) to the extent it generates excess inclusion income. Entity classification
elections to be taxed as a corporation and taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS") elections were made with respect to ACRCW TRSand FL3TRS. A TRS
isan entity taxed as a corporation that has not elected to be taxed asa REIT, in which aREIT directly or indirectly holds equity, and that has made
ajoint election with such REIT to betreated asa TRS. A TRS generally may engage in any business, including investing in assets and engaging in
activities that could not be held or conducted directly by the Company without jeopardizing its qualification asa REIT. A TRSis subject to
applicable U.S. federal, state and local income tax on its taxable income. In addition, as a REI T, the Company also may be subject to a 100% excise
tax on certain transactions between it and its TRS that are not conducted on an arm’s-length basis. For financial reporting purposes, a provision
for current and deferred taxes has been established for the portion of the Company’s GAAP consolidated earnings recognized by ACRC W TRS
and FL3 TRS. Theincometax provision isincluded in the line item income tax expense (benefit), including excise tax in the consolidated statements
of operationsincluded in thisannual report on Form 10-K.

FASB ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740"), prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial
statement recognition and measurement of atax position taken or expected to be taken in atax return. ASC 740 al so provides guidance on
derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The Company has analyzed its various
federal and state filing positions and believes that itsincome tax filing positions and deductions are well documented and supported. As of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, based on the Company’ s eval uation, there is no reserve for any uncertain income tax positions. ACRC W TRS and
FL3 TRSrecognize interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits within income tax expense in the consolidated statements of
operations. Accrued interest and penalties, if any, areincluded within other liabilitiesin the consolidated balance sheets.

Comprehensive lncome

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, comprehensive income equal ed net income; therefore, a separate consolidated
statement of comprehensive income is not included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

F-12



Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes the cost of stock-based compensation, which isincluded within general and administrative expensesin the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations. The fair value of the time vested restricted stock or restricted stock units granted is recorded to
expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period for the award, with an offsetting increase in stockholders’ equity. For grants to directors
and officers and empl oyees of the Manager, the fair value is determined based upon the market price of the stock on the grant date.

Earnings per Share

The Company cal culates basic earnings (loss) per share by dividing net income (loss) allocable to common stockholders for the period by
the weighted average shares of common stock outstanding for that period after consideration of the earnings (loss) allocated to the Company’s
restricted stock, which are participating securities as defined in GAAP. Diluted earnings (10ss) per share takes into effect any dilutive instruments,
such asrestricted stock and convertible debt, except when doing so would be anti-dilutive. The Company presents both basic and diluted earnings
per share amounts for continuing operations and discontinued operations. See Note 7 included in these consolidated financial statementsfor the
earnings per share calculations.

Use of Estimatesin the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
certain reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic
606). The guidance in this ASU supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in Revenue Recognition (Topic 605). Under the new guidance,
an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or servicesto customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The amendmentsin ASU No. 2014-09 are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within that reporting period. The Company has assessed and
determined that the application of this guidance does not have amaterial impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements, primarily
because the majority of the Company’s revenue is accounted for under FASB ASC Topic 310, Receivables, which is scoped out of this standard.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on
Financial Instruments. The standard will replace the incurred loss impairment methodology pursuant to GAAP with a methodology that reflects
expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to inform credit loss estimates.
ASU No. 2016-13 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within that reporting period,
with early adoption permitted after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within that reporting period. The Company is currently evaluating
the impact of adopting this ASU oniits consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receiptsand
Cash Payments, which intends to reduce diversity in practice in how certain transactions are classified in the statement of cash flows. ASU No.
2016-15 provides guidance on eight specific cash flow issues and clarifies that in the absence of specific guidance, an entity should classify each
separately identifiable cash source and use on the basis of the nature of the underlying cash flows. For cash flows with aspects of more than one
class that cannot be separated, the classification should be based on the activity that islikely to be the predominant source or use of cash flow.
ASU No. 2016-15 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within that reporting period,
with early adoption permitted. The Company has assessed and determined that the application of this guidance does not have a material impact on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash (a Consensus of the FASB
Emerging Issues Task Force).The amendments in this update require that a statement of cash flows explain the change during the period in the
total of cash, cash equivalents and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. Therefore, amounts generally
described asrestricted cash and restricted cash equivalents should be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-
of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. ASU No. 2016-18 is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2017,
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including interim periods within that reporting period, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-18 and applied the
guidance retrospectively to the prior period consolidated statements of cash flows.

SEC Disclosure Update and Simplification

In August 2018, the SEC adopted the final rule under SEC Release No. 33-10532, Disclosure Update and Simplification, amending certain
disclosure requirements that were redundant, duplicative, overlapping, outdated or superseded. In addition, the amendments expanded the
disclosure requirements on the analysis of stockholders' equity for interim financial statements. Under the amendments, an analysis of changesin
each caption of stockholders' equity and noncontrolling interests presented in the bal ance sheet must be provided in anote or separate statement.
The analysis should present areconciliation of the beginning balance to the ending balance of each period for which a statement of
comprehensive incomeisrequired to be filed. The Company plans to use the new presentation of consolidated statement of stockholders' equity
beginning in 2019. Thefina rule became effective on November 5, 2018.

3. LOANSHELD FOR INVESTMENT

As of December 31, 2018, the Company’s portfolio included 44 |oans held for investment, excluding 76 loans that were repaid or sold since
inception. The aggregate originated commitment under these loans at closing was approximately $1.7 billion and outstanding principal was $1.5
billion as of December 31, 2018. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company funded approximately $544.2 million of outstanding
principal and received repayments of $746.8 million of outstanding principal, as described in more detail in the tables below. Such investments are
referred to herein as the Company’s “investment portfolio.” As of December 31, 2018, 89.8% of the Company’s loans have London I nterbank
Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) floors, with aweighted average floor of 1.38%, cal culated based on loans with LIBOR floors. Referencesto LIBOR or “L”
areto 30-day LIBOR (unless otherwise specifically stated).

The Company’sinvestmentsin loans held for investment are accounted for at amortized cost. The following tables summarize the
Company’sloans held for investment as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 ($ in thousands):

As of December 31, 2018

Weighted
Average Weighted
Minimum Loan Weighted Average Average
Carrying Outstanding Borrowing Unleveraged Effective Remaining
Amount (1) Principal (1) Spread (2) Yield (3) Life (Years)
Senior mortgage |oans $ 1489708 $ 1,498,530 5.2% 7.0% 1.7
Subordinated debt and preferred equity investments 35,165 36,213 12.7% 14.9% 4.3
Total loans held for investment portfolio $ 1524873 $ 1,534,743 5.4% 7.1% 18

As of December 31, 2017

Weighted
Average Weighted
Minimum Loan Weighted Average Average
Carrying Outstanding Borrowing Unleveraged Effective Remaining
Amount (1) Principal (1) Spread (2) Yield (3) Life(Years)
Senior mortgage loans $ 1674169 $ 1,684,439 4.8% 6.2% 1.9
Subordinated debt and preferred eguity investments 52,114 52,847 9.5% 10.8% 34
Total loans held for investment portfolio $ 1726283 $ 1,737,286 5.0% 6.3% 20
1) The difference between the Carrying Amount and the Outstanding Principal amount of the loans held for investment consists of

unamortized purchase discount, deferred loan fees and |oan origination costs.

2 Minimum Loan Borrowing Spread is equal to (a) for floating rate |oans, the margin above the applicable index rate (e.g., LIBOR) plus
floors, if any, on such applicableindex rates, and (b) for fixed rate loans, the applicable interest rate.

(3 Unleveraged Effective Yield isthe compounded effective rate of return that would be earned over the life of the investment based on the
contractual interest rate (adjusted for any deferred loan fees, costs, premiums or discounts) and assumes no dispositions, early
prepayments or defaults. The total Weighted Average Unleveraged Effective Yield
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is calculated based on the average of Unleveraged Effective Yield of all loans held by the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 as
weighted by the outstanding principal balance of each loan.

A more detailed listing of the Company’sinvestment portfolio based on information available as of December 31, 2018 isasfollows ($in
millions, except percentages):

Outstanding Carrying Amount Unleveraged Effective Payment
Loan Type Location Principal (1) (1) Interest Rate Yield (2) Maturity Date (3) Terms (4)
Senior Mortgage L oans:
Multifamily FL $39.7 $89.5 L+4.75% 7.8% Sep 2019 1/10
Hotel Diversified 68.0 67.4 L+3.60% 6.6% Sep 2021 1/10
Office X 67.2 66.8 L+3.60% 6.6% July 2020 110
Hotel OR/WA 64.1 63.6 L+3.45% 6.5% May 2021 1/0
Multifamily uT 63.5 63.2 L+3.25% 6.0% Dec 2020 1/10
Office IL 63.2 63.1 L+3.99% 6.9% Aug 2019 1/0
Office IL 61.2 60.8 L+3.75% 6.8% Dec 2020 1/10
Office NJ 54.5 54.2 L+4.65% 7.7% July 2020 1/0
Office IL 54.1 53.8 L+3.95% 6.8% June 2021 110
Industrial MN 52.0 51.7 L+3.15% 6.1% Dec 2020 1/0
Mixed-use CA 49.0 487 L+4.00% 6.9% Apr 2021 110
Multifamily FL 454 453 L+4.75% 7.8% Sep 2019 1/0
Multifamily X 427 425 L+3.30% 6.2% Dec 2020 110
Student Housing CA 418 415 L+3.95% 7.0% July 2020 1/10
Multifamily FL 412 40.8 L+2.60% 5.7% Jan 2022 1/10
Student Housing X 41.0 40.7 L+4.75% 7.8% Jan 2021 1/10
Hotel CA 40.0 39.7 L+4.12% 7.0% Jan 2021 110
Multifamily SC 389 38.7 L+3.36% 6.3% May 2021 1/10
Student Housing NC 38.7 387 L+4.00% 7.5% Feb 2019 110
Hotel NY 38.6 38.6 L+4.75% 7.3% Dec 2018 (5) 1/10
Multifamily IL 37.0 36.6 L+3.50% 6.7% Nov 2020 1/10
Hotel MI 352 352 L+4.15% 6.7% July 2019 (6) 1/0
Hotel MN 315 31.2 L+3.55% 6.4% Aug 2021 1/10
Multifamily NY 30.1 30.0 L+3.20% 6.1% Dec 2020 1/0
Multifamily PA 29.4 29.1 L+3.00% 6.1% Dec 2021 1/0
Office (e(0) 27.6 27.3 L+4.15% 7.1% June 2021 1/0
Multifamily > 275 274 L+3.20% 6.2% Oct 2020 110
Multifamily CA 26.8 26.7 L+3.85% 6.8% July 2020 1/0
Student Housing AL 24.1 24.0 L+4.45% 7.5% Feb 2020 110
Student Housing X 24.0 238 L+4.10% 7.1% Jan 2021 1/0
Hotel IL 21.4 21.2 L+4.40% 7.5% May 2021 110
Multifamily CA 19.8 19.6 L+3.30% 6.2% Feb 2021 1/0
Office PA 19.6 195 L+4.70% 7.7% Mar 2020 110
Multifamily FL 19.2 19.1 L+4.00% 6.9% Nov 2020 1/10
Office FL 184 18.3 L+4.30% 7.4% Apr 2020 1/10
Residential Condominium FL 175 17.4 L+8.00% 11.9% Apr 2020 1/0
Office CA 175 17.3 L+3.40% 6.5% Nov 2021 1/0
Residential CA 9.1 8.8 12.00% 14.8% Feb 2020 1/10
Office NC 8.0 79 L+4.00% 7.1% Nov 2022 1/0
Subordinated Debt and Preferred Equity
Investments:
Office NJ 17.0 16.4 12.00% 12.8% Jan 2026 1/10 )
Residential Condominium NY 10.8 10.6 L+14.00% 17.5% May 2021 1/0
Residential Condominium HI 4.7 4.7 14.00% 19.1% Apr 2019 1/0
Office CA 2.7 2.7 L+8.25% 10.9% Nov 2021 1/0
Mixed-use IL 1.0 0.8 L+12.25% 15.7% Nov 2021 1/10
Total/Weighted Average $1,534.7 $1,524.9 7.1%
1) The difference between the Carrying Amount and the Outstanding Principal amount of the loans held for investment consists of

unamortized purchase discount, deferred loan fees and |oan origination costs. For the loans held for investment that represent co-
investments with other investment vehicles managed by Ares Management (see Note 10 included in these consolidated financial
statements for additional information on co-investments), only the portion of Carrying Amount and Outstanding Principal held by the
Company isreflected.
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Unleveraged Effective Yield isthe compounded effective rate of return that would be earned over the life of the investment based on the
contractual interest rate (adjusted for any deferred loan fees, costs, premiums or discounts) and assumes no dispositions, early
prepayments or defaults. Unleveraged Effective Yield for each loan is calculated based on LIBOR as of December 31, 2018 or the LIBOR
floor, as applicable. The total Weighted Average Unleveraged Effective Yield is cal culated based on the average of Unleveraged Effective
Yield of al loans held by the Company as of December 31, 2018 as weighted by the outstanding principal balance of each |oan.

Certain loans are subject to contractual extension options that generally vary between one and two 12-month extensions and may be
subject to performance based or other conditions as stipul ated in the loan agreement. Actual maturities may differ from contractual
maturities stated herein as certain borrowers may have the right to prepay with or without paying a prepayment penalty. The Company
may also extend contractual maturities and amend other terms of the loansin connection with loan modifications.

1/O =interest only, P/l = principal and interest.

As of December 31, 2018, the $38.6 million senior mortgage loan, which is collateralized by a hotel property located in New York, isin
maturity default. See below in this Note 3 included in these consolidated financial statements for further discussion of thisloan.

In June 2018, the borrower exercised a one-year extension option in accordance with the loan agreement, which extended the maturity date
on the senior Michigan loan to July 2019.

In February 2021, amortization will begin on the subordinated New Jersey loan, which had an outstanding principal balance of $17.0
million as of December 31, 2018. The remainder of the loans in the Company’s portfolio are non-amortizing through their primary terms.

The Company has made, and may continue to make, modificationsto loans, including loans that are in default. Loan terms that may be

modified include interest rates, required prepayments, asset rel ease prices, maturity dates, covenants, principal amounts and other loan terms. The
terms and conditions of each modification vary based on individual circumstances and will be determined on a case by case basis.

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the activity in the Company’s loan portfolio was as follows ($ in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2016 $ 1,313,937
Initial funding 878,834
Origination fees and discounts, net of costs (9,323)
Additional funding 21,455
Amortizing payments (509)
L oan payoffs (410,789)
Loans sold to third parties (1) (73,900)
Origination fee accretion 6,578

Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 1,726,283
Initial funding 510,529
Origination fees and discounts, net of costs (5,816)
Additional funding 33,693
Amortizing payments (645)
L oan payoffs (746,120)
Origination fee accretion 6,949

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 1,524,873

@)

In December 2017, the Company sold a senior mortgage loan and a B-Note mortgage |oan with outstanding principal of $63.9 million and
$10.0 million, respectively, which were both collateralized by an office property located in Texas, to athird party. Both loans were
previously classified as held for investment and were sold in order to rebalance and optimize the Company’s|oan portfolio. No gain or
loss was recognized on the sale.

As of December 31, 2018, the $38.6 million senior mortgage loan, which is collateralized by ahotel property located in New Y ork, wasin

maturity default due to the failure of the borrower to repay the outstanding principal balance of the loan by
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the December 2018 maturity date. The Company evaluated this|oan for impairment and concluded that no impairment charge should be recognized
as of December 31, 2018 and that this |oan should not be placed on non-accrual status as of December 31, 2018. This conclusion was based in part
on (1) the current estimated fair market value of the underlying collateral property and applicable reserves and (2) cash flows from operations of the
underlying collateral property. The estimated fair market value of the underlying collateral property was determined using the income and market
approach. As of December 31, 2018, the loan is current on itsregular interest payments.

Except as described above, as of December 31, 2018, al loans were paying in accordance with their contractual terms. No impairment
charges have been recognized during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

4. DEBT
Financing Agreements

The Company borrows funds, as applicable in agiven period, under the Wells Fargo Facility, the Citibank Facility, the BAML Facility, the
CNB Fecility, the MetLife Facility, the UBS Facility and the U.S. Bank Facility (individually defined below and collectively, the “ Secured Funding
Agreements’) and the Secured Term L oan (as defined below). The Company refersto the Secured Funding Agreements and the Secured Term
Loan asthe “Financing Agreements.” The outstanding balance of the Financing Agreementsin the table below are presented gross of debt
issuance costs. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding balances and total commitments under the Financing Agreements consisted of
the following ($ in thousands):

As of December 31,

2018 2017
Outstanding Total Outstanding Total
Balance Commitment Balance Commitment

Wells Fargo Facility $ 274,071 $ 500,000 $ 407,853 $ 500,000
Citibank Facility 184,003 325,000 (1) 175,651 250,000 (1)
BAML Fecility 36,280 125,000 78,320 125,000
CNB Fecility — 50,000 — 50,000
MetL ife Fecility 135,145 180,000 101,131 180,000
UBS Facility — — (2 34,000 140,000
U.S. Bank Facility 148,475 185,989 161,005 185,989
Secured Term Loan 110,000 110,000 110,000 110,000

Total $ 887,974 $ 1,475,989 $ 1,067,960 $ 1,540,989

@) As of December 31, 2017, the Citibank Facility (as defined below) had an accordion feature that provided for an increase in the $250.0
million commitment amount with respect to approved assets, as determined by Citibank, N.A. in its sole discretion. In December 2018, the
Company amended the Citibank Facility to, among other things, increase the facility’ s commitment amount from $250.0 million to $325.0
million and remove the accordion feature.

2 In October 2018, the UBS Facility (as defined below) matured. The UBS Facility had been repaid in full and its term was not extended.

Some of the Company’s Financing Agreements are collateralized by (i) assignments of specific loans, preferred equity or apool of loans
held for investment or loans held for sale owned by the Company, (ii) interests in the subordinated portion of the Company’s securitization debt, or
(i) interests in wholly-owned entity subsidiaries that hold the Company’s loans held for investment. The Company is the borrower or guarantor
under each of the Financing Agreements. Generally, the Company partially offsetsinterest rate risk by matching the interest index of loans held for
investment with the Secured Funding Agreements used to fund them. The Company’s Financing Agreements contain various affirmative and
negative covenants, including negative pledges, and provisions regarding events of default that are normal and customary for similar financing
arrangements.

Wells Fargo Facility

The Company is party to a master repurchase funding facility with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (“Wells Fargo”) (the “Wells
Fargo Facility”), which allows the Company to borrow up to $500.0 million. Under the Wells Fargo

F-17



Facility, the Company is permitted to sell, and later repurchase, certain qualifying senior commercial mortgage loans, A-Notes, pari-passu
participationsin commercial mortgage |oans and mezzanine |oans under certain circumstances, subject to available collateral approved by Wells
Fargo inits sole discretion. In December 2018, the Company amended the Wells Fargo Facility to extend the initial maturity date to December 14,
2020. Theinitia maturity date of the Wells Fargo Facility is subject to three 12-month extensions, each of which may be exercised at the Company’s
option, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including payment of an extension fee, which, if all three were exercised, would extend the
maturity date of the Wells Fargo Facility to December 14, 2023. In addition, in December 2018, the Company amended the Wells Fargo Facility to
decrease the interest rate on advances from a per annum rate equal to the sum of one-month LIBOR plus a pricing margin range of 1.75% to 2.35%
to aper annum rate equal to the sum of one-month LIBOR plus a pricing margin range of 1.50% to 2.25%. The Company incurs a non-utilization fee
of 25 basis points per annum on the average daily available balance of the Wells Fargo Facility to the extent less than 75% of the Wells Fargo
Facility is utilized. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred a non-utilization fee of $149 thousand, $362
thousand and $340 thousand, respectively. The non-utilization fee isincluded within interest expense in the Company’s consolidated statements
of operations.

The Wells Fargo Facility contains various affirmative and negative covenants and provisions regarding events of default that are
applicable to the Company and certain of the Company’s subsidiaries, which are normal and customary for similar repurchase facilities, including
the following: (@) limitations on the incurrence of additional indebtedness or liens, (b) limitations on how borrowed funds may be used, (c)
limitations on certain distributions and dividend paymentsin excess of the minimum amount necessary to continue to qualify asa REIT and avoid
the payment of income and excise taxes, (d) maintenance of adequate capital, (€) limitations on change of control, (f) maintaining aratio of total
debt to tangible net worth of not more than 4.00 to 1.00, (g) maintaining aratio of recourse debt to tangible net worth of not more than 3.00 to 1.00,
(h) maintaining afixed charge coverageratio (expressed as the ratio of EBITDA (net income before net interest expense, income tax expense,
depreciation and amortization), as defined, to fixed charges) for the immediately preceding 12-month period ending on the last date of the
applicable reporting period to be at least 1.25 to 1.00, (i) maintaining a tangible net worth of at |east the sum of (1) approximately $135.5 million, plus
(2) 80% of the net proceeds raised in all future equity issuances by the Company and (j) if certain specific debt yield, loan to value or other credit
based tests are not met with respect to assets on the Wells Fargo Facility, the Company may be required to repay certain amounts under the Wells
Fargo Facility. As of December 31, 2018, the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants of the Wells Fargo Facility.

Citibank Facility

The Company is party to a $325.0 million master repurchase facility with Citibank, N.A. (“ Citibank”) (the “ Citibank Facility”). Under the
Citibank Facility, the Company is permitted to sell and later repurchase certain qualifying senior commercial mortgage loans and A-Notes approved
by Citibank inits sole discretion. In December 2018, the Company amended the Citibank Facility to increase the facility’s commitment amount from
$250.0 million to $325.0 million and extend theinitial maturity date to December 13, 2021. Theinitial maturity date of the Citibank Facility is subject
to two 12-month extensions, each of which may be exercised at the Company’s option assuming no existing defaults under the Citibank Facility
and applicable extension fees being paid, which, if both were exercised, would extend the maturity date of the Citibank Facility to December 13,
2023. In addition, in December 2018, the Company amended the Citibank Facility to decrease the interest rate on advances from a per annum rate
equal to the sum of one-month LIBOR plus an indicative pricing margin range of 2.25% to 2.50%, subject to certain exceptions, to a per annum rate
equal to the sum of one-month LIBOR plus an indicative pricing margin range of 1.50% to 2.25%, subject to certain exceptions. Subsequent to the
December 2018 amendment to the Citibank Facility, the Company incurs a non-utilization fee of 25 basis points per annum on the average daily
available balance of the Citibank Facility to the extent less than 75% of the Citibank Facility is utilized. Prior to December 2018, the Company
incurred a non-utilization fee of 25 basis points per annum on the average daily available balance of the Citibank Facility. For the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred a non-utilization fee of $143 thousand, $165 thousand and $93 thousand, respectively.
The non-utilization fee isincluded within interest expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

The Citibank Facility contains various affirmative and negative covenants and provisions regarding events of default that are applicable
to the Company and certain of the Company’s subsidiaries, which are normal and customary for similar repurchase facilities, including the
following: (a) maintaining tangible net worth of at least the sum of (1) 80% of the Company’ s tangible net worth as of September 30, 2013, plus (2)
80% of thetotal net capital raised in all future equity issuances by the Company, (b) maintaining liquidity in an amount not less than the greater of
(1) $5.0 million or (2) 5% of the Company’ s recourse indebtedness, not to exceed $10.0 million (provided that in the event the Company’s total
liquidity equals or exceeds $5.0 million, the Company may satisfy the difference between the minimum total liquidity requirement and the
Company'stotal liquidity with available borrowing capacity), (c) maintaining afixed charge coverage ratio (expressed asthe ratio of EBITDA (net
income before net interest expense, income tax expense, depreciation and amortization), as defined, to fixed charges) for the immediately preceding
12-month period ending on the last date of the applicable reporting period to be at
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least 1.25to 1.00, (d) maintaining aratio of total debt to tangible net worth of not more than 4.00 to 1.00, (€) maintaining aratio of recourse debt to
tangible net worth of not more than 3.00 to 1.00 and (f) if certain specific debt yield and |oan to value tests are not met with respect to assets on the
Citibank Facility, the Company may be required to repay certain amounts under the Citibank Facility. The Citibank Facility also prohibitsthe
Company from amending the management agreement with its Manager in amaterial respect without the prior consent of the lender. As of

December 31, 2018, the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants of the Citibank Facility.

BAML Facility

The Company is party to a $125.0 million Bridge Loan Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement with Bank of America, N.A. (“Bank of
America’) (the “BAML Fecility”). Under the BAML Facility, the Company may obtain advances secured by eligible commercial mortgage loans
collateralized by multifamily properties. Bank of Americamay approve the loans on which advances are made under the BAML Facility inits sole
discretion. In May 2018, the Company amended the BAML Facility to extend the period during which the Company may request individual 1oans
under the facility to May 23, 2019. Individual advances under the BAML Facility generally have atwo-year maturity, subject to one 12-month
extension at the Company’s option upon the satisfaction of certain conditions and applicable extension fees being paid. In addition, in May 2018,
the final maturity date of individual loans under the BAML Facility was extended to May 23, 2022. Since October 2, 2017, advances under the
BAML Facility accrue interest at a per annum rate equal to the sum of one-month LIBOR plus a spread of 2.00%, subject to certain exceptions. Prior
to and including October 1, 2017, advances under the BAML Facility accrued interest at a per annum rate equal to the sum of one-month LIBOR
plus a spread ranging from 2.25% to 2.75% depending upon the type of asset securing such advance. The Company incurs a non-utilization fee of
12.5 basis points per annum on the average daily available balance of the BAML Facility to the extent less than 50% of the BAML Facility is
utilized. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred a non-utilization fee of $21 thousand, $52 thousand and $52
thousand, respectively. The non-utilization fee isincluded within interest expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

The BAML Facility contains various affirmative and negative covenants and provisions regarding events of default that are applicable to
the Company and certain of the Company’s subsidiaries, which are normal and customary for similar financing facilities, including the following: (a)
limitations on the incurrence of additional indebtedness or liens, (b) limitations on how borrowed funds may be used, (c) limitations on certain
distributions and dividend payments following a default or event of default, (d) limitations on dispositions of assets and (€) prohibitions of certain
change of control events. The agreements governing the BAML Facility also impose certain covenants on the Company, including the following:
(i) maintaining aratio of total debt to tangible net worth of not more than 4.00 to 1.00, (ii) maintaining aratio of recourse debt to tangible net worth
of not more than 3.00 to 1.00, (iii) maintaining atangible net worth of at least 80% of the Company’s net worth as of September 30, 2013, plus 80%
of the net cash proceeds raised in equity issuances by the Company after September 30, 2013, (iv) maintaining afixed charge coverageratio
(expressed astheratio of EBITDA (net income before net interest expense, income tax expense, depreciation and amortization), as defined, to fixed
charges) for theimmediately preceding 12-month period ending on the last date of the applicable reporting period of at least 1.25 to 1.00, (v)
limitations on mergers, consolidations, transfers of assets and similar transactions and (vi) maintaining its status asa REIT. As of December 31,
2018, the Company wasin compliance with all financial covenants of the BAML Facility.

CNB Facility

The Company is party to a$50.0 million secured revolving funding facility with City National Bank (the “ CNB Facility”). The Company is
permitted to borrow funds under the CNB Facility to finance investments and for other working capital and general corporate needs. In February
2018, the Company exercised a 12-month extension option on the CNB Facility to extend theinitial maturity date to March 10, 2019. The Company
has one additional 12-month extension, which may be exercised at the Company’s option, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions,
including payment of an extension fee, which, if exercised, would extend the maturity date of the CNB Facility to March 10, 2020. Advances under
the CNB Facility accrue interest at a per annum rate equal to the sum of, at the Company’s option, either (a) LIBOR for aone, two, three, six or, if
availableto all lenders, 12-month interest period plus 3.00% or (b) abase rate (which isthe highest of aprimerate, the federal funds rate plus
0.50%, or the sum of one-month LIBOR plus 1.00%) plus 1.25%; provided that in no event shall the interest rate be less than 3.00%. Unless at | east
75% of the CNB Facility is used on average, unused commitments under the CNB Facility accrue non-utilization fees at the rate of 0.375% per
annum. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred a non-utilization fee of $166 thousand, $184 thousand and
$122 thousand, respectively. The non-utilization fee isincluded within interest expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

The CNB Facility contains various affirmative and negative covenants and provisions regarding events of default that are applicableto
the Company and certain of the Company’ s subsidiaries, which are normal and customary for similar
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financing facilities, including the following: (a) limitations on the incurrence of additional indebtedness or liens, (b) limitations on how borrowed
funds may be used, (c) limitations on certain distributions and dividend paymentsfollowing adefault or event of default, (d) limitationson
dispositions of assets, (€) maintenance of minimum total asset value by the borrower under the CNB Facility and its subsidiaries and (f)
prohibitions of certain change of control events. The agreements governing the CNB Facility also impose certain covenants on the Company,
including the following: (i) maintaining aratio of total debt to tangible net worth of not more than 4.00 to 1.00, (ii) maintaining aratio of recourse
debt to tangible net worth of not more than 3.00 to 1.00, (iii) maintaining a tangible net worth of at least 80% of the Company’s net worth as of
September 30, 2013, plus 80% of the net cash proceeds raised in equity issuances by the Company after March 12, 2014, (iv) maintaining afixed
charge coverage ratio (expressed astheratio of EBITDA (net income before net interest expense, income tax expense, depreciation and
amortization), as defined, to fixed charges) for the immediately preceding 12-month period ending on the last date of the applicable reporting period
of at least 1.25t0 1.00, (v) limitations on mergers, consolidations, transfers of assets and similar transactions and (vi) maintaining its status as a
REIT. Asof December 31, 2018, the Company wasin compliance with all financial covenants of the CNB Facility.

MetLife Facility

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are party to a $180.0 million revolving master repurchase facility with Metropalitan Life
Insurance Company (“MetLife") (the “MetLife Facility”), pursuant to which the Company may sell, and later repurchase, commercial mortgage
loans meeting defined eligibility criteriawhich are approved by MetLifein its sole discretion. Theinitial maturity date of the MetLife Facility is
August 12, 2020, subject to two 12-month extensions, each of which may be exercised at the Company’s option, subject to the satisfaction of
certain conditions, including payment of an extension fee, which, if both were exercised, would extend the maturity date of the MetLife Facility to
August 12, 2022. Since August 4, 2017, advances under the MetLife Facility accrueinterest at a per annum rate equal to the sum of one-month
LIBOR plus a spread of 2.30%. Prior to and including August 3, 2017, advances under the MetLife Facility accrued interest at a per annum rate
equal to the sum of one-month LIBOR plus a spread of 2.35%. Effective in February 2018, the Company began incurring a non-utilization fee of 25
basis points per annum on the average daily available balance of the MetLife Facility to the extent less than 65% of the MetLife Facility is utilized.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company incurred a non-utilization fee of $7 thousand. The non-utilization fee isincluded within
interest expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

The MetLife Facility contains various affirmative and negative covenants and provisions regarding events of default that are applicable
to the Company and certain of the Company’s subsidiaries, which are normal and customary for similar repurchase facilities, including the
following: (a) limitations on the incurrence of additional indebtedness or liens, (b) limitations on how borrowed funds may be used, (c) limitations
on certain distributions and dividend payments following adefault or event of default and (d) limitations on dispositions of assets. The
agreements governing the MetLife Facility also impose certain covenants on the Company, including the following: (i) maintaining aratio of total
debt to tangible net worth of not more than 4.00 to 1.00, (ii) maintaining aratio of recourse debt to tangible net worth of not more than 3.00 to 1.00,
(iii) maintaining a tangible net worth of at least 80% of the Company’s net worth as of September 30, 2013, plus 80% of the net cash proceeds raised
in equity issuances by the Company after August 13, 2014, (iv) maintaining afixed charge coverage ratio (expressed astheratio of EBITDA (net
income before net interest expense, income tax expense, depreciation and amortization), as defined, to fixed charges) for the immediately preceding
12-month period ending on the last date of the applicable reporting period of at least 1.25 to 1.00, and (v) if certain specific debt yield, loan to value
or other credit based tests are not met with respect to assets on the MetLife Facility, the Company may be required to repay certain amounts under
the MetLife Facility. As of December 31, 2018, the Company was in compliance with al financial covenants of the MetLife Facility.

UBS Facility

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries were party to a $140.0 million revolving master repurchase facility with UBS Real Estate
SecuritiesInc. (“UBS") (the “UBS Facility”), pursuant to which the Company could have sold, and later repurchased, commercial mortgage loans
and, under certain circumstances, other assets meeting defined eligibility criteriathat were approved by UBS in its sole discretion. In October 2018,
the UBS Facility matured. The UBS Facility had been repaid in full and its term was not extended. The interest rate on advances under the UBS
Facility was the sum of one-month LIBOR plus (&) 1.88% per annum, for assets that were subject to an advance for one year or less, (b) 2.08% per
annum, for assets that were subject to an advance in excess of one year but less than two years and (c) 2.28% per annum, for assets that were
subject to an advance for greater than two years.

The UBS Facility contained margin call provisionsthat provided UBS with certain rightsif the applicable percentage of the aggregate
asset value of the purchased assets under the UBS Facility was |ess than the aggregate purchase price for such assets. The UBS Facility was fully
guaranteed by the Company and required the Company to maintain certain financial and
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other covenantsincluding the following: () maintain aratio of (i) total debt to tangible net worth of not more than 4.00 to 1.00 and (ii) recourse
debt to tangible net worth of not more than 3.00 to 1.00, (b) maintain atangible net worth of at least 80% of the Company’s net worth as of
September 30, 2013, plus 80% of net cash proceeds received from all subsequent equity issuances by the Company and (c) maintain afixed charge
coverage ratio (expressed as the ratio of adjusted-EBITDA (net income before net interest expense, income tax expense, depreciation and
amortization) to fixed charges) for the immediately preceding 12-month period ending on the last day of the applicable reporting period of at least
1.25t0 1.00. In addition, the UBS Facility contained certain affirmative and negative covenants and provisions regarding events of default that
were normal and customary for similar repurchase facilities.

U.S. Bank Facility

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are party to a $186.0 million master repurchase and securities contract with U.S. Bank
National Association (*U.S. Bank”) (the “U.S. Bank Facility”). Pursuant to the U.S. Bank Facility, the Company is permitted to sell, and later
repurchase, eligible commercial mortgage |oans collateralized by retail, office, mixed-use, multifamily, industrial, hospitality, student housing,
manufactured housing or self storage properties. U.S. Bank may approve the mortgage loans that are subject to the U.S. Bank Facility initssole
discretion. Theinitial maturity date of the U.S. Bank Facility is July 31, 2020, subject to two 12-month extensions, each of which may be exercised at
the Company’s option, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including payment of an extension fee, which, if both were exercised,
would extend the maturity date of the U.S. Bank Facility to July 31, 2022. Advances under the U.S. Bank Facility generally accrue interest at a per
annum rate equal to the sum of one-month LIBOR plus a spread of 2.25%, unless otherwise agreed between U.S. Bank and the Company,
depending upon the mortgage loan sold to U.S. Bank in the applicabl e transaction. The Company incurs a non-utilization fee of 25 basis points per
annum on the average daily available balance of the U.S. Bank Facility to the extent less than 50% of the U.S. Bank Facility is utilized. For the year
ended December 31, 2018, the Company did not incur a non-utilization fee. For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred
anon-utilization fee of $83 thousand and $77 thousand, respectively. The non-utilization fee isincluded within interest expense in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations.

The U.S. Bank Facility contains various affirmative and negative covenants and provisions regarding events of default that are applicable
to the Company and certain of the Company’s subsidiaries, which are normal and customary for similar repurchase facilities, including the
following: (a) limitations on the incurrence of additional indebtedness or liens, (b) limitations on how borrowed funds may be used, (c) limitations
on certain distributions and dividend payments in excess of the minimum amount necessary to continue to qualify asa REIT and avoid the
payment of income and excise taxes, (d) maintenance of adequate capital, (€) limitations on change of control, (f) maintaining aratio of total debt to
tangible net worth of not more than 4.00 to 1.00, (g) maintaining aratio of recourse debt to tangible net worth of not more than 3.00 to 1.00, (h)
maintaining afixed charge coverage ratio (expressed as the ratio of EBITDA (net income before net interest expense, income tax expense,
depreciation and amortization), as defined, to fixed charges) for theimmediately preceding 12-month period ending on the last date of the
applicable reporting period to be at least 1.25 to 1.00, (i) maintaining atangible net worth of at least 80% of the Company’s net worth as of
September 30, 2013, plus 80% of the net cash proceeds raised in equity issuances by the Company after September 30, 2013, (j) if certain specific
debt yield, loan to value or other credit based tests are not met with respect to assets on the U.S. Bank Facility, the Company may be required to
repay certain amounts under the U.S. Bank Facility and (k) maintaining liquidity in an amount not less than the greater of (1) $5.0 million or (2) 5%
of the Company’s recourse indebtedness, not to exceed $10.0 million (provided that in the event the Company’s total liquidity equals or exceeds
$5.0 million, the Company may satisfy the difference between the minimum total liquidity requirement and the Company’stotal liquidity with
available borrowing capacity). As of December 31, 2018, the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants of the U.S. Bank Facility.

Secured Term Loan

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are party to a$110.0 million Credit and Guaranty Agreement with the lendersreferred to
therein and Cortland Capital Market Services LL C, as administrative agent and collateral agent for the lenders (the “ Secured Term Loan”). The
initial maturity date of the Secured Term Loan is December 22, 2020, subject to one 12-month extension, which may be exercised at the Company’'s
option, provided there are no existing events of default under the Secured Term Loan, which, if exercised, would extend the maturity date of the
Secured Term Loan to December 22, 2021. During the extension period, the spread on advances under the Secured Term L oan increases every three
months by 0.125%, 0.375% and 0.750% per annum, respectively, beginning after the third-month of the extension period. Since December 22, 2017,
advances under the Secured Term Loan accrue interest at a per annum rate equal to the sum of, at the Company’s option, one, two, three or six-
month LIBOR plus a spread of 5.00%. Prior to and including December 21, 2017, advances under the Secured Term L oan accrued interest at a per
annum rate equal to the sum of one-month LIBOR plus a spread of 6.00% (with a1.00% LIBOR floor). In December 2017, the Company voluntarily
elected to repay $45.0 million of outstanding principal on
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the Secured Term Loan prior to the scheduled maturity as permitted by the contractual terms of the Secured Term L oan. For the year ended
December 31, 2017, the Company incurred early extinguishment of debt costs of $768 thousand in connection with the $45.0 million repayment of
outstanding principal on the Secured Term Loan, which was comprised of the pro-rata share of the unamortized deferred debt i ssuance costs and
original issue discounts being allocated to the outstanding principal that was repaid. The costs are included within early extinguishment of debt
costsin the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

The Company made an initial draw of $75.0 million on December 9, 2015, the closing date. The Company drew the remaining $80.0 million
of the Secured Term Loan on September 9, 2016. The Company was subject to amonthly non-utilization fee equal to 1.0% per annum on the
unused commitment amount during the nine-month commitment period following the closing date for which the $80.0 million of the Secured Term
L oan was not utilized. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company did not incur a non-utilization fee. For the year ended
December 31, 2016, the Company incurred a non-utilization fee of $560 thousand. The non-utilization fee isincluded within interest expensein the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations. The total original issue discount on the Secured Term Loan draws was $2.6 million, which
represents a discount to the debt cost to be amortized into interest expense using the effective interest method over the term of the Secured Term
Loan. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the estimated per annum effective interest rate of the Secured Term Loan, whichisequal to LIBOR
plus the spread plus the accretion of the original issue discount and associated costs, was 7.6%. For the year ended December 31, 2017, the
estimated per annum effective interest rate of the Secured Term Loan was 8.7% prior to and including December 21, 2017 and 7.2% subsequent to
December 21, 2017. For the year ended December 31, 2016, the estimated per annum effective interest rate was 8.5%.

The Company's obligations under the Secured Term Loan are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the Company. Certain subsidiaries of
the Company entered into a Pledge and Security Agreement with the collateral agent under the Secured Term L oan, pursuant to which the
obligations of the Company and the subsidiary guarantors under the Secured Term Loan are each secured by equity interestsin certain of the
Company'sindirect subsidiaries and other assets. In addition, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a Negative Pledge
Agreement with the collateral agent under the Secured Term Loan, which prohibits pledging or otherwise encumbering, subject to permitted
encumbrances, certain of the assets which were not subject to the Pledge and Security Agreement.

The Secured Term L oan contains various affirmative and negative covenants and provisions regarding events of default that are
applicable to the Company and certain of the Company’s subsidiaries, which are normal and customary for similar financing agreements, including
the following: (@) limitations on the incurrence of additional indebtedness or liens, (b) limitations on how borrowed funds may be used, (c)
limitations on certain distributions and dividend payments following a default or event of default, (d) limitations on dispositions of assets and (€)
prohibitions of certain change of control events. The agreements governing the Secured Term Loan also impose certain covenants on the
Company, including the following: (i) maintaining aratio of total debt to tangible net worth of not more than 4.00 to 1.00, (ii) maintaining atangible
net worth of at least 80% of the Company’s net worth as of September 30, 2015, plus 80% of the net cash proceeds raised in subsequent equity
issuances by the Company, (iii) maintaining an asset coverage ratio greater than 110%, (iv) maintaining an unencumbered asset ratio greater than
120%, (v) limitations on mergers, consolidations, transfers of assets and similar transactions, (vi) maintaining its statusasa REIT and (vii)
maintaining at least 65% of |oans held for investment as senior commercial real estate |oans, as measured by the average daily outstanding
principal balance of all loans held for investment during afiscal quarter and as adjusted for non-controlling interests. As of December 31, 2018, the
Company was in compliance with all financial covenants of the Secured Term Loan.
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Financing Agreements M aturities

At December 31, 2018, approximate principal maturities of the Company’s Financing Agreements are as follows ($ in thousands):

Wells Fargo Citibank BAML CNB MetLife U.S. Bank Secured Term
Facility Facility Facility Facility Facility Facility Loan Total

2019 $ — 3 — $ 36280 $ — 3 — 3 — 3 — $ 36280
2020 274,071 — — — 135,145 148,475 110,000 667,691
2021 — 184,003 — — — — — 184,003
2022 — — — — — — — —
2023 — — — — — — — —
Thereafter — — — — — — — —

$ 274071 $ 184,003 $ 36,280 $ — % 135145 $ 148475 $ 110,000 $ 887,974

5. COMMITMENTSAND CONTINGENCIES

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had the following commitments to fund various senior mortgage loans, subordinated
debt investments, as well as preferred equity investments accounted for as |oans held for investment ($ in thousands):

As of December 31,

2018 2017
Total commitments $ 1677615 $ 1,847,534
Less: funded commitments (1,534,743) (1,737,286)
Total unfunded commitments $ 142872 $ 110,248

The Company from time to time may be party to litigation relating to claims arising in the normal course of business. As of December 31,
2018, the Company is not aware of any legal claimsthat could materially impact its business, financial condition or results of operations.

6. EQUITY

Stock Buyback Program

In May 2015, the Company announced that the Company’s board of directors authorized the Company to repurchase up to $20.0 million
of the Company’s outstanding common stock over a period of one year (the “ Stock Buyback Program™). In February 2016, the Company’s board of
directorsincreased the size of the existing $20.0 million Stock Buyback Program to $30.0 million and extended the Stock Buyback Program through
March 31, 2017. The Stock Buyback Program was not extended after March 31, 2017. Purchases made pursuant to the Stock Buyback Program
could have been made in either the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, from time to time and as permitted by federal securitieslaws
and other legal requirements. In connection with this Stock Buyback Program, in March 2016, the Company entered into a Rule 10b5-1 plan to
repurchase shares of the Company’s common stock in accordance with certain parameters set forth in the Stock Buyback Program. During the
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, no shares of the Company’s common stock were repurchased. During the year ended December 31, 2016,
the Company repurchased atotal of 129,916 shares of the Company’s common stock in the open market for an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $1.4 million, including expenses paid. The shares were repurchased at an average price of $11.06 per share, including expenses paid.

Common Stock
There were no sharesissued in public or private offerings for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. See “ Equity Incentive

Plan” below for sharesissued under the plan.
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Equity I ncentive Plan

On April 23, 2012, the Company adopted an equity incentive plan. In April 2018, the Company’s board of directors authorized, and in June
2018, the Company'’s stockhol ders approved, an amended and restated equity incentive plan that increased the total amount of shares of common
stock the Company may grant thereunder to 1,390,000 shares (the “ Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan™). Pursuant to the Amended
and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, the Company may grant awards consisting of restricted shares of the Company’s common stock,
restricted stock units and/or other equity-based awards to the Company’s outside directors, employees of the Manager, officers, ACREM and
other eligible awardees under the plan. Any restricted shares of the Company’s common stock and restricted stock units will be accounted for
under FASB ASC Topic 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation, resulting in stock-based compensation expense equal to the grant date fair
value of the underlying restricted shares of common stock or restricted stock units.

Restricted stock grants generally vest ratably over aoneto four year period from the vesting start date. The grantee receives additional
compensation for each outstanding restricted stock grant, classified as dividends paid, equal to the per-share dividends received by common
stockholders.

The following table details the restricted stock grants awarded as of December 31, 2018:

Grant Date Vesting Start Date Shares Granted

May 1, 2012 July 1, 2012 35,135
June 18, 2012 July 1, 2012 7,027
July 9, 2012 October 1, 2012 25,000
June 26, 2013 July 1, 2013 22,526
November 25, 2013 November 25, 2016 30,381
January 31, 2014 August 31, 2015 48,273
February 26, 2014 February 26, 2014 12,030
February 27, 2014 August 27, 2014 22,354
June 24, 2014 June 24, 2014 17,658
June 24, 2015 July 1, 2015 25,555
April 25, 2016 July 1, 2016 10,000
June 27, 2016 July 1, 2016 24,680
April 25, 2017 April 25, 2018 81,710
June7, 2017 July 1, 2017 18,224

October 17, 2017 January 2, 2018 7,278

December 15, 2017 January 2, 2018 8,948
May 14, 2018 July 2, 2018 31,766
June 26, 2018 July 1, 2019 67,918
December 14, 2018 March 31, 2019 57,065
Total 553,528

The following tables summarize the (i) non-vested shares of restricted stock and (ii) the vesting schedule of shares of restricted stock for
the Company’s directors and officers and employees of the Manager as of December 31, 2018:
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Schedule of Non-Vested Share and Share Equivalents

Balance at December 31, 2017

Granted
Vested
Forfeited

Balance at December 31, 2018

Future Anticipated Vesting Schedule

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

Total

Restricted Stock

Restricted Stock
Grants—Officers and
Employees of the

Grants—Directors M anager Total
21,394 90,658 112,052
31,766 124,983 156,749
(30,606) (36,185) (66,791)
22,554 179,456 202,010
Restricted Stock
Grants—Officers and
Restricted Stock Employees of the
Grants—Directors M anager Total
18,384 62,303 80,687
3,336 65,313 68,649
834 38,072 38,906
— 13,768 13,768
22,554 179,456 202,010

The following table summarizes the restricted stock compensation expense included within general and administrative expenses for ACRE
and compensation and benefits for ACRE Capital (which isincluded within net income from operations of discontinued operations, net of income
taxes, in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations), the total fair value of shares vested and the weighted average grant date fair value
of therestricted stock granted to the Company’s directors and officers, employees of the Manager and employees of ACRE Capital for the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 ($ in thousands):

For the years ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Restricted Stock Grants Restricted Stock Grants Restricted Stock Grants
Officers Officers Officers
and and and
Employees Employees Employees
of the of the of the
Directors M anager Employees Total Directors M anager Employees Total Directors Manager Employees Total
Compensation
expense (1) $ 427 $ 675 $ — $1,102 $ 317 $ 264 $ — $581 $ 355 $ 53 $  (96) $ 312
Total fair value of
shares vested (2) 405 449 — 854 347 — — 347 342 54 383 779
Weighted average
grant date fair
value 427 1,759 — 2,186 338 1,254 — 1,592 412 — — 412

@)

Compensation expense for ACRE Capital employees isincluded within compensation and benefits expense for the year ended December

31, 2016 in the reconciliation of net income from operations of discontinued operations, net of income taxes. See Note 13 included in these

consolidated financia statements for more information.
Based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the NY SE on each vesting date.

)

As of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the total compensation cost related to non-vested awards not yet recognized total ed $2.3 million,
$1.2 million and $180 thousand, respectively, and the weighted average period over which the non-vested awards are expected to be recognized is
2.10 years, 1.95 years and 1.02 years, respectively.
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Non-Controlling I nterests

The non-controlling interests held by third partiesin the Company's consolidated balance sheets represented the equity interestsin a
limited liability company, ACRC KA Investor LLC (“ACRC KA™) that were not owned by the Company. A portion of ACRC KA's consolidated
equity and net income were allocated to these non-controlling interests held by third parties based on their pro-rata ownership of ACRC KA. As of
December 31, 2017, the equity interestsin ACRC KA held by the Company and third parties had been repaid in full and as such, there was no
equity outstanding that was allocated to non-controlling interests held by third parties. As of December 31, 2016, ACRC KA'stotal equity was
$21.7 million, of which $11.1 million was owned by the Company and $10.6 million was allocated to non-controlling interests held by third parties.
See Note 12 included in these consolidated financial statements for more information on ACRC KA.

7. EARNINGSPER SHARE

The following information sets forth the computations of basic and diluted earnings per common share from continuing operations and
discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 ($ in thousands, except share and per share data):

For the years ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Net income from continuing operations, less non-controlling interests $ 385% $ 30,407 $ 25,919
Net income from discontinued operations, including gain on sale of discontinued
operations $ — 3 — 3 14,417
Divided by:
Basic weighted average shares of common stock outstanding: 28,529,439 28,478,237 28,461,853
Weighted average non-vested restricted stock 127,221 72,708 61,453
Diluted weighted average shares of common stock outstanding: 28,656,660 28,550,945 28,523,306
Basic ear nings per common share:
Continuing operations $ 135 % 107 $ 0.91
Discontinued operations = — 0.51
Net income $ 135 % 107 $ 142
Diluted earnings per common share:
Continuing operations $ 135 ¢ 107 § 0.91
Discontinued operations — — 0.51
Net income $ 135 $ 107 $ 141

8. INCOME TAX

The Company wholly-owns ACRC Lender W TRS LLC, whichisa TRS formed in order to issue and hold certain loans intended for sale.
The Company also wholly-owns ACRC 2017-FL3 TRS LLC, whichisa TRS formed in order to hold a portion of the CLO Securitization (as defined
below) to the extent it generates excessinclusion income.

Theincome tax provision for the Company and the TRSs consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
($in thousands):

For the years ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Current $ 84 3 25 3 21
Deferred — — —
Excise tax 362 153 209
Total income tax expense, including excise tax $ 446 $ 178  § 230
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For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred an expense of $362 thousand, $153 thousand and $209
thousand, respectively, for U.S. federal excise tax. Excisetax represents a 4% tax on the sum of a portion of the Company’s ordinary income and net
capital gains not distributed during the calendar year (including any distribution declared in the fourth quarter and paid following January) plus
any prior year shortfall. If it is determined that an excise tax liability existsfor the current year, the Company will accrue excise tax on estimated
excess taxable income as such taxable income is earned. The annual expenseis cal culated in accordance with applicable tax regulations.

The TRSsrecognizeinterest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within income tax expense in the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations. Accrued interest and penalties, if any, areincluded within other liabilities in the Company’s consolidated bal ance sheets.

Asof December 31, 2018, tax years 2015 through 2018 remain subject to examination by taxing authorities. The Company does not have
any unrecognized tax benefits and the Company does not expect that to change in the next 12 months.

9. FAIRVALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company follows FASB ASC Topic 820-10, Fair Value Measurement (“ ASC 820-10"), which expands the application of fair value
accounting. ASC 820-10 defines fair value, establishes aframework for measuring fair value in accordance with GAAP and expands disclosure
requirements for fair value measurements. ASC 820-10 determines fair value to be the price that would be received for afinancial instrument in a
current sale, which assumes an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. ASC 820-10 specifies a hierarchy of
val uation techniques based on the inputs used in measuring fair value.

In accordance with ASC 820-10, the inputs used to measure fair value are summarized in the three broad levelslisted below:
. Level 1-Quoted pricesin active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

. Level 2-Prices are determined using other significant observable inputs. Observable inputs are inputs that other market
participants would use in pricing a security. These may include quoted prices for similar securities, interest rates, prepayment
speeds, credit risk and others.

. Level 3-Prices are determined using significant unobservable inputs. In situations where quoted prices or observable inputs are
unavailable (for example, when thereislittle or no market activity for an investment at the end of the period), unobservable
inputs may be used.

GAAP requires disclosure of fair value information about financial instruments, whether or not recognized in the financial statements, for
which it is practical to estimate the value. In cases where quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based upon the application of
discount rates to estimated future cash flows using market yields, or other valuation methodologies. Any changes to the val uation methodol ogy
will be reviewed by the Company’s management to ensure the changes are appropriate. The methods used may produce afair value calculation
that is not indicative of net realizable value or reflective of futurefair values. Furthermore, while the Company anticipates that the valuation
methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodol ogies, or assumptions, to determine the fair
value of certain financial instruments could result in adifferent estimate of fair value at the reporting date. The Company uses inputs that are
current as of the measurement date, which may fall within periods of market dislocation, during which price transparency may be reduced.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company did not have any assets or liabilities required to be recorded at fair value on arecurring
or nonrecurring basis.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the carrying values and fair values of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities recorded at cost
are asfollows ($ in thousands):
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As of December 31,

2018 2017
Level in Fair Value Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Hierarchy Value Value Value Value

Financial assets:

Loans held for investment 3 $ 1524873 $ 1534743 $ 1726283 $ 1,737,286
Financial lighilities:

Secured funding agreements 2 $ 777974 $ 777974 % 957,960 $ 957,960

Secured term loan 2 108,345 110,000 107,595 110,000

Collateralized |oan obligation securitization debt

(consolidated VIE) 3 270,737 272,927 271,211 272,927

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, interest receivable, due to affiliate liability and accrued expenses, which
are dl categorized as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy, approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.

Loans held for investment are recorded at cost, net of unamortized |oan fees and origination costs and net of an allowance for loan losses.
The Company may record fair value adjustments on a nonrecurring basis when it has determined that it is necessary to record a specific reserve
against aloan and the Company measures such specific reserve using the fair value of the loan’s collateral. To determine the fair value of the
collateral, the Company may employ different approaches depending on the type of collateral. The Financing Agreements and collateralized loan
obligation (“CLQO") securitization debt are recorded at outstanding principal, which is the Company’s best estimate of the fair value.

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Management Agreement

The Company is party to a Management Agreement under which ACREM, subject to the supervision and oversight of the Company’'s
board of directors, isresponsible for, among other duties, (a) performing all of the Company’s day-to-day functions, (b) determining the
Company'sinvestment strategy and guidelinesin conjunction with the Company’s board of directors, (c) sourcing, analyzing and executing
investments, asset sales and financing, and (d) performing portfolio management duties. In addition, ACREM has an Investment Committee that
oversees compliance with the Company’sinvestment strategy and guidelines, investment portfolio holdings and financing strategy.

In exchangefor its services, ACREM is entitled to receive a base management fee, an incentive fee, expense reimbursements, grants of
equity-based awards pursuant to the Company’s Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan and atermination fee, if applicable.

The base management fee is equal to 1.5% of the Company’s stockholders’ equity per annum, which is calculated and payable quarterly
inarrearsin cash. For purposes of calculating the base management fee, stockholders’ equity means: (a) the sum of (i) the net proceeds from all
issuances of the Company’s equity securities since inception (allocated on a pro-ratadaily basis for such issuances during the fiscal quarter of
any such issuance), plus (ii) the Company’s retained earnings at the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter determined in accordance
with GAAP (without taking into account any non-cash equity compensation expense incurred in current or prior periods); less (b) (x) any amount
that the Company has paid to repurchase the Company’s common stock since inception, (y) any unrealized gains and | osses and other non-cash
items that have impacted stockholders’ equity as reported in the Company’s consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP,
and (z) one-time events pursuant to changesin GAAP, and certain non-cash items not otherwise described above, in each case after discussions
between ACREM and the Company’s independent directors and approval by a majority of the Company’sindependent directors. As aresult, the
Company's stockholders' equity, for purposes of cal culating the management fee, could be greater or less than the amount of stockholders’ equity
shown in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Theincentive fee isan amount, not less than zero, equal to the difference between: (a) the product of (i) 20% and (ii) the difference
between (A) the Company’s Core Earnings (as defined below) for the previous 12-month period, and (B) the product of (1) the weighted average of
the issue price per share of the Company’s common stock of all of the Company’s public offerings of common stock multiplied by the weighted
average number of all shares of common stock outstanding including any restricted shares of the Company’s common stock, restricted stock units
or any shares of the Company’s common stock not yet issued, but underlying other awards granted under the Company’s Amended and Restated
2012 Equity Incentive Plan (see Note 6 included in these consolidated financial statements) in the previous 12-month period, and (2) 8%; and
(b) the sum of
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any incentive fees earned by ACREM with respect to the first three fiscal quarters of such previous 12-month period; provided, however, that no
incentive fee is payable with respect to any fiscal quarter unless cumulative Core Earnings for the 12 most recently completed fiscal quartersis
greater than zero. “Core Earnings’ is anon-GAAP measure and is defined as GAAP net income (loss) computed in accordance with GAAP,
excluding non-cash equity compensation expense, the incentive fee, depreciation and amortization (to the extent that any of the Company’s target
investments are structured as debt and the Company forecloses on any properties underlying such debt), any unrealized gains, |osses or other
non-cash items recorded in net income (loss) for the period, regardless of whether such items are included in other comprehensive income or loss,
or in net income (loss), and one-time events pursuant to changesin GAAP and certain non-cash charges after discussions between ACREM and
the Company’s independent directors and after approval by amajority of the Company’sindependent directors. For the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016, $1.2 million, $381 thousand and $348 thousand of incentive feeswereincurred, respectively.

The Company reimburses ACREM at cost for operating expenses that ACREM incurs on the Company’s behalf, including expenses
relating to legal, financial, accounting, servicing, due diligence and other services.

The Company will not reimburse ACREM for the salaries and other compensation of its personnel, except for the allocabl e share of the
salaries and other compensation of the Company’s (a) Chief Financial Officer, based on the percentage of histime spent on the Company’s affairs
and (b) other corporate finance, tax, accounting, internal audit, legal, risk management, operations, compliance and other non-investment
professional personnel of ACREM or its affiliates who spend all or a portion of their time managing the Company’s affairs based on the percentage
of their time spent on the Company’s affairs. The Company is also required to pay its pro-rata portion of rent, telephone, utilities, office furniture,
equipment, machinery and other office, internal and overhead expenses of ACREM and its affiliates that are required for the Company’s
operations. The term of the Management Agreement ends on May 1, 2019, with automatic one-year renewal terms thereafter. Except under limited
circumstances, upon atermination of the Management Agreement, the Company will pay ACREM atermination fee equal to three timesthe
average annual base management fee and incentive fee received by ACREM during the 24-month period immediately preceding the most recently
completed fiscal quarter prior to the date of termination, each as described above.

Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries, along with the Company’s lenders under certain of the Company’s Secured Funding Agreements,
aswell asunder the CLO transaction have entered into various servicing agreements with ACREM’s subsidiary servicer, Ares Commercial Real
Estate Servicer LLC (“ACRES"). The Company’s Manager will specially service, as needed, certain of the Company’sinvestments. Effective
May 1, 2012, ACRES agreed that no servicing fees pursuant to these servicing agreements would be charged to the Company or its subsidiaries by
ACRES or the Manager for so long as the Management Agreement remains in effect, but that ACRES will continue to receive reimbursement for
overhead related to servicing and operational activities pursuant to the terms of the Management Agreement.

The following table summarizes the related party costsincurred by the Company related to continuing operations for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 and amounts payabl e to the Company’s Manager as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 ($ in thousands):

Incurred Payable
For the years ended December 31, As of December 31,
2018 2017 2016 2018 2017

Affiliate Payments
Management fees $ 6,268 $ 6,188 $ 5,608 $ 1576 $ 1,549
Incentive fees 1,150 381 348 540 =
General and administrative
expenses 3,570 3,899 3,441 996 1,016
Direct costs 224 (1) 304 (1) 848 (2 51 63

Total $ 11,212 $ 10,772 $ 10,245 $ 3163 $ 2,628

1) For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, direct costsincurred are included within general and administrative expensesin the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
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2 For the year ended December 31, 2016, direct costsincurred are included within (i) general and administrative expenses of $486 thousand
and (ii) interest expense of $362 thousand in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

I nvestmentsin Loans

From time to time, the Company may co-invest with other investment vehicles managed by Ares Management or its affiliates, including
the Manager, and their portfolio companies, including by means of splitting investments, participating in investments or other means of
syndication of investments. For such co-investments, the Company expects to act as the administrative agent for the holders of such investments
provided that the Company maintains amajority of the aggregate investment. No feeswill be received by the Company for performing such
service. The Company will be responsible for its pro-rata share of costs and expenses for such co-investments, including due diligence costs for
transactions which fail to close. The Company’sinvestment in such co-investments are made on a pari-passu basis with the other Ares managed
investment vehicles and the Company is not obligated to provide, nor hasit provided, any financial support to the other Ares managed investment
vehicles. As such, the Company’srisk islimited to the carrying value of itsinvestment and the Company recognizes only the carrying value of its
investment in its consolidated bal ance sheets.

In May 2018, the Company participated in originating a $25.0 million mezzanine loan commitment on a property with in-place development
rights for the construction of amixed-use property located in lllinois, with a participation interest of $15.3 million held by the Company and $9.7
million held by other Ares managed investment vehicles. As of December 31, 2018, the total outstanding principal balance on the participation
interest held by the Company was $974 thousand.

In August 2018, the Company participated in originating a $12.0 million pre-construction mezzanine loan commitment on a property with
in-place development rights for aresidential condominium project located in Hawaii. The mezzanine loan was split into separate notes with an $8.0
million note held by the Company and $4.0 million of notes held by other Ares managed investment vehicles. As of December 31, 2018, the total
outstanding principal balance on the note held by the Company was $4.7 million.

In October 2018, the Company participated in originating a $22.0 million pre-construction senior mortgage loan commitment on a property
with in-place development rights for aresidential condominium project located in Florida. The senior mortgage |oan was split into separate notes
with a$17.5 million note held by the Company and $4.5 million of notes held by other Ares managed investment vehicles. As of December 31, 2018,
the total outstanding principal balance on the note held by the Company was $17.5 million.

In October 2018, the Company participated in originating a $23.3 million mezzanine loan commitment on a property with in-place
development rights for aresidential condominium conversion project located in New Y ork. The mezzanine loan was split into separate noteswith a
$14.0 million note held by the Company and $9.3 million of notes held by other Ares managed investment vehicles. As of December 31, 2018, the
total outstanding principal balance on the note held by the Company was $10.8 million.

Credit Support Fee Agreement

In July 2014, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a Credit Support Fee Agreement with Ares Management under
which the Company agreed to pay Ares Management a credit support feein an amount equal to 1.50% per annum times the average amount of the
loans outstanding under the $75.0 million revolving funding facility (the “ July 2014 CNB Facility”) with City National Bank and to reimburse Ares
Management for its out-of-pocket costs and expenses in connection with the transaction. For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company
incurred a credit support fee of $362 thousand under the July 2014 CNB Facility which isincluded within interest expense in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations. On September 30, 2016, the July 2014 CNB Facility was repaid in full and its terms were not extended. In
conjunction with the repayment in full of the July 2014 CNB Facility, the Credit Support Fee Agreement was terminated.

F-30



11. DIVIDENDSAND DISTRIBUTIONS

The following table summarizes the Company’s dividends declared during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 ($in

thousands, except per share data):

Per Share

Date Declared Record Date Payment Date Amount Total Amount
October 30, 2018 December 28, 2018 January 15, 2019 031 $ 8,914
July 26, 2018 September 28, 2018 October 16, 2018 0.29 8,323
May 1, 2018 June 29, 2018 July 17, 2018 0.28 8,036
March 1, 2018 March 29, 2018 April 17, 2018 0.28 8,008

Total cash dividends declared for the year ended December

31,2018 116 $ 33,281
November 1, 2017 December 29, 2017 January 16,2018 $ 027 $ 1,722
August 3, 2017 September 29, 2017 October 16, 2017 0.27 7,717
May 2, 2017 June 30, 2017 July 17, 2017 0.27 7,718
March 7, 2017 March 31, 2017 April 17, 2017 0.27 7,690

Total cash dividends declared for the year ended December

31, 2017 108 $ 30,847
November 3, 2016 December 30, 2016 January 17,2017 $ 026 $ 7,406
August 4, 2016 September 30, 2016 October 17, 2016 0.26 7,406
May 5, 2016 June 30, 2016 July 15, 2016 0.26 7,413
March 1, 2016 March 31, 2016 April 15, 2016 0.26 7,429

Total cash dividends declared for the year ended December

31, 2016 104 $ 29,654

12. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

Consolidated VIEs

Asdiscussed in Note 2, the Company evaluates all of itsinvestments and other interestsin entities for consolidation, including its
investmentsin: () the CLO Securitization (as defined below) and (b) a preferred equity investment in aL L C entity (discussed below), al of which

are generally considered to be variable interestsin aVIE.

CLO Securitization

On March 2, 2017, ACRE Commercial Mortgage 2017-FL 3 Ltd. (the “Issuer”) and ACRE Commercia Mortgage 2017-FL3 LLC (the“ Co-
Issuer”), both wholly-owned indirect subsidiaries of the Company, entered into an indenture (the “Indenture”) with Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as advancing agent and note administrator, and Wilmington Trust, National Association as trustee, which governs the issuance of

approximately $308.8 million principal balance secured floating rate notes (the “Notes”) and $32.4 million of preferred equity in the I ssuer (the“CLO
Securitization”).

As of December 31, 2018, the Notes were collateralized by interestsin apool of eleven mortgage assets having atotal principal balance of
approximately $289.6 million (the “M ortgage Assets”) that were originated by awholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and approximately $51.6
million of receivables related to repayments of outstanding principal on previous mortgage assets. As of December 31, 2017, the Notes were
collateralized by interestsin a pool of thirteen mortgage assets having atotal principal balance of approximately $341.2 million that were originated
by awholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. During the reinvestment period ending on March 15, 2019, the Company may direct the Issuer to
acquire additional mortgage assets meeting applicable reinvestment criteria using the principal repayments from the Mortgage Assets, subject to
the satisfaction of certain conditions, including receipt of a Rating Agency Confirmation and investor approval of the new mortgage assets.

The contribution of the Mortgage Assetsto the I ssuer is governed by a Mortgage A sset Purchase Agreement between ACRC Lender
LLC (the“Seller), awholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the I ssuer, and acknowledged by the
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Company solely for purposes of confirming its status as a REIT, in which the Seller made certain customary representations, warranties and
covenants.

In connection with the securitization, the I ssuer and Co-Issuer offered and issued the following classes of Notes: Class A, Class A-S,
Class B, Class C and Class D Notes (collectively, the “ Offered Notes’) to athird party. A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company retained
approximately $35.8 million of the Notes and all of the $32.4 million of preferred equity in the Issuer, which totaled $68.2 million. The Company, as
the holder of the subordinated Notes and all of the preferred equity in the Issuer, has the obligation to absorb | osses of the CLO, since the
Company has afirst loss position in the capital structure of the CLO.

After March 15, 2021, the Issuer may redeem the Offered Notes subject to paying a make whole prepayment fee of 1.0% of the then
outstanding bal ance of the Offered Notes. In addition, once the Class A Notes, Class A-S Notes, Class B Notes and Class C Notes have been
repaid in full, the Issuer has the right to redeem the Class D Notes, subject to paying a make whole prepayment fee of 1.0% on the Class D Notes.

Asthe directing holder of the CLO Securitization, the Company has the ability to direct activities that could significantly impact the CLO
Securitization’s economic performance. ACRES is designated as special servicer of the CLO Securitization and has the power to direct activities
during the loan workout process on defaulted and delinquent loans, which isthe activity that most significantly impacts the CL O Securitization's
economic performance. ACRES did not waive the special servicing fee, and the Company paysits overhead costs. If an unrelated third party had
the right to unilaterally remove the special servicer, then the Company would not have the power to direct activities that most significantly impact
the CLO Securitization’s economic performance. In addition, there were no substantive kick-out rights of any unrelated third party to remove the
special servicer without cause. The Company’s subsidiaries, as directing holders, have the ability to remove the special servicer without cause.
Based on these factors, the Company is determined to be the primary beneficiary of the CLO Securitization; thus, the CLO Securitizationis
consolidated into the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The CLO Securitization is consolidated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 810 and is structured as a pass through entity that receives
principal and interest on the underlying collateral and distributes those payments to the note holders, as applicable. The assets and other
instruments held by the CLO Securitization are restricted and can only be used to fulfill the obligations of the CLO Securitization. Additionally, the
obligations of the CLO Securitization do not have any recourse to the general credit of any other consolidated entities, nor to the Company as the
primary beneficiary.

Theinclusion of the assets and liabilities of the CLO Securitization of which the Company is deemed the primary beneficiary has no
economic effect on the Company. The Company’s exposure to the obligations of the CLO Securitization is generally limited to itsinvestment in the
entity. The Company is not obligated to provide, nor hasit provided, any financial support for the consolidated structure. As such, therisk
associated with the Company’ sinvolvement in the CLO Securitization is limited to the carrying value of itsinvestment in the entity. As of
December 31, 2018, the Company’s maximum risk of loss was $68.2 million, which represents the carrying value of itsinvestment in the CLO
Securitization. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred interest expense related to the CLO Securitization of
$10.5 million, $6.8 million and $3.2 million, respectively. Interest expense related to the CLO Securitization isincluded within interest expensein the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations. See Note 15 included in these consolidated financial statements for a subsequent event related
to the CLO Securitization.

Investmentin VIE

On December 19, 2014, the Company and third party institutional investors formed alimited liability company, ACRC KA, which acquired
$170.0 million of preferred equity in a REIT whose assets were comprised of a portfolio of 22 multifamily, student housing, medical office and self
storage properties managed by its sponsor. The Company’sinvestment in ACRC KA was considered to be an investment inaVIE. As of
December 31, 2016, the Company owned a controlling financial interest of 51.0% of the equity sharesin the VIE and the third party institutional
investors owned the remaining 49.0% minority financial interest. The preferred equity shares were entitled to a preferred monthly return over the
term of the investment at afixed rate of 10.95% per annum. In January 2017, the Company’sinvestment in ACRC KA wasrepaid in full.
Accordingly, as of December 31, 2017, the Company’s investment was no longer outstanding.

ACREM was the non-member manager of the VIE. Based on the terms of the ACRC KA LLC agreement, ACREM had the ability to direct
activities that could significantly impact the VIE's economic performance. There were no substantive kick-out rights held by the third party
institutional investorsto remove ACREM as the non-member manager without cause. As ACREM served as the manager of the Company, the
Company had the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant. As such, the Company was deemed to be the primary
beneficiary of the VIE and the party that was
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most closely associated with the VIE. Thus, the VIE was consolidated into the Company’s consolidated financial statements and the preferred
equity interests owned by the third party institutional investors were reflected as a non-controlling interest held by third partiesin the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets.

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

ACRE Capital primarily originated, sold and serviced multifamily and senior-living related loans under programs offered by government-
sponsored enterprises, such as the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”) and the Federal Home L oan Mortgage Corporation
(“Freddie Mac”) and by government agencies, such as the Government National Mortgage Association (“Ginnie Mag") and the Federal Housing
Administration, adivision of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (together with Ginnie Mae, “HUD”). ACRE Capital was
approved as a Fannie Mae Delegated Underwriting and Servicing lender, a Freddie Mac Program Plus® Seller/Servicer, aMultifamily Accelerated
Processing and Section 232 LEAN lender for HUD, and a Ginnie Maeissuer. While ACRE Capital earned littleinterest income from these activities
becauseit generally only held loans for short periods, ACRE Capital received origination feeswhen it closed |oans and sale premiums when it sold
loans. ACRE Capital also retained the rights to service the loans, which were known as mortgage servicing rights (“MSRs”), and received fees for
such servicing during the life of the loans, which generally lasted 10 years or more.

On September 30, 2016, the Company closed the ACRE Capital Salefor apurchase price of approximately $93 million in accordance with
the Agreement dated June 28, 2016.

Discontinued Oper ations - Financial Summary

The following information reconciles the net income from operations of discontinued operations, net of income taxes, that is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2016 ($ in thousands):

M ortgage banking revenue:

Servicing fees, net $ 11,081
Gains from mortgage banking activities 24,034
Provision for loss sharing 146
Changein fair value of mortgage servicing rights (6,457)
M ortgage banking revenue 28,804
Expenses:
Management feesto affiliate 446
Professional fees 718
Compensation and benefits 18,108
Transaction costs 797
General and administrative expenses 3,049
General and administrative expenses reimbursed to affiliate 622
Total expenses 23,740
Income from oper ations befor e income taxes 5,064
Income tax expense 843
Net income from operations of discontinued oper ations, net of income taxes $ 4,221

Revenue Recognition

Servicing fees were earned for servicing mortgage loans, including all activities related to servicing the loans, and were recognized as
services were provided over the life of the related mortgage loan. Also included in servicing fees were the net fees earned on borrower prepayment
penalties and interest earned on borrowers' escrow payments and interim cash balances, along with other ancillary fees and reduced by write-offs
of MSRsfor loans that were prepaid, changesin the fair value of the servicing fee payable (as defined below) and interest expense related to
escrow accounts. ACRE Capital provided additional paymentsto certain personnel by providing them with a percentage of the servicing fee
revenue that was earned by ACRE Capital, which wasinitially recorded as aliability when ACRE Capital committed to make aloan to a borrower
(the
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“servicing fee payable”). Servicing fees, net are included within net income from operations of discontinued operations, net of income taxes, in the
Company's consolidated statements of operations.

Gains from mortgage banking activities included theinitial fair value of MSRs, loan origination fees, gain on the sale of loans originated,
interest income and fees earned on loans held for sale, changesto the fair value of derivative financial instruments attributable to the loan
commitments and forward sale commitments and reduced by the expense related to the initial fair value of the servicing fee payable and the interest
expense rel ated to the Warehouse Lines of Credit (as defined below). Theinitial fair value of MSRs, loan origination fees, gain on the sale of loans
originated, certain direct loan origination costs for loans held for sale and the expenses related to theinitial fair value of the servicing fee payable
were recognized when ACRE Capital committed to make aloan to a borrower. When ACRE Capital settled a sale agreement and transferred the
mortgage loan to the buyer, ACRE Capital recognized a M SR asset equal to the present value of the expected net cash flows associated with the
servicing of loans sold. Gains from mortgage banking activities are included within net income from operations of discontinued operations, net of
income taxes, in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Derivatives
Non-designated Hedges

Derivatives not designated as hedges were derivatives that did not meet the criteriafor hedge accounting under GAAP or for which
ACRE Capital had not elected to designate as hedges.

Loan commitments and forward sale commitments

ACRE Capital entered into loan commitments with borrowers on loan originations whereby the interest rate on the prospective loan was
determined prior to funding. In general, ACRE Capital simultaneously entered into forward sale commitments with investorsin order to hedge
against the interest rate exposure on loan commitments. The forward sale commitment with the investor locked in an interest rate and price for the
sale of the loan. The terms of the loan commitment with the borrower and the forward sale commitment with the investor were matched with the
objective of hedging interest rate risk. Loan commitments and forward sale commitments were considered undesignated derivative instruments.
Accordingly, such commitments, along with any related fees received from potential borrowers, were recorded at fair value, with changesin fair
value recorded in earnings. For the year ended December 31, 2016, ACRE Capital entered into 49 loan commitments and 49 forward sale
commitments.

Income Tax

The Company established a TRS, TRS Holdings, in connection with the acquisition of ACRE Capital. TRS Holdings' income tax provision
consisted of the following for the year ended December 31, 2016 ($ in thousands):

Current $ (1,206)
Deferred 2,049
Total income tax expense $ 843

Deferred income taxes reflected the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. TRS Holdings was not subject to tax in any foreign tax jurisdiction.

TRS Holdings recognized interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within net income from operations of discontinued
operations, net of income taxes, in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Thefollowing tableisareconciliation of TRS Holdings' statutory U.S. federal income tax rate to TRS Holdings' effective tax rate for the
year ended December 31, 2016:
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Federal statutory rate 35.0 %

State income taxes 4.4 %
Federal benefit of state tax deduction (1.5)%
Effective tax rate 37.9%

As of December 31, 2018, tax years 2015 and 2016 remained subject to examination by taxing authorities. TRS Holdings did not have any
unrecognized tax benefits.

I ntercompany Notes

In connection with the acquisition of ACRE Capital, the Company partially capitalized TRS Holdings with a $44.0 million note. In October
2014, the Company entered into an $8.0 million revolving promissory note with TRS Holdings (collectively, the two intercompany notes described
above arereferred to as the “ Intercompany Notes’). In connection with the ACRE Capital Sale, the Intercompany Notes wererepaid in full with the
proceeds from the sale on September 30, 2016. At the time of the closing of the ACRE Capital Sale, the outstanding principal balance of the
Intercompany Notes was $51.9 million. The income statement effects of the Intercompany Notes were eliminated in consolidation for financial
reporting purposes, but the interest income and expense from the Intercompany Notes affected the taxable income of the Company and TRS
Holdings.

Related Party Transactions

The following table summarizes the related party costs incurred by the Company related to discontinued operations for the year ended
December 31, 2016 ($ in thousands):

Affiliate Payments

Management fees (1) $ 446
General and administrative expenses (1) 622
Direct costs (1) 68
Total $ 1,136
1) Management feesincurred are included within management fees to affiliate, general and administrative expensesincurred are included

within general and administrative expenses reimbursed to affiliate and direct costs incurred are included within general and administrative
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 in the reconciliation of net income from operations of discontinued operations, net of
income taxes.

14. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
The following table summarizes the Company’s quarterly financial results for each quarter for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

($in thousands, except per share data):

For the three month period ended,

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

2018:

Net interest margin $ 13137  $ 13636 $ 13984 $ 14,525
Net income attributabl e to common stockholders $ 9318 $ 9303 $ 9957 $ 10,018
Net income per common share-Basic and Diluted $ 033 $ 033 $ 035 % 0.35
2017:

Net interest margin $ 10339 $ 10411 % 14726  $ 10,872
Net income attributabl e to common stockholders $ 6,453 $ 6,713 $ 11,058 $ 6,183
Net income per common share-Basic and Diluted $ 023 $ 024 % 039 $ 0.22
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15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company’s management has eval uated subsequent events through the date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements
included herein. There have been no subsequent events that occurred during such period that would require disclosure in this Form 10-K or would
be required to be recognized in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, except as disclosed below.

On January 11, 2019, the Issuer and Co-1ssuer entered into an Amended and Restated I ndenture (the “ Amended Indenture”) with Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, as advancing agent and note administrator, and Wilmington Trust, National Association, astrustee, which
governs the approximately $504.1 million principal balance of secured floating rate notesissued by the Issuer and $52.9 million of preferred equity
in the Issuer (the “2019 FL3 CLO Securitization”). The Amended Indenture amends and restates, and replacesin its entirety, the indenture for the
CL O Securitization issued in March 2017, which governed the i ssuance of approximately $308.8 million principal balance of secured floating rate
notes and $32.4 million of preferred equity in the Issuer. After giving effect to the 2019 FL3 CLO Securitization, the Company retained (through one
of itswholly-owned subsidiaries) approximately $58.5 million of the non-investment grade notes and all of the $52.9 million of preferred equity in
the Issuer, which notes and preferred equity were not offered to investors. The secured floating rate notes are collateralized by interestsin a pool
of 17 mortgage assets having an aggregate principal balance of $557.0 million.

On February 6, 2019, the Company originated and fully funded a $30.0 million senior mortgage loan on a student housing property located
in North Carolina. The loan has a per annum interest rate of LIBOR plus a spread of 3.15% (plus fees) and an initial term of three years.

On February 14, 2019, the Company originated a $100.6 million senior mortgage |oan on amixed-use property located in Florida. At
closing, the outstanding principal balance was approximately $37.0 million. The loan has a per annum interest rate of LIBOR plus 4.25% (plus fees)
and an initia term of two years.

On February 21, 2019, the Company declared a cash dividend of $0.33 per common share for the first quarter of 2019. The first quarter 2019
dividend is payable on April 16, 2019 to common stockholders of record as of March 29, 2019.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated:

Dated:

February 21, 2019

February 21, 2019

By:

By:

ARESCOMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE CORPORATION

/s/ James A. Henderson

James A. Henderson

Chief Executive Officer, Chief Investment Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

/sl Tae-Sik Yoon

Tae-Sik Yoon

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behal f
of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

February 21, 2019

February 21, 2019

February 21, 2019

February 21, 2019

February 21, 2019

February 21, 2019

February 21, 2019

February 21, 2019

February 21, 2019

February 21, 2019
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By:

By:

By:

By:

By:

By:

By:

By:

By:

By:

/s/ James A. Henderson

James A. Henderson
Chief Executive Officer, Director, Chief Investment Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

/sl Tae-Sik Yoon

Tae-Sik Yoon
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ William S. Benjamin

William S. Benjamin
Chairman, Director

/s/ Rand S. April

Rand S. April
Director

/s Michael J Arougheti

Michael J Arougheti
Director

/sl Caroline E. Blakely

Caroline E. Blakely
Director

/s William L. Browning

William L. Browning
Director

/9 James E. Skinner

James E. Skinner
Director

/sl Kirk A. Sykes

Kirk A. Sykes
Director

/s/ Edmond N. Moriarty, |11

Edmond N. Moriarty, |11
Director



Section 2: EX-21.1 (EXHIBIT 21.1)

Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIESOF ARESCOMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE CORPORATION

Name Jurisdiction
ACRC HoldingsLLC Delaware
ACRC Lender LLC Delaware
ACRC Lender CLLC Delaware
ACRC Lender WLLC Delaware
ACRC Lender W TRSLLC Delaware
ACRCLenderBLLC Delaware
ACRC Lender ML LLC Delaware
ACRC Mezz HoldingsLLC Delaware
ACRC Warehouse HoldingsLLC Delaware
ACRC Lender USLLC Delaware
ACRE Commercial Mortgage 2017-FL 3 Ltd. Cayman
ACRE Commercial Mortgage 2017-FL3LLC Delaware
ACRC 2017-FL3 TRSLLC Delaware
(Back To Top)
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by referencein the following Registration Statements:
1 Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-211847) of Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation,

2 Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-181077) pertaining to the Ares Commercia Real Estate Corporation 2012 Equity
Incentive Plan, and

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-225891) pertaining to the Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation Amended and
Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan

of our reports dated February 21, 2019, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of
Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2018.

/s/Ernst & Young LLP

Los Angeles, California
February 21, 2019

(Back To Top)
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
of Periodic Report Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a)

I, James A. Henderson, certify that:
1. | havereviewed this Annua Report on Form 10-K of Ares Commercial Rea Estate Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, thisreport does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state amaterial fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by thisreport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in thisreport, fairly present in al material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. Theregistrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(€) and 15d-15(€e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which thisreport is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonabl e assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed inthisreport any change in the registrant'sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant'sinternal control over financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(8 All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have asignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 21, 2019

/s/ James A. Henderson

James A. Henderson
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Investment Officer and President
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Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
of Periodic Report Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a)

I, Tae-Sik Y oon, certify that:
1. | havereviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Ares Commercia Rea Estate Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, thisreport does not contain any untrue statement of amaterial fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in thisreport, fairly present in al material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. Theregistrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which thisreport is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposesin accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

() Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed inthisreport any change in the registrant'sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant'sinternal control over financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(8 All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have asignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 21, 2019

/sl Tae-Sik Yoon

Tae-Sik Yoon
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer



Pursuant to
18 U.S.C Section 1350

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Ares Commercial Real Estate Corporation (the “ Company”) for the year ended
December 31, 2018 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), James A. Henderson, as Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, and Tae-Sik Y oon, as Chief Financia Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. TheReport fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.  Theinformation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 21, 2019

/s/ James A. Henderson

James A. Henderson
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Investment Officer and President

/sl Tae-Sik Yoon

Tae-Sik Yoon
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

A signed original of thiswritten statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of thiswritten statement required by Section 906, has been
provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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